
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

MANUEL IGLESIAS and EDWARD 
MOFFLY, 
 
Petitioners, 
 
v. 
 
EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEVADA IN AND FOR THE 
COUNTY OF CLARK and the 
Honorable NANCY ALLF, District 
Court Judge, 
 
Respondents, 
 
and 
 
N5HYG, LLC, A MICHIGAN 
LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY; AND, NEVADA 5, INC., 
A NEVADA CORPORATION, 
 
Real Parties in Interest. 
 

 

Supreme Court No.  
 
Distr. Ct. Case No. A-17-762664-B 
Dept. XXVII 
 
 
 
 
PETITIONERS’ APPENDIX TO 
PETITION UNDER  
NRAP 21 FOR WRIT OF 
PROHIBITION, OR IN THE 
ALTERNATIVE, WRIT OF 
MANDAMUS 
 
(VOLUME VII) 

Pursuant to NRAP 30, Petitioners MANUEL IGLESIAS and EDWARD 

MOFFLY, hereby submit their Petitioners’ Appendix to Petition Under NRAP 

21 for Writ Of Prohibition, or in the Alternative, Writ Of Mandamus. 

KORY L. KAPLAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13164 

Kaplan Cottner 
850 E. Bonneville Ave. 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 381-8888 

kory@kaplancottner.com 
Attorney for Petitioners 

Electronically Filed
Jul 06 2021 01:12 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 83157   Document 2021-19289



PROOF OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 25, I certify that I am an employee of Kaplan 

Cottner; that, in accordance therewith, I caused a copy of PETITIONERS’ 

APPENDIX TO PETITION UNDER NRAP 21 FOR WRIT OF 

PROHIBITION, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

to be mailed on the 9th day of June, 2021, by depositing, in a sealed envelope, a 

true and correct copy in the United States mail, postage prepaid a Compact Disc 

containing PDF copies and via email, and addressed to the following:   

Attorneys of Record Parties Represented 
Ogonna M. Brown, Esq.  
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 

N5HYG, LLC, a Michigan limited 
liability company; and, in the event 
the Court grants the pending Motion 
for Reconsideration, NEVADA 5, 
INC., a Nevada corporation 

G. Mark Albright, Esq. 
D. Chris Albright, Esq. 
801 South Rancho Drive 
Suite D-4 
Las Vegas, NV  89106 

N5HYG, LLC, a Michigan limited 
liability company; and, in the event 
the Court grants the pending Motion 
for Reconsideration, NEVADA 5, 
INC., a Nevada corporation 

E. Powell Miller, Esq. (pro hac vice)  
Christopher Kaye, Esq. (pro hac vice)  
950 W. University Dr. 
Suite 300 
Rochester, MI  48307 

N5HYG, LLC, a Michigan limited 
liability company; and, in the event 
the Court grants the pending Motion 
for Reconsideration, NEVADA 5, 
INC., a Nevada corporation 

The Honorable Nancy Allf 
Eighth Judicial District Court 
Department 27 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89155 

Presiding Judge over Case No.  
A-17-762664-B 

      /s/ Sunny Southworth    
      An employee of Kaplan Cottner 



Chronological Table of Contents 

Vol. Tab Date Document Page No. 
I. 1. 10/05/2017 Complaint and Jury Demand PET000001-

PET000030 
I. 2. 06/28/2018 Motion for Partial Dismissal 

of Claims and Parties 
PET000031-
PET000121 

I. 3. 07/13/2018 First Amended Complaint 
and Jury Demand 

PET000122-
PET000160 

I. 4. 07/13/2018 Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Defendants’ Motion for 

Partial Dismissal of Claims 
and Parties 

PET000161-
PET000165 

I. 5. 08/17/2018 Motion to Dismiss the First 
Amended Complaint and to 

Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000166-
PET000228 

II. 6. 08/17/2018 Appendix of Exhibits to 
Motion to Dismiss the First 
Amended Complaint and to 

Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000229-
PET000479 

III. 7. 08/17/2018 Appendix of Exhibits to 
Motion to Dismiss the First 
Amended Complaint and to 

Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000480-
PET000730 

IV. 8. 08/17/2018 Appendix of Exhibits to 
Motion to Dismiss the First 
Amended Complaint and to 

Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000731-
PET000808 

IV. 9. 09/18/2018 Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Motion to Dismiss the First 
Amended Complaint and to 

Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000809-
PET000867 

IV. 10. 09/18/2018 Exhibits to Plaintiffs’ 
Opposition to Dismiss the 
First Amended Complaint 
and to Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000868- 
PET000981 

V. 11. 09/18/2018 Exhibits to Plaintiffs’ 
Opposition to Dismiss the 
First Amended Complaint 
and to Strike Supplemental 
Pleadings and Jury Demand 

PET000982-
PET001188 

VI. 12. 09/26/2018 Reply In Support of Motion 
to Dismiss the First Amended 

PET001189-
PET001302 



Complaint and to Strike 
Supplemental Pleadings and 

Jury Demand 
VI. 13. 10/12/2018 Supplement to Motion to 

Dismiss the First Amended 
Complaint and to Strike 

Supplemental Pleadings and 
Jury Demand 

PET001303-
PET001308 

VI. 14. 10/19/2018 Transcript of Proceedings for 
Hearing on All Pending 
Motions, Wednesday, 

October 3, 2018 

PET001309-
PET001436 

VII. 15. 11/26/2018 Notice of Entry of Decision 
and Order 

PET001437-
PET001445 

VII. 16. 12/05/2018 Defendant Ray Gonzalez’s 
Limited Motion for 

Clarification of Decision and 
Order and Ex Parte 

Application for Order 
Shortening Time and Order 

Thereon 

PET001446-
PET001453 

VII. 17. 12/07/2018 Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Defendant Ray Gonzalez’s 

Limited Motion for 
Clarification of Decision and 

Order and Ex Parte 
Application for Order 

Shortening Time and Order 
Thereon 

PET001454-
PET001458 

VII. 18. 01/17/2019 Transcript of Proceedings of 
Hearing on December 12, 

2018 Regarding All Pending 
Motions 

PET001459-
PET001468 

VII. 19. 05/24/2019 Notice of Entry of Findings 
of Fact, Conclusions of Law, 

and Order 

PET001469-
PET001503 

VII. 20. 06/03/2019 Motion for Reconsideration 
and Clarification of Order on 

Defendants’’ Motion to 
Dismiss Based on Claim 

Preclusion and, alternatively, 
Motion to Stay 

PET001504-
PET001523 

VII. 21. 06/03/2019 Appendix of Exhibits to 
Motion for Reconsideration 

and Clarification of Order on 
Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Based on Claim 
Preclusion and, alternatively, 

Motion to Stay 

PET001524- 
PET001687 

VIII. 22. 06/03/2019 Appendix of Exhibits to PET001688-



Motion for Reconsideration 
and Clarification of Order on 

Defendants’ Motion to 
Dismiss Based on Claim 

Preclusion and, alternatively, 
Motion to Stay 

PET001762 

VIII. 23. 06/03/2019 Plaintiffs’ Motion for 
Reconsideration Regarding 
the Dismissal of Nevada 5, 

Inc. 

PET001763-
PET001768 

VIII. 24. 06/25/2019 Plaintiffs’ Opposition to 
Defendants’ Motion for 

Reconsideration or 
Clarification 

PET001769-
PET001938 

IX. 25. 06/25/2019 Plaintiffs’ Opposition to 
Defendants’ Motion for 

Reconsideration or 
Clarification 

PET001939- 
PET002189 
 

X. 26. 06/25/2019 Plaintiffs’ Opposition to 
Defendants’ Motion for 

Reconsideration or 
Clarification 

PET002190-
PET002198 

X. 27. 06/25/2019 Opposition to Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Reconsideration 
Regarding the Dismissal of 

Nevada 5, Inc. 

PET002199-
PET002205 

X. 28. 07/12/2019 Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support 
of their Motion for 

Reconsideration Regarding 
Dismissal of Nevada 5 

(Addressing the Opposition 
of Former Defendant 

Gonzalez) 

PET002206-
PET002215 

X. 29. 07/12/2019 Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support 
of Their Motion for 

Reconsideration Regarding 
the Dismissal of Nevada 5, 

Inc. 

PET002216-
PET002286 

X. 30. 07/22/2019 Transcript of Proceedings of 
Hearing on July 17, 2019 

Regarding Plaintiffs’ Motion 
for Reconsideration 

Regarding the Dismissal of 
Nevada 5, Inc., Motion for 

Reconsideration and 
Clarification of Order on 
Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Based on Claim 
Preclusion and, alternatively, 

Motion to Stay 

PET002287-
PET002324 

X. 31. 12/03/2019 Notice of Entry of Findings PET002325-



of Fact, Conclusions of Law, 
and Order Granting 

Plaintiffs’ Motion for 
Reconsideration Re: Nevada 

5, Inc. 

PET002332 

X. 32. 12/03/2019 Notice of Entry of Findings 
of Fact, Conclusions of Law, 

and Order Granting 
Defendants’ Motion for 

Reconsideration Re: Claim 
Preclusion 

PET002333-
PET002352 

X. 33. 12/13/2019 Second Amended Complaint PET002353-
PET002434 

XI. 34. 01/04/2021 Defendant Manuel Iglesias 
and Edward Moffly’s Answer 

to Second Amended 
Complaint 

PET002435-
PET002572 

XI. 35. 02/22/2021 Defendants’ Partial Motion 
for Judgment on the 

Pleadings 

PET002573-
PET002629 

XI. 36. 03/08/2021 Plaintiff Nevada 5’s 
Opposition to, and Request to 

Strike, Defendants’ Partial 
Motion for Judgment on the 

Pleadings 

PET002630- 
PET002685 

XII. 37. 03/08/2021 Plaintiff Nevada 5’s 
Opposition to, and Request to 

Strike, Defendants’ Partial 
Motion for Judgment on the 

Pleadings 

PET002686-
PET002719 

XII. 38. 03/10/2021 Reply in Support of Plaintiff 
N5HYG, LLC’s Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment 

PET002720-
PET002759 

XII. 39. 03/24/2021 Transcript of Proceedings for 
Hearing on All Pending 

Motions, Wednesday, March 
17, 2021 

PET002760-
PET002805 

XII. 40. 03/30/2021 Notice of Entry of Order 
Denying Defendants’ Partial 
Motion for Judgment on the 

Pleadings 

PET002806-
PET002815 

  
 
 
 
 



            “Exhibit 15” 

“Exhibit 15” 



1

2

3

4

i)
I r'l

5

6

7

8

I
10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24
.i z. qt'r rE /J() Er't 25-rl ()
- ! i'J r,l::,:)+26
i,1 (\
, a :"< n.lii L:U 27:l ?.112t 2g
-,*:""*::.

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

N5HYG, LLC, et al.

Plaintiff(s)

VS,

HYGEA HOLDINGS CORP., et

**,ft*

CASE NO.: A-17-762664

DEPARTMENT 27

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF DECISION AND ORDER

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a Decision and Order was entered in this action on

or about November 21,2018, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto.

^,fL
DATED thisa(l day of November,20l8.

AlotrwL /1lt{\J
NANCY ALLF
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on or about the date signed I caused the foregoing document to be
electronically served pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a) and 8.05(f) through the Eighth Judicial District
Court's electronic filing system (with the date and time of the electronic service substituted for
the date and place of deposit in the mail) and by email to:

G. Mark Albright, Esq. - ema@albrightstoddard.com

E. Powell Miller, Esq.- epm@millerlawpc.com

Ogonna M. Brown, Esq.- obrown@lrrc.com

Joel E. Tasca, Esq. - tasca@ballardspahr.com

Theodore L. Kornobis, Esq. - Ted.kornobis@kleates.com

Jeffrey T. Kucera, Esq. - Jeffrey.kureca@klgates.com

Stravroula 
|. 

Lambrakopoulos, Esq.- Stravroula.lambrakopoulos@klgates.com

Lawrence
Judicial Executive Assistant

Case Number: A-17-762664-B

Electronically Filed
11/26/2018 7:37 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NSHYG, LLC, et al.

Plaintiffls)

HYGEA HOLDINGS CORP., et al.

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY. NEVADA

**** ;\
j

CASE XlO.' A- n-762664

DEPARTMENT 27

DECISION AND ORDER

COURT FINDS after review that the Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint on

Belralf of Def'endant Ray Gonzalez ("Gonzalez Motion") and the Motion to Dismiss the

First Amended Complaint and to Strike Supplemental Pleadings and Jury Demand ("Hygea

Motion") rvere filed on August 17,2018. The Gonzalez Motion and the Hygea Motion

(collectively. the "Motions") were set tbr hearing betbre the Court on October 3. 2018.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that the Court heard oral arguments on the

Gonzalez Motion and the Hygea Motion on October 3, 2018. The Court took the matter

under submission and set a Status Check fbr Novernber 6. 2018 on Charnbers Calendar for

the Courl to release a Decision on the Motions. Thereafter, the November 6,2018 Status

Check was continued to November 20, 2018.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that "[t]o survive dismissal. a cornplaint

nlust contain some set of f-acts. which. if true. would entitle the plaintifT to relief." /n re

.4rnerco Du'itative Litig., I 27 Nev. 196, 2l 0- I I (201 I ), citing Buzz Steu,, LLC y. Cit;t: o/' N.

Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224,228, l8l P.3d 670,672 (2008).

PET001438
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COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that, with respect to the claims by Plaintiff

Nevada 5. Inc.. "wrongdoing to a subsidiary does not confer standing upon the parent

company, even where the parent is the sole shareholder of the subsidiary." In re Neurontin

Mktg. & Salcs Practices Litig.,8l0 F. Supp. 2d366,370 (D. Mass. 201 l).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that "a subsidiary is a 'separate corporation,'

and thus the parent cornpany 'has no standing to assert [the subsidiary's] legal rights'."

Clarcx Ltd. v. Natixis Sec. Atrt. ttC, No. l2 CIV. 0722 PAE, 2012 wL 4849146, at *6

(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 12,2012), citing to Hudson Optical Corp. v. Cabot Sqfety Corp., No.97-

9046,1998 WL 642471, at *3 (2d Cir. Mar. 25, 1998).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that Plaintiff Nevada 5, Inc. lacks standing

to assert any of the clairns set forth in the Amended Cornplaint.

THEREFORE, COURT ORDERS for good cause appearing and after review that

with respect to the clairns by PlaintitT Nevada 5, inc., the Motions are hereby GRANTED

IN PART and all of the clairns asserted in the Amended Complaint by Plaintiff Nevada 5,

Inc. are hereby DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that, with respect to the Nevada Securities

Act clairns,"90.460,90.570,... and90.660apply to a person who sells or offers to sell a

security or investment advisory service if:(a) An offer to sell is made in this State; or (b)

An offer to purchase is made and accepted in this State." NRS 90.830( I ).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that Plaintiffs Amended Complaint has

failed to allege that either (a) an offer to sell is made in Nevada; or that (b) an offer to

purchase is made and accepted in Nevada. See Prime Mover Capital Partners, L.P. t,. Elixir

Gaming Techs., Inc., 793 F. Supp. 2d 651. 069-70(S.D.N.Y. 201 l).

PET001439
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COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that "an offer to sell or to purchase is made

in [Nevada], wlrether or not either party is present in [Nevada], if the offer: (a) Originates in

[Nevada]; or (b) Is directed by the offeror to a destination in [Nevada] and received where it

is directed.. .." NRS 90.830(3).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that Plaintiffs Amended Complaint has

failed to allege that an offer to sell or to purchase either (a) originated in Nevada, or (b) was

directed to a destination in Nevada and received therein.

THEREFORE, COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after

review that the Motions are hereby GRANTED IN PART and the First, Third and Fifth

Causes of Action in Plaintitl.s Amended Complaint are hereby DISMISSED without

prejudice as to all Defendants.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that, with respect to federal securities fraud

claims, a "cout-t nray also consider unattached evidence on which the cornplaint necessarily

relies if: (l) the cornplaint ret'ers to the document; (2) the document is central to the

plaintiff's claim; and (3) no party questions the authenticity of the document." Baxter v.

Dignitv Health, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 76,357 P.3d927,930 (2015) (internal citations and

quotations ornitted). Further, "[w]hile presentation of matters outside the pleadings will

convert the motion to disrniss to a motion for summary judgment, ...such conversion

is not triggered by a court's consideration of matters incorporated by reference or integral to

the clairn, ... as where the complaint 'relies heavily' on a document's tenns and effect." .Id.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that a private cause of action exists against a

"person who ... offers or sells a security in violation of [ 5 U.S.C.A. $ 77e]." l5 U.S.C.A. $

771(aX l).

ill

PET001440
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COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that a private cause of action exists when a

party sells a security "by rneans of a prospectus or oral communication, which includes an

untrue statement of rnaterial t'act or ornits to state a material fact necessary in order to make

the statements. in light of the circumstances under which they were made...." 15 U.S.C.A. $

771(a)(2).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that "it is clear that fbr g l2(aX2) to apply

tlrere nrust be a public otl'ering." Artist Hous. Holdings, lnc. ,t'. Dayi Skin, irc., No. 2:06 CV

893 RLH LRL,2007 WL 951947,at *2 (D.Nev. Mar. ZB,2007),

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that an exemption frorn liability exists fbr

"transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering." l5 U.S.C.A. g 77d(a)(2).

COURT FURTHER FINDS afler review that in detennining whether a private

offering exists. the Court should consider "(l) the numberof otlbrees: (2) the sophistication

of the offerees; (3) the size and manner of the offbring: and (4) the relationship of the

otlbrees to the issuer." S.EC. 'r. Murph.t',626F.2d 633.64445 (9th Cir. 1980) (intemal

citations and quotations omitted).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that the Stock Purchase Agreement dated

October 5, 2016 and referenced in the Amended Complaint conternplates only a private sale

ol'securities. etnd that the sale of securities described by Plaintitls' Amended Cornplaint

does not constitute a public offering. /d.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that in order to state a claim for control

person liability. a plaintiff rrrust allege the following: "(l) a prinrary violation of federal

securities lau,s ...: and (2) that the detbndant exercised actual power or control over the

primary violator." Hov,ard v. Et'erex Svs., /rc.,228 F.3d 1057, I065 (gth Cir. 2000).

PET001441
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COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that Plaintiffs have tailed to allege both ( l) a

prirnary violation of f'ederal securities laws, and (2) that the Defendants exercised actual

power or control over the prirnary violator or one another.

THEREFORE, COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after

revierv that the Motions are hereby GRANTED IN PART and the Second, Fourth and Six

Causes of Action in Plaintifls' Amended Cornplaint are hereby DISMISSED without

prejudice as to all Defendants.

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that, with respect to the fiduciary duty

clainrs. "plaintitfs [cannot] prosecute a claim fbr breaclr of fiduciary duty that essentially

restated their claim for breach of contract." Blue Chip Capitctl Ftutcl II Ltcl. p,ship v.

Tubcrgcn.906 A.2d 827,832-33 (Del. Ch. 2006) ("because the dispute related to

obligations expressly governed by contract. tlre fiduciary clainrs nrust be dismissed.").

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that ''to distinguish between direct and

derivative claims. Nevada cout'ts ... should consideronly (l) who sutl'ered the alleged hann

(the corporation or the suing stockholders. individually); and (2) who would receive the

benetit of any recovery or other remedy (the corporation or the stockholders. individually)?"

Parontctric sound Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in &./br c0'. o.l'Clark.40l p.3d

I100' ll08 (Nev. 2017), citing Toolev v. Donaldson, Ldkin & Jenrcttc, \nc.,845 A.2d

103 l. 1033 (Del. 2004).

COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that "directors and ofticers nray only be

found personally liable for breaching their fiduciary duty of loyalty if that breach involves

intentitrnal tniscottduct. fiaud. or a knowing violatiorr of the law." Sioc tt t,. SAC Holding

Cor7t.,l22 Nev. 621,640 (2006); see also y[/1tr111 pnrorts, Ltcl. r,, Eightlt Juclicicrl Dist. Court

itt &./ot' Cr.t,. o/'Clark,399 P.3d 334, 342 (Nev. 2Ol7\.

PET001442
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COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that Plaintifts' Amended Cornplaint has

failed to state a direct claim against the Defbndants for Breach of Fiduciary Duty. Id. at

I 107-l 108.

COURT FURTHER FINDS afler review that Plaintiff's' Amended Complaint has

tailed to state a derivative claim against the Defbndants tbr Breach of Fiduciary Duty as

Plaintiftt have f-ailed to adequately plead dernand tutility. In rc Amerco Derit,ati,te Litig.,

127 Nev. 196,218-19,252 P.3d 681,697-698 (201 l),citirtg to Aronsott r,. Zerlrs, 473 A.zd

805,814 (Del.l984).

THEREFORE, COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after

review that the Motions are hereby GRANTED IN PART and the Twelfth, Thirtee,th,

Fourteenth and Fifieenth Causes of Action in Plaintift's' Amended Complaint are hereby

DISMISSED without prejudice as to all Defbndants.

COURT FURTHER FINDS afler revierv that "[i]n actions involving fraud, the

circumstances of the fraud are required by NRCP 9(b) to be stated with particularity. The

circumstances that tnust be detailed include avennents to the tirne. the place, the ide,tity of

the parties involved, and the nature of the fraud or mistake." Broy,n t,. Kellar,97 Nev. 5g2,

583-84, 636 P.2d 874 (1981); scc also In rc Dctou S.vs., lnc..4ll F.3d 1006, 1027-28 (gth

Cir.2005).

COURT FURTHER FINDS alier review that Plaintift's' Amended Complaint lras

failed to plead these causes of action with suftcient particularity as required by NRCp 9(b).

THEREFORE, COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after

review that the Motions are lrereby GRANTED lN PART and the Seventh, Ninth and

Twentieth Causes of Action in Plaintiff's Amended Conrplaint are hereby DISMISSED

without prejudice as to all Def'endants.

PET001443
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COURT FURTHER FINDS after review that Plaintiffs have failed to plead a non-

exculpated claim against the Director Defendants. ll rc Cornerstortc Therapcutics Inc,

stockholdcr Lirig., I l5 A.3d I 173, I I 79 (Del. 20t 5).

THEREFORE, COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearirrg and after

review that the Motions are hereby GRANTED IN PART and the Eighth Cause of Action

is hereby DISMISSED without prejudice as to the Director Defendants.

COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after review that, with

respect to the Eight Cause of Action, the Hygea Motion is DENIED IN PART as to

Defendant Hygea Holdings Corp.

COURT FURTHER FINDS afler review that "[a] cause of action tbr an accounting

requires a showing that a relationship exists between the plaintiff and defendant that

requires an accourlting, and that sorne balance is due the plaintiff that can only be

ascemained b1'an accournting." Tcscllc v. McLouglrlin,lT3 Cal. App.4th 156, 179 (2009).

COURT FURTHER FINDS atter review that Plaintifl's' Anrended Complaint failed to

plead that such relationship exists wherein payment was collected by any of the Director

Det'endants.

THEREFORE, COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after

review that the Motions are l'rereby GRANTED IN PART and the Twenty-First Cause of

Action is hereby DISMISSED without prejudice as to the Director Defendants.

COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after review that the

Hygea Motion and the Gonzalez Motion are DENIED IN PART with respect to tlre

Sixteenth, Seventeenth, Eighteenth arrd Nineteenth Causes of Action.

/il

ilt
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COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after review that the

Hygea Motion is DENIED lN PART with respect to the request to strike supplemental

pleadings and GRANTED IN PART with respect to the request to strike the jury dernand

set fbrth in the Plaintitfs' Amended Complaint.

COURT FURTHER ORDERS fbr good cause appearing and after review Defendants

are directed to prepare and subrnit an order containing detailed findings of fact and

conclusions of law ("Order") based upon the Courts decision as set forth hereinabove.

Defendants are further ordered to provide opposing counsel with the proposed Order at least

one ( l) week prior to submitting the Order to the Court, to allow opposing counsel to review

the Order as to form.

COURT FURTHER ORDERS for good cause appearing and after review that

Plaintiff is hereby GRANTED leave of thirty (30) days from the filing of the Order in order

to anrend the Arnended Complaint. Defendants shall have twenty (20) days from the service

of any amended complaint in order to file an Answer or otherwise respond thereto.

DATED thisJ{ day of November. 2018.

NANCY AL
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
N5HYG, LLC, 

                             
                         Plaintiff(s), 
 
       vs. 
 
HYGEA HOLDINGS CORP,  

                             
                        Defendant(s). 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
)
) 

 
 
   
 
Case No. A-17-762664-B 
 
DEPT.  XXVII       
 
 
 

 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE NANCY ALLF, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

 
 
 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2018 
 
 
 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: 

ALL PENDING MOTIONS 
 

 
 
 

(Appearances on page 2.) 
 

 
 
 
        
RECORDED BY:  BRYNN GRIFFITHS, COURT RECORDER 

 

Case Number: A-17-762664-B

Electronically Filed
1/7/2019 9:23 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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APPEARANCES: 
 
For the Plaintiff(s):   GEORGE MARK ALBRIGHT, ESQ. 
      KEVIN WATTS, ESQ.  
      CHRISTOPHER D. KAYE, ESQ. 
      (appearing via CourtCall)  
 
For the Defendant(s), Carl 

Rosencrantz, Joseph  
Campanella, Jack Mann, M.D., 
Keith Colllins, M.D., Glenn 
Marichi, M.D., Lacy Loar, 
Martha Mairena Castillo, 
Kelly Frank, Daniel T.  
McGowan, Edward Moffly, 
Manuel Iglesias, and Hygea  
Holdings Corp.:   MARIA A. GALL , ESQ.  
     KYLE A. EWING, ESQ. 
 

For the Defendant(s), Ray 
  Gonzalez:    SYDNEY R. GAMBEE, ESQ. 

STAVROULA E. 
LAMBRAKOPOULOS, ESQ.  
(appearing via CourtCall) 
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2018 

[Proceeding commenced at 9:38 a.m.] 

 

THE COURT:  That takes us to N5HYG v. Hygea. 

MR. KAYE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Christopher Kaye 

appearing for the plaintiff via CourtCall. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Kaye. 

Let's take appearances in the courtroom from your right to left, 

please. 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  I'm Mark Albright, local counsel appearing 

on behalf of the plaintiffs, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. GALL:  I'm Maria Gall of Ballard Spahr, appearing on 

behalf of most of the defendants, including Hygea. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. EWING:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Kyle Ewing on -- 

from Ballard Spahr, also on behalf of Hygea and most of the individual 

defendants. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. GAMBEE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Sydney Gambee 

from Holland and Hart on behalf of Ray Gonzalez. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Were there any other appearances on the phone? 

MS. LAMBRAKOPOULOS:  Yes, Your Honor.  This is 

Stavroula Lambrakopoulos on behalf of Defendant Ray Gonzalez. 
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THE COURT:  Thank you.   

All right.  So we have -- 

MR. WATTS:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Kevin Watts also 

on behalf of Plaintiffs.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

All right.  So we have basically three matters here today, two 

motions to -- I'm sorry, well, two motions.  And it's for clarification.  And 

just to let everybody know, never feel awkward about seeking 

reconsideration or clarification.   

So let me hear first from Hygea and then from Gonzalez. 

MS. GALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

We filed just a very brief motion for clarification.  I'm sure Your 

Honor has reviewed it.  And it sets forth the basis for why we're seeking 

clarification.  The -- we had moved on two other bases to dismiss the 

case, both on -- one on claim preclusion and on personal jurisdiction.  

Your Honor's decision and order were silent on those matters, but Your 

Honor did direct Defendants to prepare detailed findings and 

conclusions of law. 

THE COURT:  Right.  And I don't consider anyone to be in 

violation of the local rules at this point, just to let everybody know. 

MS. GALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I don't feel that our 

motion is -- should be very contentious.  But it seems to be contentious.  

I'll just address -- given Your Honor's advisement just a few moments 

ago, I'll only address one of the contentions, which is Defendants appear 

to oppose our motion on the basis that Your Honor's decision and order 

PET001462
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carried an implicit finding.  That may be the case, Your Honor, but I 

prefer not to put words in Your Honor's mouth.   

And in any event, even if there was an implicit finding, that you 

were denying the motions on those bases, we were struggling to prepare 

detailed findings and conclusions of law with the silence.  So we would 

just respectfully request that the Court, should it choose to provide us 

some guidance in that respect.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

Oppositions and -- let me hear from all parties. 

MS. GAMBEE:  Do you want to hear the motions first or do we 

want to take them each separately? 

THE COURT:  I'm just going to take them separately and -- 

and not rule until I've heard everything.  

MR. ALBRIGHT:  Good morning, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Mr. Albright. 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  Our -- our concern, of course, is that the -- 

the proposed findings were due about nine days ago.  And rather call us 

and get a continuance or -- or propose some findings and conclusions 

that just had the two blanks, we could have saved a lot of time and effort 

by just focusing on those -- those two items.   

Because we're now up against the -- the holiday, if -- if the 

Court wants, we're happy to prepare the proposed findings and 

conclusions by the end of next week and we're happy to give the 

opposing parties two weeks, because of the holidays, to review them.  

We believe that it's very clear that, on the jurisdictional issue, that the -- 
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the laws that we submitted, including the statute 75.160, is a director 

consent statute for directors that agree to perform their services in 

Nevada.   

And, in addition, with respect to claim preclusion, very simple.  

The Supreme Court has already ruled that an order appointing a 

receiver or denying a Motion to Appoint a Receiver is not a final 

judgment on the merits.  It's not entitled to any preclusive effect under 

the Johnson v. Steel case.  And because those two are assumed and 

implied, we submit, Your Honor, it's very clear from the points and 

authorities what the conclusions and findings are. 

If it's good enough for the Supreme Court of Nevada to 

assume and imply findings when they're not there, then it's certainly 

good enough for opposing counsel on a Motion to Dismiss, Your Honor.  

Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Any other parties wish to weigh in on this motion? 

MS. GALL:  Could I just make a very brief reply? 

THE COURT:  Well, unless anybody else -- 

MS. GALL:  Understood. 

THE COURT:  -- has -- Ms. Gambee, did you have anything?  

MS. GAMBEE:  No. 

THE COURT:  Yes, then your reply, please. 

MS. GALL:  Your Honor, on just two points.  One, this is not a 

Motion for Reconsideration, and so, obviously, I dispute Mr. Albright's 

substantive arguments both on claim preclusion and on the personal 

PET001464
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jurisdiction matter.  But in addition we'll state there were a number of 

bases on which both parties both moved and opposed those subjects. 

As far as the findings of fact, we have not just been sitting 

around.  On all other issues, Defendants have conferred amongst 

ourselves, counsel have conferred.  We have the findings of fact and 

conclusions of law prepared with the exception of the two issues that are 

before the Court today.  And we will -- once Your Honor provides her 

clarification, we will be in a position within one to two days to circulate 

that to the -- to the plaintiffs.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

All right.  So the first motion is submitted.  

Let's take now Ms. Lambrakopoulos, your motion with regard 

to Mr. Gonzalez. 

MS. LAMBRAKOPOULOS:  Yes, thank you, Your Honor.  We 

appreciate the opportunity.  

We, again, also seek a limited clarification on the issue of 

Mr. Gonzalez's motion based on Rule 12(b)(2) for lack of jurisdiction, 

personal jurisdiction by the Court.  We noted that there was nothing in 

the Court's November 21st decision that spoke to that issue and thus 

seek clarification, particularly in light of the fact that the Court has also, 

as per that order, dismissed the sole Nevada plaintiff and has also 

dismissed all of the claims that could arguably constitute harm to the 

corporation, at least as to Mr. Gonzalez. 

And based on concipio, we sought further guidance from the 

Court to try to understand what the decision has been on that issue and 
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what the basis for that decision, so that we could work together to craft 

that portion of -- of the final order. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  

And the opposition? 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  No, Your Honor.  Just a request that if they 

submit them to us, the findings and conclusions, in the next few days, 

we would like seven to 10 days, of course, to review them.  They're 

going to be complex and we -- we've got the holidays facing us. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

And anything? 

MS. GALL:  I just wanted to note -- 

MS. LAMBRAKOPOULOS:  No. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Gall -- 

MS. GALL:  Apologize. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Gall and then Ms. Lambrakopoulos. 

MS. GALL:  I just wanted to know that the -- the clients that 

Ballard Spahr represents, all but Hygea, Mr. Iglesias, and Mr. Moffly, join 

in the Motion for clarification made by Mr. Gonzalez. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. GALL:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Lambrakopoulos? 

MS. LAMBRAKOPOULOS:  Yes.  And we have no issue with 

providing the plaintiffs with whatever time they need in order to review 

the draft order, which should be -- we should be in a position to, jointly 

with the other defendants, deliver to them very soon.   
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THE COURT:  Very good. 

The -- I'm going to take the matters under consideration.  

They'll be submitted at this point.  The ruling -- this will go on my 

chambers calendar for the 18th, and you'll have a decision that day.  

We -- we are almost ready in drafting it.  I wanted to have it for you 

today, but I couldn't get there. 

So the -- the findings of facts will be due on the 4th of 

January -- I'm sorry, hang on.  Findings of fact will be due on the 4th of 

January after I issue the order on the 18th.  And the plaintiffs then will 

have 10 days to respond before they're submitted to me or available for 

signature. 

I apologize for the delay. 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  No problem.  We appreciate it, Your Honor. 

MS. GALL:  As a matter of clarification, Your Honor, are the 

findings due to the plaintiffs on the 4th or due to the Court on the 4th? 

THE COURT:  To the plaintiffs on the 4th and they'll have 10 

days to respond before it comes to me. 

MS. GALL:  Understood, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  And -- and I'll review if there are objections.  I 

assume there will be a written objections, I anticipate that.  I'll either sign 

or convene a telephonic, or if they're substantive, just ask for another 

hearing. 

MS. GALL:  Understood. 

THE COURT:  I'll set another hearing. 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  Okay. 
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THE COURT:  Thank you all. 

MS. GALL:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. ALBRIGHT:  Thank you.  

[Proceeding concluded at 9:47 a.m.] 

/ / / 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed 
the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my 
ability. 

      

  _________________________ 

               Shawna Ortega, CET*562 
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NEFF 
Joel E. Tasca, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle A. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: (702) 471-7000 
Facsimile:  (702) 471-7070 
tasca@ballardspahr.com 
gallm@ballardspahr.com 
ewingk@ballardspahr.com 
 
Julian W. Friedman  
New York Registration No. 1110220 
BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
919 3rd Avenue, Floor 37 
New York, New York 10022 
Telephone: (212) 223-0200 
Facsimile:  (212) 223-1942 
friedmanj@ballardspahr.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Hygea Holdings 
Corp., Manuel Iglesias, Edward Moffly, 
Daniel T. McGowan, Martha Mairena 
Castillo, Lacy Loar, Glenn Marrichi, Keith 
Collins, M.D., Jack Mann, M.D., Joseph 
Campanella, and Carl Rosenkrantz 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

N5HYG, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company, et al., 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
HYGEA HOLDINGS CORP., a Nevada 
corporation, et al., 
 
   Defendants. 
 

 CASE NO.:  A-17-762664-B 
 
DEPT NO.:  27 
 
 
 

 
 

 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF  

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER 
  

Case Number: A-17-762664-B

Electronically Filed
5/24/2019 11:48 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on Defendants’ Motions 

to Dismiss was filed in the above-entitled matter on May 10, 2019, a copy of which is 

attached as Exhibit A. 

Dated: May 24, 2019 

BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
 
By:/s/ Maria A. Gall    

Joel E. Tasca, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle A. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

 
Attorneys for Defendants Hygea Holdings 
Corp., Manuel Iglesias, Edward Moffly, Daniel 
T. McGowan, Martha Mairena Castillo, Lacy 
Loar, Glenn Marrichi, Keith Collins, M.D., 
Jack Mann, M.D., Joseph Campanella, and 
Carl Rosenkrantz 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on May 24, 2019, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, 

AND ORDER was served on the following parties through the Court’s e-service 

system: 
 

G. Mark Albright, Esq. 
D. Chris Albright, Esq. 
ALBRIGHT, STODDARD, WARNICK & 

ALBRIGHT 
801 South Rancho Drive, Ste D-4 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

E. Powell Miller, Esq. 
Christopher D. Kaye, Esq. 
THE MILLER LAW FIRM, P.C. 
950 W. University Dr., Ste 300 
Rochester, Michigan 48307 
 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

Robert Cassity, Esq. 
Sydney R. Gambee, Esq. 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ray Gonzalez 
 

Stavroula Lambrakopoulos, Esq. 
Theodore Kornobis, Esq. 
K&L GATES LLP 
1601 K Street, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ray Gonzalez 
 

Richard Williams Esq. 
8110 SW 78th Street 
Miami, Florida 33143 
 
Defendant Pro Per 
 

 

 
 

/s/ C. Bowman  
       An Employee of BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
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MRCN 
Joel E. Tasca, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle A. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: (702) 471-7000 
Facsimile:  (702) 471-7070 
tasca@ballardspahr.com 
gallm@ballardspahr.com 
ewingk@ballardspahr.com 
 
Julian W. Friedman 
(admitted pro hac vice) 
New York Registration No. 1110220 
919 3rd Avenue, Floor 37 
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REQUESTED RELIEF 

 Hygea1 asks the Court for the following relief: 

1. That the Court reconsider its finding that the Receivership 
Court did not render a final judgment on the merits; 

2. Regardless of reconsideration, that the Court clarify its 
decision and make findings on the remaining elements of 
claim preclusion and N5HYG’s “defenses” to claim 
preclusion; and  

3. Alternatively to reconsideration, that the Court stay this 
Action pending Hygea’s petition for writ relief and/or 
N5HYG’s appeal of the Receivership Court’s finding that it 
lacked jurisdiction to appoint a receiver.   

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS 

This Action is based on the same facts N5HYG alleged in the Receivership 

Action,2 including Hygea’s alleged misrepresentations and breach of the stock 

purchase agreement; management’s failure to properly govern the company; and the 

company’s purported insolvency and financial distress.  It is thus barred by the 

Receivership Judgment3 under the doctrine of claim preclusion and, for this reason, 

should have been dismissed in its entirety in connection with Defendants’ Motions to 

Dismiss.  The Court, however, rejected the claim preclusion argument after finding: 

(1) that “a court’s decision whether or not to appoint a receiver is not a final decision 

for purposes of claim preclusion;” and that (2) “based on the Receivership Court’s 

finding that it lacked jurisdiction to appoint a receiver, the Receivership Court did 

not render a final judgment for purposes of determining claim preclusion.”  Findings 

                                            
1 Unless otherwise specified, “Hygea” or the “Hygea Defendants” refer to the 
remaining defendants: Hygea Holdings Corp., Manuel Iglesias, and Edward Moffly.   

2 Arellano, et al. v. Hygea Holdings Corp., et al., Case No. 18 OC 00071 1B (First 
Judicial District Court), and previously Case No. 18-768510-B (Eighth Judicial 
District Court).    

3 “Receivership Judgment” refers to the Receivership Court’s Amended Findings of 
Facts and Conclusions of Law (filed Oct. 29, 2018), attached here as Exhibit A, which 
also notes the Receivership Court’s judgment as a matter of law rendered at the close 
of N5HYG’s case-in-chief.   
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of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order (“FFCO”) (filed May 10, 2019), p. 3:27–4:4.   

Hygea submits that the Court erred and should reconsider its decision 

because: 

 The Court failed to consider the Nevada Supreme Court’s 
opinion in Lynch v. Awada, holding that a decision whether 
to appoint a receiver is a final decision for purposes of claim 
preclusion;  

 The Court overlooked the fact that the Receivership Court 
issued a judgment as a matter of law at the conclusion of 
N5HYG’s case-in-chief, whereby the Receivership Court 
rendered judgment in Hygea’s favor and denied N5HYG’s 
claims for relief under NRS 78.630 entirely and under NRS 
78.650 in part—not because it lacked jurisdiction to hear 
the claims—but because N5HYG had failed to meet its 
burden of proof on the substantive merits of these claims; 
and with regard to N5HYG’s remaining claims for relief 
under NRS 78.650, 

 The Court failed to distinguish between the Receivership 
Court’s jurisdiction to decide N5HYG’s claims underlying 
its request for a receiver and the Receivership Court’s 
jurisdiction to grant the remedy of a receiver, where only a 
lack of the former renders a court without jurisdiction to 
enter a judgment on the merits. 

Hygea also asks for clarification and findings on the remaining elements of 

claim preclusion, as well as N5HYG’s “defenses” to claim preclusion, including: 

 Whether this Action is based on the same claims or any 
part of them that were or could have been brought in the 
Receivership Action (it is);  

 Whether the parties or their privies in this Action are the 
same as in the Receivership Action (they are);  

 Whether Hygea is estopped from arguing claim preclusion 
(it is not); and 

 Whether Hygea consented to claim splitting (it did not). 

Hygea makes this request for further findings so that it may have a full record of 

this Court’s decisions when Hygea petitions for writ relief.  The Supreme Court is 

likely to hear the petition, which will present issues of first impression and 

important public policy concerns, including whether a plaintiff like N5HYG can skirt 

the effects of claim preclusion by taking a defendant through trial, knowing that it 
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never had the right to ask for the relief it sought.     

If the Court is not inclined to reconsider its prior order and dismiss N5HYG’s 

Complaint as claim precluded, Hygea asks the Court—in the alternative—to stay 

this lawsuit pending its petition for writ relief and/or pending N5HYG’s appeal of the 

Receivership Court’s finding that it lacked jurisdiction to appoint a receiver.  Hygea 

is likely to succeed on the merits of the petition for the reasons stated here, but even 

if it does not succeed, the petition and/or N5HYG’s appeal will resolve the question of 

whether the Receivership Court rendered a final decision on the merits.  Proceeding 

in the absence of the Nevada Supreme Court’s guidance on this matter would be 

inefficient, waste the resources of the Court and the parties, and potentially result in 

inconsistent rulings that would need to be corrected in light of the Supreme Court’s 

decisions.   

Moreover, the wide-ranging discovery N5HYG will undoubtedly seek will 

impose a heavy burden on Hygea and the Court—this after N5HYG forced Hygea to 

endure a 5-day trial based on the same facts that will be litigated in this case but 

purportedly in pursuit of a different remedy.  N5HYG, in contrast, will not be unduly 

prejudiced by a stay while the Nevada Supreme Court considers a writ petition 

and/or N5HYG’s own appeal of the Receivership Court’s “jurisdictional” finding.  

Given the notions of comity at stake, the Court should at the very least grant a stay.  

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. THE COURT SHOULD RECONSIDER ITS FINDING THAT THE 
RECEIVERSHIP COURT DID NOT RENDER A FINAL JUDGMENT 
ON THE MERITS. 

The first element of claim preclusion asks whether there was a final judgment 

on the merits.  Weddell v. Sharp, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 28, 350 P.3d 80, 82 (Nev. 2015), 

reh’g denied (July 23, 2015).  This requires a judgment that is both (1) final and (2) 

on the merits.  Id.  With regard the Receivership Judgment, the Court found: (1) that 

“a court’s decision whether or not to appoint a receiver is not a final decision for 

purposes of claim preclusion;” and that (2) “based on the Receivership Court’s 
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finding that it lacked jurisdiction to appoint a receiver, the Receivership Court did 

not render a final judgment for purposes of determining claim preclusion.”4  FFCO, 

3:27–4:4.  The Court was wrong and should reconsider its decision for the reasons set 

forth below.  See Masonry & Tile Contractors v. Jolley, Urga & Wirth Ass’n, 113 

Nev. 737, 741, 941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997) (“A district court may reconsider a 

previously decided issue if . . . the decision is clearly erroneous.”)  Section A 

addresses why the Receivership decisions were final; Sections B and C address why 

they were on the merits.   

A. A Recent Supreme Court Ruling In Lynch v. Awada Holds That 
Judgments Denying The Appointment Of A Receiver Are Final.  

The Court’s holding that “a court’s decision whether or not to appoint a 

receiver is not a final decision,” FFCO, 3:27–28, contravenes Lynch v. Awada, a 

Nevada Supreme Court decision issued after briefing on the Motions to Dismiss 

closed. 427 P.3d 123, 2018 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 882, at *9 (Sept. 28, 2018) (not 

designated for publication and published in table format only).  In Awada, the 

appellant-plaintiffs successfully brought a first action seeking the equitable 

remedies of dissolution and appointment of a receiver.  See id. at *1.5  They then 

brought a second action seeking damages based on the same facts as the receivership 

action.  See id.  Judge Delaney, writing for the “damages” court, granted summary 

judgment based on claim preclusion after finding that the receivership action barred 

further claims based on the same facts.  See id. at *1–2.   

                                            
4 In the second half of its finding, the Court spoke in terms of there not being “a final 
judgment” for purposes of claim preclusion.  Given its earlier reference to 
“jurisdiction,” however, the Court may have meant to say that there was no judgment 
“on the merits” for purposes of claim preclusion.   

5 The Awada appellants moved for dissolution and the appointment of a receiver 
under NRS Chapter 86, which governs Nevada LLCs.  While N5HYG moved for a 
receiver under NRS Chapter 78, the Supreme Court’s decision applies with equal 
force to a corporation because the preclusive nature of the claim does not turn on the 
type of entity for which a receiver is sought but instead on the plaintiff’s ability to 
liberally join other claims under the procedural rules.   
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The plaintiffs appealed, arguing that they could not have brought their 

“damages” claims in the receivership action—N5HYG made the same argument 

here.  See N5HYG’s Opp. to Hygea’s Mot. to Dismiss, p. 9:23–26.  The Nevada 

Supreme Court, however, said such argument “lacks merit.”  Awada, 2018 Nev. 

Unpub. LEXIS 882, at *7.  It affirmed Judge Delaney, holding that “ancillary claims 

may be raised in dissolution actions” seeking the appointment of a receiver, because 

“barring a petitioner from asserting supplemental claims in a special proceeding and 

requiring a separate [damages] action would produce additional and unnecessarily 

formalistic practice.”  Id. (internal quotations omitted).6  Awada thus confirms two 

things: (1) N5HYG could have brought the claims here in the Receivership Action; 

and (2) an order disposing of a receivership action by granting or denying the 

appointment of a receiver is a final judgment that bars future actions based on the 

same facts as the receivership case.   

Even if the Court ignores Awada, it should still reconsider its finding because 

it is based on a misreading of Johnson v. Steel, Inc., 100 Nev. 181, 678 P.2d 676 

(1984).  See FFCO, pp. 3:27–4:1; Minute Order (filed Dec. 14, 2019) (serving as the 

basis for the FFCO and citing Johnson).  Johnson is inapposite because it concerned 

an interlocutory order for the appointment of a temporary receiver.  There, the 

plaintiff brought a derivative claim for breach of fiduciary duty and asked for a 

receiver pendente lite—i.e., while the action was pending.  As explained by the 

Johnson court, “[t]he use of a receiver pendente lite is an ancillary remedy use to 

preserve the value of assets pending outcome of the principal case.  The appointment 

determines no substantive rights between the parties but is merely a means of 

preserving the status quo.  Accordingly, an order appointing a receiver or denying a 

motion to appoint a receiver [pendente lite] is not a final judgment on the merits.”  

                                            
6 See also Awada, 2018 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 882, at *4 (noting that the court’s 
decision in the receivership action was final and that no party had challenged its 
validity).   
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Id. at 678 (emphasis added).7  In contrast to the plaintiff in Johnson, N5HYG did not 

seek a receiver pendente lite, and the Receivership Judgment denying the 

appointment of a receiver was not a means of preserving the status quo—it was a 

final judgment passing on the merits of N5HYG’s claims based on Hygea’s alleged 

financial distress; fraud; other mal-, mis-, or nonfeasance; and mismanagement.   

B. This Court Overlooked The Receivership Court’s Judgment As A 
Matter Of Law Denying N5HYG’s Claims On the Merits, And Not 
Because It Lacked Jurisdiction.   

The Receivership record belies N5HYG’s related argument that the 

Receivership Court did not render a judgment on the merits.  The Receivership 

Court made rulings on the merits when it granted Hygea’s motion for judgment as a 

matter of law after N5HYG rested its case-in-chief.  Specifically, the Receivership 

Court dismissed N5HYG’s claims under NRS 78.630 entirely and NRS 78.650 in part 

because N5HYG failed to provide sufficient evidence on the merits of such claims 

(and not for want of jurisdiction).  See Hygea’s Reply to Mot. to Dismiss, p. 2:18–24; 

Tr. of Proceedings on Oct. 3, 2018 (filed Oct. 19, 2019), pp. 7:6–15; 88:25–89:8; 121:7–

19.  Below is an excerpt from the relevant transcript:8 

Well, on NRS 32.010, the Court agrees with the defense 
based on the Nenzel case, 49 Nev. 145, that the statute -- 
well, the Supreme Court, the gloss on the statute requires 
that there be an action pending, something other than just 
a receivership. So the claims under 32.010 are dismissed·as 
a matter of law.   

The 78.630, the Court finds that there is not sufficient 
evidence, that the business has been and is being conducted 
at a great loss and greatly prejudicial to the interests of its 

                                            
7 Johnson relied on C & H Constr. & Paving Co. v. Citizens Bank, 93 N.M. 150, 597 
P.2d 1190 (N.M. App. 1979), which presented the same circumstance.  As the court in 
SAO Realty, Inc. v. Second St. Realty, LLC, recognized in distinguishing C &H 
Constr., “[a]ssuming, arguendo, that the assignment of a receiver is not a final 
judgment, it does not automatically follow that the outcome of receivership 
proceedings is not either.”  No. 00-3643, 2006 R.I. Super. LEXIS 153, at *10 (Super. 
Ct. Nov. 2, 2006) (emphasis added).   

8 The Receivership Court noted its decision on the judgment as a matter of law in its 
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  Ex. A, Receivership Judgment, 4:16—5:5.   
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creditors or stockholders, so that portion of the claim is also 
dismissed as a matter of law.  

Under NRS 78.650, the Court finds that the corporation 
has not -- there’s not evidence to support a finding that the 
corporation has willfully violated its charter. 

The Court agrees with plaintiffs that there is a reasonable 
inference that management -- Hygea’s management’s 
failure to manage cash flow, to be able to ·account for it, at 
least to the degree that an audited statement can be 
prepared, even though that’s not required by the 
regulators, it’s a reasonable inference that the directors 
have been guilty of gross mismanagement, [but] not of 
fraud or collusion. 

… 

So it’s granted in part and denied in part as I’ve gone 
through each of those. 

Ex. B, Excerpt from Receivership Tr. Transcr., Vol. III, May 16, 2018, pp. 609:10–

611:14 (emphasis added).  

The foregoing language demonstrates that the Receivership Court’s decision 

to grant the judgment as a matter of law was undeniably one on the merits, a 

conclusion which Rule 41 supports.  That Rule unambiguously states that “[u]nless 

the dismissal order or an applicable statute provides otherwise, a dismissal under 

Rule 41(b) and any dismissal not under this rule—except one for lack of jurisdiction, 

improper venue, or failure to join a party under Rule 19—operates as an 

adjudication on the merits.”  N.R.C.P. 41(b) (emphasis added).  What is clear is that 

the Receivership Court dismissed N5HYG’s claims under Rule 50 based on N5HYG’s 

failure to put forward sufficient evidence of the claims, and not for lack of 

jurisdiction.     

C. The Court Failed To Distinguish Between The Receivership 
Court’s Jurisdiction To Decide N5HYG’s Claims Underlying Its 
Request For a Receiver and the Receivership Court’s Jurisdiction 
to Provide the Remedy of a Receiver.   

The Court failed to distinguish between the Receivership Court’s jurisdiction 

to decide N5HYG’s claims underlying its request for a receiver and the Receivership 

Court’s jurisdiction to grant the remedy of a receiver, where only a lack of the former 
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renders a court without jurisdiction to enter a judgment on the merits.  See Hygea’s 

Reply to Mot. to Dismiss, pp. 2:5–3:15; Tr. of Proceedings on Oct. 3, 2018 (filed Oct. 

19, 2019), p. 121:7–13.  The Court instead misinterpreted the Receivership 

Judgment to mean that the Receivership Court had not rendered a judgment on the 

merits because N5HYG had failed to establish that the “[Receivership] Court has 

jurisdiction to appoint a receiver . . . .”  FFCO, p. 21:13–18 (emphasis added).  In 

doing so, however, this Court read the words “subject matter” into the Receivership 

Judgment, where no such words exists.   

The better reading of the Receivership Judgment is that it used the term 

“jurisdiction” in reference to the court’s power to appoint a receiver—i.e., to provide 

the sought-after remedy—not its power to hear and decide claims.  Indeed, the term 

“jurisdiction” can have many meanings, and a lack of jurisdiction to provide a 

remedy, such as a receiver, does not render a court without jurisdiction to render 

judgment on the merits.  Although there is no Nevada case on point, the case of 

Abelleira v. Dist. Court of Appeal, 109 P.2d 942 (1941), from the California Supreme 

Court provides guidance.  Abelleira was cited to approvingly by the Nevada Supreme 

Court in Landreth v. Malik, 125 Nev. Adv. Rep. 61, 221 P.3d 1265, 1269–70 (2009). 
 

But in its ordinary usage the phrase “lack of jurisdiction” is 
not limited to these fundamental situations. For the 
purpose of determining the right to review by certiorari, 
restraint by prohibition, or dismissal of an action, a much 
broader meaning is recognized. Here it may be applied to a 
case where, though the court has jurisdiction over the 
subject matter and the parties in the fundamental sense, it 
has no “jurisdiction” (or power) to act except in a particular 
manner, or to give certain kinds of relief, or to act without 
the occurrence of certain procedural prerequisites. Thus, a 
probate court, with jurisdiction of an estate, and therefore 
over the appointment of an administrator, nevertheless acts 
in excess of jurisdiction if it fails to follow the statutory 
provisions governing such appointment.  The superior court 
may have jurisdiction over a cause of action and the parties 
to a suit for libel, but in the case of nonresidents, a bond for 
costs is required by statute, and unless such bond is filed, it 
is without jurisdiction to proceed, and will be restrained by 
writ of prohibition. A court with jurisdiction over a cause 
may hear and determine it and give judgment, but it cannot 
award costs in a situation not provided by statute.  
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Abelleira, 109 P.2d at 947–48 (emphasis added).  Similarly, the Receivership Court 

had jurisdiction over N5HYG’s claims based on Hygea’s alleged mismanagement, but 

the Receivership Court could not appoint a receiver because N5HYG had failed to 

demonstrate that it met a statutory prerequisite to obtain a receiver.   

Indeed, the Receivership Court exercised substantial jurisdiction over 

N5HYG’s claims, including through a week-long trial, and by entering judgment at 

the conclusion of trial, the Receivership Court itself decided that it had subject 

matter jurisdiction.  The Receivership Court intended its judgment to have 

preclusive effect.  Stated differently, the Receivership Court could not have entered 

judgment in Hygea’s favor without at least implicitly finding that it had jurisdiction 

to hear and decide N5HYG’s claims.   See Stoll v. Gottlieb, 305 U.S. 165, 171-72, 59 

S. Ct. 134, 137 (1938) (holding that “[e]very court in rendering a judgment, tacitly, if 

not expressly, determines its jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter.”) 

(emphasis added).  In fact, had the Receivership Court found that it lacked 

jurisdiction to decide N5HYG’s claims, it would have dismissed the claims under 

Rule 12(h) for want of subject matter jurisdiction, not entered judgment in Hygea’s 

favor after denying N5HYG’s petition.  See N.R.C.P. 12(h)(3) (“If the court 

determines at any time that it lacks subject-matter jurisdiction, the court must 

dismiss the action.”) (emphasis added).  It did not.   

II. THE COURT SHOULD ISSUE FINDINGS ON THE REMAINING 
ELEMENTS OF CLAIM PRECLUSION. 

Hygea also asks for clarification and findings on the remaining elements of 

claim preclusion, as well as N5HYG’s “defenses” to claim preclusion: 

 Whether this Action is based on the same claims or any 
part of them that were or could have been brought in the 
Receivership Action;  

 Whether the parties or their privies in this Action are the 
same as in the Receivership Action;  

 Whether Hygea its estopped from arguing claim preclusion; 
and 
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 Whether Hygea consented to claim splitting. 

The Parties briefed these issues extensively in the Motions to Dismiss, and 

therefore, Hygea provides only a summary of the arguments below.  These 

arguments demonstrate that the Court should find in Hygea’s favor on the 

remaining issues related to claim preclusion. 

A. The Receivership Action and This Action Are Based On The Same 
Facts And Allege The Same Wrongful Conduct. 

The second element of claim preclusion asks whether “the subsequent action 

is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been 

brought in the first action.”  Weddell, 350 P.3d at 82.  Bucking this plain language, 

N5HYG argued that it has to assert the exact same grounds for recovery and seek 

the exact same relief in this Action as it did in the Receivership Action for claim 

preclusion to apply.  See N5HYG’s Opp. to Hygea’s Mot. to Dismiss, p. 11:6–21.  

However, the Supreme Court explicitly rejected this approach in Five Star Capital 

when it held that claim preclusion applies where “the subsequent action is based on 

the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in the 

first case” because “claim preclusion applies to preclude an entire second suit that is 

based on the same set of facts and circumstances as the first suit.”  Five Star Capital 

Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1055, 194 P.3d 709, 713–14 (2008) (emphasis added).   

N5HYG has never meaningfully disputed that it pled the same allegations 

and circumstances in this Action as it did in the Receivership Action. In fact, 

N5HYG’s attorneys admitted during trial that the Receivership Action was based, at 

least in part, on the same set of facts at issue in this Action: the communications 

between N5HYG (or its agents) and Hygea, as well as the information provided to 

N5HYG by Hygea prior to N5HYG’s stock purchase: 

I do think that the fact of the representations and the 
information provided in 2016 does have some probative 
value here because if there were inaccuracies or if there 
was anything misleading about that information, that gets 
to the misfeasance, malfeasance, and nonfeasance criteria. 
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Hygea’s Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. H, Condensed Tr. Transcr., p. 289:2–7 (emphasis 

added).  For these reasons, Hygea requests a finding that this Action is based on the 

same facts and circumstances as the Receivership Action, and thus, the claims in 

this Action could have been brought in the Receivership Action.   

B. The Parties Between The Receivership Action And This Action 
Are The Same Or In Privity With One Another. 

The third element for claim preclusion asks whether (i) the parties or their 

privies are the same in the instant lawsuit as they were in the previous lawsuit, or 

(ii) the defendant can demonstrate that he or she should have been included as a 

defendant in the earlier suit and the plaintiff fails to provide a good reason for not 

having done so.  Weddell, 350 P.3d at 85. There is no dispute that N5HYG was a 

plaintiff in the Receivership Action.  There is also no dispute that the Hygea 

Defendants were defendants to the Receivership Action.9  For these reasons, Hygea 

requests a finding that the parties between the Receivership Action and this Action 

are the same or in privity with one another. 

C. Hygea Is Not Estopped From Arguing Claim Preclusion 

N5HYG argued that Hygea is estopped from asserting claim preclusion 

because N5HYG could not have brought its request for appointment of a receiver in 

federal court because NRS 78.630 and 78.650 vest jurisdiction exclusively in Nevada 

state court.  This is immaterial, however, because Hygea is not arguing that N5HYG 

should have sought the appointment of a receiver in this Action while it was 

removed to federal court.  Hygea is arguing that N5HYG should have brought the 

                                            
9 The following named defendants, who have been dismissed for lack of personal 
jurisdiction, were also parties to the Receivership Action:  Daniel T. McGowan, Frank 
Kelly, Martha Mairena Castillo, Glenn Marrichi, Keith Collins, Jack Mann, and 
Joseph Campanella.  The remaining named defendants, most of whom have also been 
dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction, are in privity with Hygea as its former 
directors: Lacy Loar, Richard Williams, Carl Rosenkrantz, Ray Gonzalez, and The 
Estate of Howard Sussman.   
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claims in this Action in the Receivership Action.10  N5HYG also argued that Hygea is 

estopped from asserting claim preclusion because the Stock Purchase Agreement 

demands that all claims be brought in Clark County, Nevada, and Hygea insisted 

that the Receivership Action be transferred to the First Judicial District.  This 

argument holds no water because forum selection clauses are not an absolute bar to 

litigating in fora other than the contractually chosen one.  If a forum selection clause 

leads to an unreasonable result, such as claim-splitting, a court may decline to 

enforce the clause.  See Tandy Comput. Leasing, Div. of Tandy Elecs. v. Terina’s 

Pizza, 105 Nev. 841, 844, 784 P.2d 7, 8 (1989) (declining to enforce a forum selection 

clause where doing so would be unreasonable and unjust.)  N5HYG did not even try 

to bring all its claims in one forum.  For these reasons, Hygea requests a finding that 

it is not estopped from arguing claim preclusion.   

D. Hygea Did Not Acquiesce to Claim Splitting. 

N5HYG argued that Hygea acquiesced to claim splitting during the 

Receivership Action.  Even if acquiescence mattered, Hygea did not acquiesce.  Out 

of an abundance of caution, Hygea expressly objected to claim splitting in the answer 

to N5HYG’s amended complaint in the Receivership Action.  See Hygea’s Reply to 

Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A, Receivership Action, Answer to First Amended Complaint at 

11-12, Fifth Affirmative Defense (“Defendants assert that this action constitutes 

impermissible claim splitting given the first filed lawsuit by Plaintiff N5HYG LLC 

….”)11  In any event, Hygea’s acquiescence or lack thereof is immaterial because a 

                                            
10 Also, to the extent it matters, the Ninth Circuit has long-opined that a federal 
court sitting in diversity can take jurisdiction of a claim grounded in NRS 78.650 and 
78.630.  Pioche Mines Consol., Inc. v. Dolman, 333 F.2d 257, 273 (9th Cir. 1964).  
Indeed, in Backman v. Goggin, No. 2:16-CV-1108 JCM (PAL), 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
37342, at *10–11 (D. Nev. Mar. 15, 2017), the U.S. District Court for the District of 
Nevada dismissed a claim made under NRS 78.650, not because the court was 
without authority to hear the claim, but because the company at issue was a 
Massachusetts corporation with a Massachusetts principal place of business, and 
therefore, NRS 78.650 did not govern. 
 
11 Cf. Riel v. Stanley, No. 06 CV 5801 (TPG), 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68767, at *16 
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 5, 2009) (explaining that a defendant does not consent to claim 

(continued...) 
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plaintiff may freely split a cause of action between federal and state courts, albeit at 

the risk of claim preclusion.  See Sprint Commc’ns, Inc. v. Jacobs, 134 S. Ct. 584, 588 

(2013) (explaining that a pending state-court action “is no bar to proceedings 

concerning the same matter in the Federal court having jurisdiction”); Carter v. City 

of Emporia, 815 F.2d 617, 621 (10th Cir. 1987) (explaining that a plaintiff “may 

freely split a cause of action between federal and state courts and pursue both 

actions,” though noting the risk of claim preclusion); Klane v. Mayhew, No. 1:12-cv-

00203-NT, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 42053, at *17–18 (D. Me. Mar. 26, 2013) (same).  

Hygea had no vehicle to stop N5HYG from voluntarily splitting its claims, but at the 

same time, had no obligation to save N5HYG from itself.  For these reasons, Hygea 

requests a finding that it did not acquiesce to claim splitting.   

III. THE COURT SHOULD STAY THIS ACTION PENDING 
RESOLUTION OF HYGEA’S WRIT PETITION AND/OR N5HYG’S 
APPEAL OF THE RECEIVERSHIP COURT’S “JURSIDICTIONAL” 
FINDING. 

If the Court is not inclined to reconsider its decision and dismiss this case 

based on claim preclusion, Hygea asks that it stay this action pending resolution of 

Hygea’s writ petition and/or N5HYG’s appeal of the Receivership Court’s 

“jurisdictional” finding.  See Maheu v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 89 Nev. 214, 217, 

510 P.2d 627, 629 (1973) (quoting Landis v. N. Am. Co., 299 U.S. 248, 254–55, 57 S. 

Ct. 163, 166 (1936))12 (finding that a district court may stay an action at its 

________________________ 
(...continued) 
splitting where he “(1) raises an objection to claim splitting prior to the entry of a 
final judgment in either of the related cases and (2) does not affirmatively represent 
that he consents to the actions proceeding separately . . . because an objection raised 
prior to the entry of any final judgment puts the plaintiff on notice of the claim 
splitting problem and potential res judicata implications of inviting judgment against 
himself in one of the parallel actions.”) 

12 The Nevada Supreme Court has affirmed the district courts’ inherent power to 
manage the order of the proceedings before them in recent unpublished orders, citing 
approvingly to Maheu.  See Petrilla v. Castillo, No. 67566, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 
518, at *3 (Feb. 12, 2016) (affirming stay of one action pending proceedings in 
another on basis of judicial economy) (unpublished disposition); Hemmer v. Eighth 
Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 385 P.3d 606, No. 71753, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 968, 

(continued...) 
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discretion, because “the power to stay proceedings is incidental to the power inherent 

in every court to control the disposition of the causes on its docket with economy of 

time and effort for itself, for counsel, and for litigants.”)   

When issuing a stay pending writ or other appellate relief, the Nevada 

Supreme Court considers the following factors: 

(1) Whether the object of the appeal or writ petition will be 
defeated if the stay is denied; 

(2) Whether appellant/petitioner will suffer irreparable or 
serious injury if the stay is denied; 

(3) Whether respondent/real party in interest will suffer 
irreparable or serious injury if the stay is granted; and 

(4) Whether appellant/petitioner is likely to prevail on the 
merits in the appeal or writ petition. 

Fritz Hansen A/S v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 116 Nev. 650, 657, 6 P.3d 982, 986 

(2000) (citing NRAP 8(c); Kress v. Corey, 65 Nev. 1, 16–17, 189 P.2d 352, 360 (1948)).   

These factors are consistent with those considered by courts outside the context of 

appellate review, which calls “for the exercise of judgment which must weigh 

competing interests and maintain an even balance,” Maheu, 510 P.2d at 629, such as 

“the possible damage which may result from the granting of a stay, the hardship or 

inequity which a party may suffer in being required to go forward, and the orderly 

course of justice measured in terms of the simplifying or complicating of issues, 

proof, and questions of law which could be expected to result from a stay.”  CMAX, 

Inc. v. Hall, 300 F.2d 265, 268 (9th Cir. 1962) (citing Landis, 299 U.S. at 254-255). 

A. Hygea Is Likely To Succeed On The Merits Of The Writ Petition. 

Hygea is likely to succeed on the merits of its petition for writ relief for the 

reasons set forth above.   

/// 

________________________ 
(...continued) 
at *1–2 (Nov. 23, 2016) (declining to interfere with district court’s hearing setting) 
(not designated for publication and published in table format only). 

PET001518



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

DMWEST #36924142 v4 16 

B
A

L
L

A
R

D
 S

P
A

H
R

 L
L

P
 

1
9

80
 F

E
S

T
IV

A
L

 P
L

A
Z

A
 D

R
IV

E
, S

U
IT

E
 9

0
0 

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S

, N
E

V
A

D
A

 8
9

1
35

 

(7
0

2
) 

47
1

-7
0

00
 F

A
X

 (
7

0
2

) 
47

1
-7

07
0 

 
B. A Stay Will Avoid The Risk Of Inconsistent Judgments While Allowing 

The Nevada Supreme Court To Decide An Issue Of First Impression 
And Important Public Policy. 

The object of Hygea’s writ petition is twofold: (1) to obtain a decision on an 

issue of first impression and important public policy so that Hygea is not needlessly 

dragged through a second trial; and (2) to avoid the risk of inconsistent judgments, 

especially where N5HYG has appealed the very issue on which the Court rejected 

claim preclusion.  Indeed, N5HYG confirmed in its docketing statement that the 

“[f]irst issue on appeal is whether the district court erred when it denied Plaintiffs’ 

claim for the appointment of a receiver under NRS 78.650 on the basis that the court 

had no jurisdiction . . . .”  See Ex. C, N5HYG’s Docketing Statement, p. 5 ¶ 9.  

The Nevada Supreme Court is thus exercising jurisdiction over a key issue 

relied on by this Court in denying Hygea’s claim preclusion argument, that being: 

whether the Receivership Court had jurisdiction to appoint a receiver.  The Supreme 

Court may decide the appeal in N5HYG’s favor and reverse the Receivership Court’s 

conclusion that N5HYG had “failed to establish that” the Receivership Court had 

“jurisdiction to appoint a receiver ….”  Ex. A, Receivership Judgment, p. 21:14–15.  If 

so, the Receivership Judgment will become one on the merits (to the extent it is now 

not), and this Court will need to revisit its decision denying Hygea’s claim preclusion 

argument. 

This is not the only inconsistent finding that may result if the Supreme Court 

decides the jurisdictional issue in N5HYG’s favor.  N5HYG did not indicate that it 

would be attacking the sufficiency of the Receivership Court’s findings on the same 

facts N5HYG has put before this Court.  See Ex. C, N5HYG’s Docketing Statement, 

p. 5 ¶ 9.  If the Supreme Court decides the jurisdictional issue in N5HYG’s favor, 

those findings will “spring” into effect, and if this Court allows this action to proceed 
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while N5HYG’s appeal progresses through disposition,13 it risks making findings or 

entering judgment inconsistent with the Receivership Court’s findings on the same 

facts.  These risks are widely viewed as unacceptable, and while Hygea is not aware 

of a Nevada case on point, persuasive authority from the Southern District of New 

York provides guidance.   

In Catskill Mts. Chapter of Trout Unlimited, Inc. v. United States EPA, the 

district court stayed proceedings to await resolution of the appeal of a related case, 

as Hygea asks the Court to do here.  See 630 F. Supp. 2d 295, 304–06 (S.D.N.Y. 

2009).  The district court held that the “orderly and efficient use of judicial 

resources” required the Court to “avoid . . . inconsistent judgments that [c]ould result 

if both courts . . . proceeded simultaneously.”  Id. at 306 (ellipses and brackets in 

original) (internal quotations and citations omitted).  As here, the district court 

found that a “stay may . . . be appropriate [while] awaiting the outcome of 

proceedings which bear upon the case, even if such proceedings are not necessarily 

controlling of the action that is to be stayed.”  Id. at 305 (internal quotations 

omitted).  Simply put, a stay furthers the policy of comity between the various courts 

of a state.  See, e.g., Church of Scientology v. United States Dep’t of Army, 611 F.2d 

738, 750 (9th Cir. 1979) (staying case based on comity between various federal courts 

and explaining that the “doctrine is designed to avoid placing an unnecessary burden 

on the federal judiciary, and to avoid the embarrassment of conflicting judgments” 

between different federal courts (quoting Great Northern Railway Co. v. National 

Railroad Adjustment Board, 422 F.2d 1187, 1193 (7th Cir. 1970))).   

C. The Competing Interests Favor A Stay Because Hygea Will Suffer 
Irreparable Injury If The Stay Is Denied, While N5HYG Will 
Suffer No Undue Prejudice. 

The balancing of interests weighs in Hygea’s favor, because the risk of 

                                            
13 N5HYG has not even filed its opening brief yet.  See Appeal Docket, No. 76969.  
The Court may take judicial notice of the proceedings before the Supreme Court.  See 
NRS 47.130, et seq. 
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inconsistent judgments creates the possibility of irreparable harm for Hygea, which 

now faces being dragged through a second lawsuit and trial.  See Crowe v. Dunleavy, 

P.C. v. Stidham, 609 F. Supp. 2d 1211, 1222–23 (N.D. Okla. 2009) (“a significant risk 

that Crowe would be subject to inconsistent judgments” presents the possibility of 

irreparable harm), aff’d by 640 F.3d 1140, 1157 (10th Cir. 2011); Chiwewe v. 

Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co., 2002 WL 31924768 (D.N.M. Aug. 15, 2002) (risk 

of “having inconsistent binding judgments from two different courts” sufficient to 

demonstrate irreparable harm); InPhyNet Contr. Servs. v. Matthews, 196 So. 3d 

449, 463 (Fla. Ct. App. 2016) (“[W]e have previously said that exposure to a potential 

inconsistent ruling on the same issue by another court constitutes irreparable 

harm.” (citing Cole v. Cole, 937 So. 2d 261, 262 (Fla. Ct. App. 2006)).  The risk of 

inconsistent judgments also risks irreparable harm to this Court, as the 

Receivership Appeal may impact the Court’s ability to make final factual findings 

and legal conclusions.  There is thus the potential for a substantial waste of judicial 

resources, and really, N5HYG too should want to see how the Supreme Court will 

rule on its appeal of the jurisdictional issue before it proceeds into an expensive and 

onerous lawsuit.   

Other competing interests weigh in favor of a stay.  See CMAX, 300 F.2d at 

268 (setting forth various competing interests).  For instance, the orderly course of 

justice requires comity between the various courts of this state when exercising 

jurisdiction over claims between the same parties and based on the same facts.  Cf. 

id.  Further, if the Receivership Court’s “alternative” findings become final, they may 

simplify proof of certain issues in this matter, as the Receivership Court has already 

made findings on some of the facts N5HYG alleges here.  Cf. id.  Meanwhile, no 

damage will result to N5HYG from a stay, particularly one tied to an event certain: 

resolution of N5HYG’s own appeal from the Receivership Judgment.  It is well-

established that a mere delay in pursuing discovery and litigation does not 

constitute irreparable or serious harm.  See Mikohn Gaming Corp. v. McCrea, 120 
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Nev. 248, 253, 89 P.3d 36, 39 (2004).   

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons argued here and in connection with the Motion to Dismiss, the 

Court should reconsider its decision and dismiss this Action on the basis of claim 

preclusion.  Regardless, it should issue findings of fact and conclusions of law on the 

elements of claim preclusion it failed to address in its original decisions.  If the Court 

does not dismiss this Action for claim preclusion, the Court should stay the Action 

pending the Hygea’s pursuit of writ relief and/or N5HYG’s appeal of the 

Receivership Judgment.  Following resolution of that appeal, the Parties can reargue 

whether claim preclusion bars N5HYG’s claims.   

Dated: June 3, 2019 

BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
 
 
By:/s/ Maria A. Gall    

Joel E. Tasca, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle A. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Julian W. Friedman 
(admitted pro hac vice) 
New York Registration No. 1110220 
919 3rd Avenue, Floor 37 
New York, New York 10022 

 
Attorneys for Defendants Hygea Holdings 
Corp., Manuel Iglesias, and Edward Moffly 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on June 3, 2019, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AND CLARIFICATION OF ORDER ON 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON CLAIM PRECLUSION 

AND, ALTERNATIVELY, MOTION TO STAY was served on the following parties 

through the Court’s e-service system: 
 

G. Mark Albright, Esq. 
D. Chris Albright, Esq. 
ALBRIGHT, STODDARD, WARNICK & 

ALBRIGHT 
801 South Rancho Drive, Ste D-4 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

E. Powell Miller, Esq. 
Christopher D. Kaye, Esq. 
THE MILLER LAW FIRM, P.C. 
950 W. University Dr., Ste 300 
Rochester, Michigan 48307 
 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

Robert Cassity, Esq. 
Sydney R. Gambee, Esq. 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ray Gonzalez, 
dismissed per FFCO 
 

Stavroula Lambrakopoulos, Esq. 
Theodore Kornobis, Esq. 
K&L GATES LLP 
1601 K Street, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ray Gonzalez, 
dismissed per FFCO 
 

Richard Williams Esq. 
8110 SW 78th Street 
Miami, Florida 33143 
 
Defendant Pro Per, dismissed per FFCO 
 

 

 
 

/s/ C. Bowman  
       An Employee of BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
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APEN 
Joel E. Tasca, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle A. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: (702) 471-7000 
Facsimile:  (702) 471-7070 
tasca@ballardspahr.com 
gallm@ballardspahr.com 
ewingk@ballardspahr.com 
 
Julian W. Friedman  
New York Registration No. 1110220 
BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
919 3rd Avenue, Floor 37 
New York, New York 10022 
Telephone: (212) 223-0200 
Facsimile:  (212) 223-1942 
friedmanj@ballardspahr.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Hygea Holdings 
Corp., Manuel Iglesias, and Edward Moffly 
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

N5HYG, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company, et al., 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
HYGEA HOLDINGS CORP., a Nevada 
corporation, et al., 
 
   Defendants. 
 

 CASE NO.:  A-17-762664-B 
 
DEPT NO.:  27 
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CLARIFICATION OF ORDER ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS BASED 
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Exhibit Document 
Appendix 

Page 

A Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 1-24 

B Volume 3 of Receivership Trial Transcript 25-132 

C N5HYG’s Docketing Statement 133-233 

Dated: June 3, 2019 

BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
 
 
By:/s/ Maria A. Gall    

Joel E. Tasca, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle A. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Julian W. Friedman 
(admitted pro hac vice) 
New York Registration No. 1110220 
919 3rd Avenue, Floor 37 
New York, New York 10022 

 
Attorneys for Defendants Hygea Holdings 
Corp., Manuel Iglesias, and Edward Moffly 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on June 3, 2019, and pursuant to N.R.C.P. 5(b), a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing APPENDIX OF EXHIBITS TO MOTION FOR 

RECONSIDERATION AND CLARIFICATION OF ORDER ON DEFENDANTS’ 

MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON CLAIM PRECLUSION AND, 

ALTERNATIVELY, MOTION TO STAY was served on the following parties through 

the Court’s e-service system: 
 

G. Mark Albright, Esq. 
D. Chris Albright, Esq. 
ALBRIGHT, STODDARD, WARNICK & 

ALBRIGHT 
801 South Rancho Drive, Ste D-4 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

E. Powell Miller, Esq. 
Christopher D. Kaye, Esq. 
THE MILLER LAW FIRM, P.C. 
950 W. University Dr., Ste 300 
Rochester, Michigan 48307 
 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

Robert Cassity, Esq. 
Sydney R. Gambee, Esq. 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ray Gonzalez, 
dismissed per FFCO 
 

Stavroula Lambrakopoulos, Esq. 
Theodore Kornobis, Esq. 
K&L GATES LLP 
1601 K Street, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ray Gonzalez, 
dismissed per FFCO 
 

Richard Williams Esq. 
8110 SW 78th Street 
Miami, Florida 33143 
 
Defendant Pro Per, dismissed per FFCO 
 

 

 
/s/ C. Bowman  

       An Employee of BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
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Nevada Bar No. 14124 
Maria A. Gall, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14200 
Kyle E. Ewing, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14051 
BALLARD SPAHR LLP 
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: (702) 471-7000 
Fax: (702) 471-7070 
tasca@ballardspahr.com 
gallm@ballardspahr.corn 
ewingk@ballardspahr.com 

Severin A. Carlson, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 9373 
Tam C. Zimmerman, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 12146 
KAEMPFER CROWELL 
50 West Liberty St., Suite 700 
Reno, Nevada 89501 
Telephone: (775) 852-3900 
Fax: (775) 327-2011 
scarlson@kcnvlaw.com 
tzimmerman@kcnvlaw.com 
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Attorneys for Defendants 

IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR CARSON CITY 

CLAUDIO ARELLANO; et. al., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

HYGEA HOLDINGS CORP.; et. al., 

Defendants. 

/// 

Case No. 18 OC 00071 1B 
Dept No. II 

WROPOSED1 AMENDED FINDINGS OF 
FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
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1 (PROPOSED' AMENDED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

2 On May 14, 2018, the bench trial of this matter commenced, with the trial continuing 

3 On May 14, 2018, the bench trial of this matter commenced, with the trial continuing through 

4 May 18, 2018. Plaintiffs Claudio Arellano, Crown Equities LLC; Fifth Avenue 2254LLC; 

5 Halevi Enterprises LLC; Halevi SV 1 LLC; Halevi SV 2 LLC; Hillcrest Acquisitions LLC; 

6 Hillcrest Center SV I LLC; Hillcrest Center SV II LLC; Ibh Capital LLC; Leonite Capital 

7 LLC; N5HYG LLC ("N5HYG");and RYMSSG Group, LLC (collectively, the "Plaintiffs"), 

8 appeared at trial, by and through their counsel of record, Christopher D. Kaye, Esq., and David 

9 Viar, Esq., of the The Miller Law Firm, P.C., and Clark Vellis, Esq. of Holley, Driggs, Walch, 

10 Fine, Wray, Puzey, and Thompson. Defendants Hygea Holdings Corp. ("Hygea" or the 

11 "Company"), Manuel Iglesias, Edward Moffly, Daniel T. McGowan, Frank Kelly, Martha 

12 Mairena Castillo, Glenn Marrichi, Keith Collins, M.D., Jack Mann, M.D., and Joseph 

13 Campanella (collectively, the "Defendants" and, together with the Plaintiffs, the "Parties") also 

14 appeared at the trial, by and through their counsel of record, Maria A. Gall, Esq., and Kyle A. 

15 Ewing, Esq., of Ballard Spahr, LLP, and Severin A. Carlson, Esq. and Tara C. Zimmerman, 

16 Esq. of Kaempfer Crowell. The Court, having reviewed and considered the pleadings and 

17 papers on file herein and evidence admitted during the trial; having heard and considered the 

18 witnesses called to testify at the trial; having considered the oral and written arguments of 

19 counsel; and for good cause therefore, hereby enters the following findings of fact and 

20 conclusions of law: 

21 FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

22 I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

23 This is an action in which Plaintiffs sought the appointment of a receiver over the 

24 Company pursuant to NRS 78.650, NRS 78.630, and NRS 32.010. Plaintiffs filed this action on 

Page 2PET001529
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January 26, 2018, in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada, in and for Clark County by the 

filing of an Emergency Complaint (the "Complaint"). On the same day, Plaintiffs filed an 

Emergency Petition (the "Petition") for Appointment of Receiver, requesting preliminary 

injunctive relief and the appointment of a temporary receiver. 

Hygea opposed that Petition on February 20, 2018. The Eighth Judicial District Court, 

specifically Department XXVII, heard oral argument on the Petition but reserved decision 

thereon pending a to-be-set evidentiary hearing. Prior to opposing the Petition, on February 16, 

2018, Defendant Hygea filed a Motion for Change of Venue (the "Venue Motion") in the Eighth 

Judicial District Court. That court heard the Venue Motion on order shortening time on March 7, 

2018, and granted the venue change by way of its March 8, 2018, Order. The case was 

subsequently transferred to this Court. Upon transfer, this Court scheduled a status hearing for 

April 6, 2018, and asked the Parties to submit memoranda advising the Court of outstanding 

motions and any other matters each party wanted to discuss at the status hearing. Among other 

things, the Company in its memorandum requested that the Court combine the to-be-set 

evidentiary hearing with the trial on the merits pursuant to N.R.C.P. 65(a)(2). At the April 6, 

2018, status hearing, Hygea reiterated its request and moved orally to advance the trial of the 

action on the merits and consolidate the same with the hearing of Plaintiffs' Petition under 

N.R.C.P 65(a)(2) (the "Consolidation Motion"). After hearing argument from the Parties, the 

Court granted the Consolidation Motion. 

The Court offered the weeks of April 23, 2018, May 14, 2018, or a week in or after July 

2018 for a consolidated trial of the matter. Hygea suggested a week in or after July 2018 so that 

the Court could first decide the Company's pending Motion to Dismiss, or alternatively, for 

Summary Judgment, but indicated that it would be prepared to proceed the week of May 14, 

2018 if necessary; Plaintiffs requested the week of April 23, 2018. The Court set trial of the 

3 
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matter for five (5) calendar days beginning May 14, 2018. 

Prior to the consolidated trial, the Parties conducted limited discovery pursuant to the 

Court's April 23, 2018, Order granting limited relief from N.R.C.P. 16 in light of the 

consolidated trial. Also pursuant to the April 23, 2018, Order and in preparation for the trial of 

the matter, on April 23, 2018, the Parties disclosed their witnesses and Plaintiffs scheduled the 

trial depositions of two witnesses. At a hearing on Defendants' Motion for a Protective Order to 

preclude the trial depositions of Norman Gaylis, M.D. and Dan Miller and Plaintiffs' Motion to 

Preclude the Testimony of Craig Greene, the Court offered to continue the trial of the matter. 

Defendants represented that they were not opposed to a continuance so that the Court could 

decide what Defendants believed to be threshold issues raised in their Motion to Dismiss, or 

alternatively, for Summary Judgment, but that if the Court declined to address the motion, 

Defendants were prepared to proceed on May 14, 2018. Plaintiffs represented that they did not 

want a continuance and were prepared to proceed on May 14, 2018. Based on the Parties' 

representations, the Court did not continue the trial, and a bench trial of this matter was held 

from May 14, 2018, through May 18, 2018 

On May 16, 2018, Defendants moved at the close of the evidence offered by Plaintiffs for 

judgment as a matter of law under N.R.C.P. 50(a) with respect to all claims. After hearing 

argument from both Parties, the Court denied Plaintiffs' request for a receiver under NRS 32.010 

because, based on State ex re. Nenzel, 49 Nev. 145, 241 P. 317 (1925), NRS 32.010 requires that 

there be an action pending other than that for the request for a receivership, and in this case, there 

were no other claims pending. The Court also denied Plaintiffs' request for a receiver under NRS 

78.630 after finding that there was not sufficient evidence that Hygea has been and is being 

conducted at a great loss and great loss and greatly prejudicial to the interest of its creditors and 

stockholders. The Court further denied Plaintiffs' request for a receiver in part under NRS 

4 
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1 78.650 after finding that there was no evidence that Hygea had willfully violated its charter 

2 (NRS 78.650(1)(a)), that Hygea's directors had been guilty of fraud or collusion in its affairs 

3 (NRS 78.650(1)(b)), that Hygea abandoned its business (NRS 78.650(1)(f)), that Hygea had 

4 become insolvent (NRS 78.650(1)(h)), or that Hygea is not about to resume its business with 

5 safety to the public (NRS 78.650(1)0)). 

6 The Court, however, found that there was some evidence that Hygea's management's 

7 failure to be able to account for cash flow to the degree that an audited financial statement could 

8 be prepared, even though not required by the regulators, created a reasonable inference that the 

9 directors have been guilty of gross mismanagement (NRS 78.650(l)(b)), that the directors have 

10 been guilty of misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance (NRS 78.650(I)(c)), that Hygea is 

11 unable to conduct the business or conserve its assets by reason of the act, neglect or refusal to 

12 function of any of its directors (NRS 78.650(1)(d)), that the assets of Hygea are in danger of 

13 waste, sacrifice, or loss (NRS 78.650(1)(e)), and that Hygea, although solvent, is for cause 

14 notable to pay its debts or other obligations as they mature (NRS 78.650(1)(i)). Accordingly, the 

15 Court denied Hygea's motion for judgment as a matter of law with respect to the foregoing, and 

16 the trial proceeded with Hygea's defense on those issues. 

17 On May 17, 2018, during the fourth day of the trial, after Plaintiffs claimed that they 

18 were prejudiced by the late disclosure of a custodian of records affidavit authenticating a 

19 previously produced V Stock Transfer List Defendants proposed be admitted to demonstrate the 

20 Company's shares issued and outstanding, the Court again asked if the Parties wished to 

21 continue the trial. Neither Plaintiffs nor Defendants indicated that they wanted a continuance. 

22 Thus, after the trial concluded on May 18, 2018, the Court orally announced its preliminary 

23 findings of fact and conclusions of law on the record and rendered judgment on the matter in 

24 favor of Defendants. The Court now sets forth its final findings of fact and conclusions of law. 
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II. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Court finds that the following facts were proven by a preponderance of the evidence: 

1. N5HYG entered a Stock Purchase Agreement (the "SPA") in October of 2016 in 

which it purchased 23,437,500 shares of Hygea Holdings Corp., which, at that time, represented 

8.57% of the issued and outstanding stock of Hygea. 

2. Section 6.4(a) of the SPA contains a provision providing for certain preemptive 

and anti-dilution rights, including the right to notice to N5HYG if Hygea is issuing stock that 

would dilute N5HYG's pro rata ownership of Hygea's shares. 

3. Section 6.3(a) of the SPA contains a provision providing for certain post-closing 

monthly payments to N5HYG, including a payment in the amount equal to $175,000 until the 

occurrence of a "trigger event" as defined by the SPA. Hygea stopped paying the $175,000 post 

closing payment after June of 2017 and has accrued $1,750,000 in missed payments to N5HYG. 

4. Hygea has failed to adequately share financial information with its stockholders, 

and some information provided by the Company to its stockholders has not been accurate. 

5. Hygea has not provided audited financial statements to its stockholders, including 

N5HYG, and the last set of audited financial statements Hygea completed was for the year 2013. 

6. Minutes from a January 27, 2017, meeting of Hygea's Board of Directors (the 

"Board") indicate that, at that time, Hygea's audited financial statements for the years 2014 and 

2015 would be completed within a matter of weeks. However, the audited financial statements 

for 2014 and 2015 were never completed. 

7. The failure to complete audited financial statements were material for a time, 

when Hygea sought to "go public" on the Canadian financial markets. 

8. At the point that Hygea's Board decided that it would no longer be in the 

Company's best interests to "go public," the Board decided not to pursue audited financial 
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statements, including those for the years 2014 and 2015. 

9. Audited financial statements are not required by any regulatory agency for a 

private company such as Hygea, and the Board made a decision not to incur the expense or 

otherwise spend the resources necessary to obtain audited financial statements. 

10. In 2017 Hygea hired FTI Consulting, Inc. and specifically Mr. Timothy Dragelin 

of FTI, a testifying witness, to provide Hygea with certain management consulting. FTI's 

mission was to assist the Company in completing the financial statement audits for the years 

2014 and 2015, with the hope that Hygea would go public, and to develop a work plan for the 

company and its proposed "RTO" or reverse takeover in Canada. 

11. Mr. Dragelin testified that Hygea's books and records were not complete when 

Mr. Dragelin was working at Hygea and that there were no finalized financial statements, and, 

that being the case, no financial statements were in any shape to be audited. 

12. Mr. Dragelin further testified that the combination of incomplete financial 

statements, lack of supporting documentation required to complete the audits, and significant 

discord among management, posed significant impediments to Hygea's profitable operation. 

13. Mr. Dragelin testified that prior to Mr. Sergey Savchenko being hired as the 

Company's director of finance, there was little financial management at Hygea but that once Mr. 

Savchenko did come on board, Mr. Savechenko was helpful in moving forward Hygea's ability 

to prepare timely financial documents. 

14. Mr. Dragelin further testified that there remained, however, a lack of documentary 

support for large revenues and a lack of documentation regarding acquisitions and loans at the 

time that he left Hygea in June or July 2017. 

15. Mr. Dragelin explained that FTI's role was that of a consultant and, accordingly, 

he and his team made certain proposals to Hygea, some of which Hygea accepted and some of 
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which it declined to accept. 

16. Mr. Dragelin also explained challenges to gathering and completing Hygea's 

financial data based on the nature of its business. For instance, Hygea would not have had real 

data on costs until the end of 2017, at which point the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 

Services would make two annual adjustment payments going forward, a preliminary one in 

September of 2018 and a final in July of 2019; he explained that how Hygea would be paid in 

2018 relates to data from as far back as 2016 and 2017. 

17. In Mr. Dragelin's opinion, some of Hygea's stated financial numbers that were 

discussed with him lacked credibility and were outside the bounds of what he considered 

credible assumptions. Mr. Dragelin believes a number of proposals by Hygea relating to 

financial numbers that FTI thought could be supported. 

18. Mr. Dragelin observed officers of Hygea ignoring issues, including financial 

issues, failing to value its acquisitions, and making assumptions that were not appropriate, 

possibly resulting in overvaluing of an acquisition or several acquisitions. 

19. Mr. Dragelin observed that Hygea required only the signatory authority of its 

Chief Executive Officer, then Mr. Iglesias, with respect to which Hygea vendors were approved, 

who could pay those vendors, and general access to Hygea's cash accounts. 

20. Mr. Dragelin witnessed an intentional misstatement of financial information by 

Mr. Iglesias when Mr. Igelsias told Mr. Dragelin that a loan-type transaction would be otherwise 

structured. 

21. Based upon observations it appeared to Mr. Dragelin that Mr. Iglesias appeared to 

have a misunderstanding with respect to the relationship between Hygea's balance sheet and its 

EBITDA number (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization). 

22. Exhibit 41-B, which are minutes memorializing an August 9, 2017, Board 
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meeting (the "August 2017 Minutes"), explains that Mr. Iglesias, then the CEO of Hygea, 

reported to the Board that the focus would be to maximize the return on Hygea's own system and 

focus inward, slowing acquisitions and concentrating on Hygea' s position in the current politicd1 

climate. 

23. The August 2017 Minutes also reported that one of the blemishes on Hygea's 

progress was cash flow and that there were substantial obligations soon coming due, including an 

approximately $9 million payment to the sellers of VRG Group MedPlan on August 24, which 

the Company would not be able to honor. 

24. The August 2017 Minutes also report that the CEO wished to raise approximately 

$15 million to $20 million in equity financing through a private placement in case the 

Company's plans for going public were further delayed. 

25. The August 2017 Minutes also reflect that Mr. Dragelin pointed out the 

numerous of the Company's processes were not formalized, that acquisitions were not properly 

and/or timely integrated into Hygea's system, that there was a lack of coordination among the 

Company's departments, and that other matters contributed to the result that information flow at 

Hygea was not what it should be. 

26. The August 2017 Minutes further state that Mr. Dragelin advised that various 

deficiencies in the Hygea organization were already being overcome at that point in time; he 

explained that Mr. Sergey Savchenko, also a testifying witness at the trial, had been retained by 

the Company as its director of finance for his expertise in both financial and more general 

accounting and that various trust issues within management were being addressed, but that the 

Company's liquidity challenges still required resolution. 

27. The August 2017 Minutes further indicated that Mr. Dragelin said the company 

needed "real-time" financial statements on a monthly basis. 
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28. The August 2017 Minutes further state that Mr. Daniel McGowan, a Hygea 

director, opined that the Company could live or die on the audits. 

29. Finally, the August 2017 Minutes reflect that Dr. Norman Gaylis stated that the 

Company needed to do a better job of integrating acquired practices to market to replace 

hospitals with Hygea' s resources and to develop better contracts. 

30. Exhibit 25 is an electronic mail message from Christopher Fowler, a testifying 

witness at the trial who is an employee of RN Capital, LLC ("RIN") and the 

agent/representative of N5HYG, to Mr. McGowan, dated September 20, 2017 (the "September 

20 E-Mail"). In the email Mr. Fowler lists items that he wants to see addressed or clarified, 

including that the Board never received the Bridging Finance, Inc. cash flow projections, which 

show negative monthly cash flow. 

31. Mr. Fowler further stated in the September 20 E-Mail that the projections 

provided by the Board did not include acquisition payables of $16.4 million, which, in Mr. 

Fowler's view, indicated more than $5 million in negative cash flow. 

32. Mr. Fowler further complained in the September 20 E-Mail that the Bridging 

Finance cash flow projections required a statement of written assumptions, and that, in his view, 

the Board was not being properly informed of outstanding legal matters, including a yet-to-be-

filed lawsuit from N5HYG. 

33. Mr. Fowler further indicated in the September 20 E-Mail that the Board should 

undertake to review all outstanding contracts, that Hygea's CEO (at that time, Mr. Iglesias) was 

mismanaging by, for instance, failing to provide accurate quarterly and annual audited financial 

statements to stockholders, by failing to inform the Board of current or pending defaults under 

multiple contractual agreements which could affect cash flow by significantly underperforming 

versus the plan, by failing to provide timely and accurate projections with written assumptions to 
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the Board, and by failing to adhere to corporate policies and procedures. 

34. Hygea was a rapidly growing corporation and that this rapid growth caused a lot 

of challenges for Hygea. 

35. Hygea has issued stock as "currency" to buy medical practices since October of 

2016. 

36. Had Hygea used treasury stock to buy medical practices, which does not require 

the issuance of new shares, Hygea would not have diluted N5HYG's ownership share of Hygea; 

there is no evidence in the record, however, indicating whether Hygea possessed any treasury 

stock at any relevant time. 

37. Hygea has a number of creditors, including Dr. Norman Gaylis, a testifying 

witness at the trial (approximately $2.3 million owing); CuraScript (between $2 million and $2.5 

million owing); American Express (approximately $8.5 million owing); Bridging Finance 

(between approximately $60 million and $75 million owing with interest accruing at fifteen 

percent (15%) per annum). 

38. For a period of time Hygea employed Mr. Dan Miller, another testifying witness, 

as the Company's Chief Operations Officer, but Mr. Miller left Hygea because it was failing to 

pay him; there was a time during which Hygea was also unable to pay other executives in a 

timely matter. 

39. Hygea stopped (at least for some time) using a recognized payroll company and 

instead went to paper checks to pay its payroll; the checks were, at least for a time, received 

more sporadically by Hygea's employees, and Hygea provided no explanation as to why the 

change to paper checks was made. 

40. In February of 2018, payroll checks issued to two Hygea employees working at 

the offices of Dr. Edward Persaud "bounced." 

11 

Page 11PET001538



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

41. It had become evident that Hygea needed operational changes by the latter half of 

2017; Hygea, for instance, had a history of not timely closing its financial statements, making it 

difficult for executives to manage the business. 

42. Hygea offered Dr. Gaylis the position of President of Hygea in November of 

2017, but Dr. Gaylis declined that position when he did not receive requested information 

demonstrating that Hygea was compliant in paying its payroll taxes, information showing that 

Hygea was dealing with other financial obligations, or information explaining how certain 

obligations would be met. 

43. Dr. Gaylis is still affiliated with Hygea as an employee-physician and as a 

stockholder, and, on February 28, 2018, Dr. Gaylis communicated that he believed Hygea 

needed an immediate change of management and that the change in management needed to be 

"complete," or, alternatively, a receiver. 

44. In Dr. Gaylis's opinion, if a receiver is appointed, it is likely Hygea's contracts 

with health management organizations ("HMO's") would be terminated. 

45. The appointment of a receiver would put Hygea at increased risk for cancellation 

of the contracts it has with the HMOs, which account for approximately 70 percent (70%) of 

Hygea's gross revenue. 

46. If the Company's HMO contracts were terminated, it would likely be the death 

knell for Hygea. 

47. In 2017, Hygea prioritized maximizing revenue and, in so doing, failed to pay 

sufficient attention to operational inefficiencies that resulted in limited infrastructure, records, 

and processes to make, monitor, and manage Hygea's money. 

48. Mr. Iglesias and his family members are, collectively, Hygea's largest 

stockholders. 
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49. Mr. Iglesias and his family are also creditors of Hygea, having loaned Hygea 

approximately $4 million to cover operational costs in 2017. In 2018, Mr. Iglesias and his family 

loaned additional amounts to Hygea, including after having secured a $3 million promissory 

note: 

50. Mr. Iglesias acknowledged that he lacked the technical expertise to take Hygea to 

the next level. 

51. The relationship between Hygea and RIN, an agent of N5HYG that advised 

N5HYG to invest in Hygea, soured when the Board decided to pursue private equity financing 

rather than attempt to go public. 

52. Liquidation of Hygea would result in a loss of all stockholder equity. 

53. All Parties involved in the case have indicated that their goal is to have Hygea 

succeed so that Hygea will continue to have value for the stockholders. 

54. Bridging Finance is currently funding Hygea's short-term cash shortfall. 

55. Hygea's Board recently appointed a new Chief Executive Officer, Chief 

Operating Officer, and Chief Financial Officer. 

56. After Mr. Iglesias resigned as Chief Executive Officer, the Board appointed Dr. 

Keith Collins, another testifying witness and a director of Hygea since 2013, as Chief Executive 

Officer, while Mr. Iglesias became the co-chair of the Board. 

57. Other members of the Board include Mr. McGowan, currently the other co-chair 

of Hygea's Board and a longtime Hygea director, who was a leader in the New York state 

healthcare market, and Mr. Glenn Marrichi, who was at one point an executive of a national 

marketing company. 

58. Dr. Keith Collins' education and experience include a term as Chief Medical 

Officer of an HMO with six smaller plans that evolved into a multibillion dollar, publicly traded 
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organization with operations in sixteen states; Dr. Collins eventually served as a vice president 

for business development of said HMO, which role included acquisition turnaround and HMO 

plan start-ups. 

59. Dr. Collins was the founding Chief Executive Officer of the fastest growing HMO 

in New York City for a time. 

60. Dr. Collins was vice president to another health network operating in New York 

and New Jersey and that, all in, he has over twenty years of experience creating and/or operating 

physician networks, all of which were successful to at least some extent and none of which 

failed. 

61. The Board also appointed Mr. Savchenko as Hygea's acting Chief Financial 

Officer; Mr. Savchenko has a very strong financial background, including in connection with 

absorbing acquisitions at other organizations. 

62. Dr. Collins, since taking the helm at Hygea, has been very active in his interaction 

with the Board, meeting with the Board every week to ten days; ensuring that Hygea replaced all 

executives that are appointed by the Board; and championing the establishment of a Board 

governance committee to better steer management's oversight of practices and its governance of 

a larger organization with appropriate checks and balances. 

63. Dr. Collins recommended and oversaw the Board's approval of Dr. Gaylis as the 

new vice president of medical affairs and, as referenced above, Mr. Savchenko as the new, acting 

Chief Financial Officer. 

64. Dr. Collins also identified twelve key employees at Hygea, made changes to their 

roles and duties, interviewed those people and the people they interface with, and made further 

appropriate changes to those roles. 

65. Dr. Collins testified that Hygea's new management forecasts cash surpluses from 
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operations beginning in July. 

66. Dr. Collins takes his new role as Chief Executive Officer extremely seriously, in 

part because federal regulations dictate that any person associated with a failed provider that 

takes money from Medicare, such as Hygea, is forbidden from working with another Medicare 

provider for two years and, as a practical matter, that person is forever tainted in the Medicare 

industry; Dr. Collins' reputation is extremely valuable to him and such a taint would be 

unacceptable. 

67. Hygea made the decision not to pursue a public financing offering in the fall of 

2017 and conceded that Hygea has not always been able to pay its debt timely, in part because 

Hygea has experienced projected income failing to materialize. 

68. Hygea is not paying Bridging Finance, which has agreed to capitalize Hygea's 

monthly interest payment until Hygea either goes public or is sold to a private equity investor. 

69. The Bridging Finance debt is accumulating interest at fourteen percent (14%), 

which results in approximately $1 million a month in interest debt, currently being capitalized to 

the principal of the loan; Hygea's operational cash flow projections for 2018 do not include this 

monthly amount and also do not provide for payments associated with an approximately $8.5 

million balance associated with an American Express line of credit. 

70. Hygea's projected operating cash flow through 2018 shows an operating loss 

through June of 2018 and then a relatively modest (compared to the size of the business) positive 

cash flow for the last six months of 2018. 

71. When Hygea acquires a new medical practice, it takes anywhere from six to 

twelve to even twenty-four months before Hygea begins collecting cash revenue, but Hygea 

incurs the cash expenses associated with the acquisition immediately. 

72. Bridging Finance is helping to finance the short-term critical debts and 
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obligations of Hygea. 

HI. LEGAL PRINCIPLES 

As stated above, Plaintiffs petitioned for a receiver pursuant to NRS 32.010, 78.630, and 

78.650. Given the Court's decision on Defendants' motion for judgment as a matter of law, only 

subsections 1(b)—(j), (i), and j) of NRS 78.650 remained at issue following closure of Plaintiffs' 

case. 

With respect to those claims that remained at issue, NRS 78.650 provides in relevant part 

that: 

I. Any holder or holders of one-tenth of the issued and outstanding stock may 
apply to the district court . . . for an order dissolving the corporation and 
appointing a receiver to wind up its affairs, and by injunction restrain the 
corporation from exercising any of its powers or doing business 
whatsoever, except by and through a receiver appointed by the court, 
whenever: 

(b) Its trustees or directors have been guilty of . . . gross mismanagement in 
the conduct or control of its affairs; 

(c) Its trustees or directors have been guilty of misfeasance, malfeasance or 
nonfeasance; 

(d) The corporation is unable to conduct the business or conserve its assets 
by reason of the act, neglect or refusal to function of any of the directors . . . ; 

(e) The assets of the corporation are in danger of waste, sacrifice or loss 
through attachment, foreclosure, litigation or otherwise; 

(i) The corporation, although not insolvent, is for any cause not able to 
pay its debts or obligations as they mature . . . ; 

4. The court may, if good cause exists therefor, appoint one or more receivers 
for such purpose, but in all cases directors or trustees who have been guilty 
of no negligence nor active breach of duty must be preferred in making the 
appointment. The court may at any time for sufficient cause make a decree 
terminating the receivership, or dissolving the corporation and terminating 
its existence, or both, as may be proper. 
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Among other things, NRS 78.650 demands that the stockholder(s) petitioning for the 

appointment of a receiver hold one-tenth of the corporation's issued and outstanding stock. In 

Shelton v. Second Judicial Dist. Court in & for Washoe Cty., the Nevada Supreme Court held 

that "[w]here the statute provides for the appointment of receivers, the statutory requirements 

must be met or the appointment is void and in excess ofjurisdiction." 64 Nev. 487, 494, 185 P.2d 

320, 323 (1947). Moreover, a district court must find that the applicant(s) for the receiver holds 

one-tenth of the issued and outstanding stock of the corporation at the time the court considers 

the application. Searchlight Dev., Inc. v. Martello, 84 Nev. 102, 109, 437 P.2d 86, 90 (1968) 

("The district court does not have jurisdiction to appoint a corporate receiver, unless the 

applicant holder or holders of one-tenth of the issued and outstanding stock has legal title at the 

time the court considers the application.") (emphasis added). 

IV. ANALYSIS 

A. Do Plaintiffs Hold One-Tenth of Hygea's Stock Issued and Outstanding? 

As the Nevada Supreme Court stated in Searchlight, the time at which the Court 

must determine whether Plaintiffs hold the requisite one-tenth of the Company's shares issued 

and outstanding is the time at which the Court is considering the stockholders' application for the 

appointment of a receiver. See Searchlight, 84 Nev. at 109, 437 P.2d at 90. The Parties stipulated 

to the amount of shares that Plaintiffs own, so the Court has the numerator for the ten percent 

calculation, but the Court does not have any evidence of the total number of issued and 

outstanding shares as of today, this week, this month, or at any time during the last eighty-eight 

days since Mr. Edward Moffly, Hygea's former Chief Financial Officer and a Hygea director, 

made his declaration on February 19,2018 or since even further back, to the time that Hygea and 

N5HYG executed the SPA in October of 2016. Neither of those—Mr. Moffly's declaration nor 

the SPA—inform the Court as to what the number of issued and outstanding shares is as of the 
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beginning of the trial on Monday, May 14, 2018, or the end of trial on May 18, 2018. 

Plaintiffs have argued that it would be unfair to hold them to their burden of proof on the 

ten percent stock ownership issue because that information is within the possession of either 

Hygea or its agent, V Stock Transfer ("V Stock"). That might be a plausible argument if 

Plaintiffs came to this Court with evidence of their efforts to obtain information from Hygea or V 

Stpel Transfer as to what the current number of shares issued and outstanding is. There are 

discovery procedures to obtain that information. The Court acknowledges that this was an 

expedited process, but notes that—had Plaintiffs moved for such relief—the Court could have 

ordered production of documents or at least tried to get Hygea to produce information from V 

Stock, but the Plaintiffs appear to assume that any information they would have received 

regarding the number of issued and outstanding shares would be inaccurate. That may or may not 

be true, but the Court cannot make such a determination because the Plaintiffs did not get or, 

attempt to get issued and outstanding share information from Hygea or V Stock. 

The question before the Court is then as follows: "is it fair to hold Plaintiffs to their 

burden?" In answering that question, the Court considers what Plaintiffs did to try to determine 

the actual number of shares issued and outstanding as of May 14, 2018 (the start of trial) and 

through May 18, 2018 (the time at which the Court considered appointment of a receiver), which 

the Court finds is hardly anything. There is no evidence that Defendants in any way interfered 

with Plaintiffs' ability to secure that information. Accordingly, Plaintiffs accepted the risk of 

bearing the burden of not knowing the number of shares issued and outstanding as they 

proceeded to trial without either obtaining the information or moving for a continuance to 

provide time to obtain the information. Had Plaintiffs come to Court with evidence that they had 

tried in good faith to secure the number of shares issued and outstanding and/or showed 

inaccuracies or an outright refusal or inability of Hygea or V Stock to produce the number, the 
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Court could have made adverse inferences against Hygea and the individual Defendants, 

precluded Defendants from even arguing that the Plaintiffs owned less than ten percent, or other 

sanctions. The record, however, is devoid of any evidence of Plaintiffs' efforts. 

With that being the case, the Court does not know the number of shares issued and 

outstanding. Accordingly, it lacks the denominator necessary to complete the calculation and 

analysis necessary to determine whether Plaintiffs in fact hold ten percent of Hygea shares issued 

and outstanding. As such, the Court finds that Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate by a 

preponderance of the evidence whether they hold ten percent (or "one-tenth") of Hygea's issued 

and outstanding stock. Under Searchlight, the Court cannot consider appointment of a receiver 

under NRS 78.650. See id. 

B. Even if Plaintiffs Held One-Tenth of Hygea's Stock Issued and Outstanding, 
Is There a Basis and Good Cause for the Appointment of a Receiver? 

An appellate court may disagree with this Court's analysis on the 10% issue, therefore 

the Court also provides analysis and substantive conclusions of law consistent with the above 

findings of fact on the remaining grounds for appointment of a receiver. With respect to those 

remaining grounds, the Court finds as follows: 

• Under subsection 1 (b), the Court finds that Plaintiffs have failed to establish-
by a preponderance of the evidence—that the directors have been guilty of 
gross mismanagement in the conduct or control of Hygea's affairs; 

• Under subsection 1 (c), the Court finds that Plaintiffs have failed to establish-
by a preponderance of the evidence—that the directors have been guilty of 
misfeasance or malfeasance; however, the Court does find, that Plaintiffs have 
established by a preponderance of the evidence that the directors have been 
guilty of nonfeasance; 

• Under subsection 1(d), 1(e), and (1)(0, that nonfeasance resulted in Hygea not 
being able to conserve its assets by reason of the directors' neglect, placed 
Hygea's assets in danger of waste, sacrifice, or loss, and caused Hygea to not 
be able to pay its debts or obligations as they mature except through costly 
agreements and/or loans. 
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While the Court acknowledges that it is easy for the Plaintiffs to come to Court (and for 

the Court now to sit) and pass judgment on the Board, the Court finds that the directors appear to 

have been sitting in the driver seat of Hygea, where they properly belong, but allowed 

themselves to be blinded by the huge success of the business's acquisitive model in early 2017 

and failed to pay attention to what was going on in the back seat, the processes and procedures 

for accounting for and managing Hygea's income. The Board should have been paying attention 

to both, and in particular how Hygea's management was governing the Company's affairs. 

Accordingly, the Court finds that while Plaintiffs have not established that any director was 

guilty of any misfeasance or malfeasance by a preponderance of the evidence, Plaintiffs have 

shown that the Board is guilty of nonfeasance. 

The fact that the Court finds that the Board was guilty of nonfeasance under NRS 

78.650(1)(c) does not, however, mean that a receiver is automatically appointed or end the 

Court's analysis. The legislature could have chosen to word NRS 78.650 such that if a district 

court finds that any of the items listed in NRS 78.650(1) are found that a receiver must be 

appointed. Instead, though, NRS 78.650( 4) provides that this Court may, if good cause exists, 

appoint a receiver, providing the Court with discretion to consider other factors. See NRS 

78.650(4). 

The Court considers first and foremost that Hygea' s business model is both ingenious 

and successful and/or can be successful if properly managed going forward. The Court finds that 

Hygea currently appears to be in trouble because its infrastructure, records, and processes did not 

keep pace with its rapid acquisition of medical practices. Hygea's Board should have detected 

these issues earlier than it did and should have addressed the issues related to infrastructure, 

records, and processes before now. The Court also gives considerable weight in its 

considerations to the fact that all Parties profess the desire to have Hygea continue to operate. 
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Further, the Court considers the fact that the appointment of a receiver will (in the best 

case) increase the risk that the HMO's will cancel the contracts they have with Hygea, which 

could very well cause the death of the Company. If that occurs, all Parties lose. 

Finally, the Court finds that in addition to the increased risk of HMO's terminating their 

contracts with Hygea, the appointment of a receiver would heap additional confusion on the 

management of Hygea, which has just changed over its C-Suite executives for new leadership. 

Similarly, the time that would be required for a new receiver or other leader to get acquainted 

with Hygea and put positive change in motion would likely provide additional stress and 

detriment to Hygea. Accordingly, and in light of all of the foregoing, the Court concludes that 

Dr. Collins, Hygea's new Chief Executive Officer, is at least as qualified to continue to guide 

Hygea as its CEO as would be the receiver proposed by the Plaintiffs. 

V. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. Plaintiffs have failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that they 

hold one-tenth of the issued and outstanding stock of Hygea and have thus failed to establish 

that this Court has jurisdiction to appoint a receiver under NRS 78.650(1) and the Nevada 

Supreme Court's decision in Searchlight. 84 Nev. at !09, 437 P.2d at 90. 

2. Accordingly, the Amended Complaint and Petition for Appointment of a Receiver 

must be, and the same hereby are, DENIED, and judgment is entered in favor of Defendants. 

Out of an abundance of caution, however, the Court makes the following conclusions on 

the substantive merits of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint and Petition for Appointment of 

Receiver under subsections (1)(b)—(e) and (i) of NRS 78.650: 

3. Hygea's Board is guilty of nonfeasance as a whole under NRS 78.650(1)(c). 

4. No good cause exists to appoint a receiver over Hygea. 

5. Relatedly, and in light of this conclusion but also because the Court has found the 
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Board generally guilty of nonfeasance. 

6. Finally, the Court concludes that good cause does exist to instead allow Dr. 

Collins to continue to serve as the Chief Executive Officer of Hygea. 

7. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint and Petition for Appointment of a 

Receiver must be, and the same hereby are, DENIED, and judgment is entered in favor of 

Defendants. 

Dated this 22 day of  Osta -6-•-c.  , 2018. 
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·1· · · · · · · · · · P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S
·2· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·--oOo--
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Please be seated.· 18 OC 71,
·4· ·Arellano v. Hygea.· Almost all counsel?
·5· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Good morning, Your Honor.· My
·6· ·colleague, Mr. Ewing, is not here right now, taking
·7· ·care of some other legal matters.· With the Court's
·8· ·indulgence and permission, if he can be absent this
·9· ·morning, we would appreciate it.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· That will be fine.· Mr. Dragelin
11· ·is present.· You're still under oath.
12· · · · · · ·Ms. Gall, your cross?
13· · · · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION
14· ·BY MS. GALL:
15· · · · Q.· ·Good morning, Mr. Dragelin.
16· · · · A.· ·Good morning.
17· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Dragelin, you were engaged by Hygea as a
18· ·consultant, correct?
19· · · · A.· ·Correct.
20· · · · Q.· ·Do you recall your hourly rate at Hygea?
21· · · · A.· ·Standard hourly rate at the time was
22· ·probably 900 something, but we had agreed on -- on an
23· ·either cap or fixed fee for me per month.
24· · · · Q.· ·Do you recall what that cap or fixed fee was?
25· · · · A.· ·I do not.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·If I told you that it was 120,000 per month,
·2· ·would that sound familiar to you?
·3· · · · A.· ·That would be not unreasonable.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And pursuant to the terms of your engagement,
·5· ·you had no authority to bind Hygea contractually; is
·6· ·that correct?
·7· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; calls for a legal
·8· ·conclusion.
·9· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I was a consultant.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Hang on just a second.· Ms. Gall?
11· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I think that Mr. Dragelin can
12· ·testify as to the scope of his agency and the parties'
13· ·agreement and what the parties' agreement provided for
14· ·to the extent he can remember.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The way the question's phrased,
16· ·the objection is sustained.
17· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Dragelin, did you have any
19· ·understanding as to whether pursuant to the terms of your
20· ·engagement with Hygea you had authority to bind Hygea?
21· · · · A.· ·I was merely a consultant.· I was not part
22· ·of management.
23· · · · Q.· ·And you were not an employee of Hygea; is
24· ·that correct?
25· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And pursuant to the terms of your engagement,
·2· ·did you have any understanding as to whether or not you
·3· ·had any authority to speak on Hygea's behalf?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes, in some respects.
·5· · · · Q.· ·In what respects were those?
·6· · · · A.· ·So there was some delegation relative to the
·7· ·audit that was -- ultimately, the financial statements
·8· ·were the responsibility of management, which they
·9· ·always are.· However, relative to the interaction with
10· ·the auditors, I was given a lot of -- a lot of rein
11· ·relative to do that.
12· · · · Q.· ·So any authority that you may have had to
13· ·speak on behalf of Hygea was with the auditors; is that
14· ·correct?
15· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; foundation, misstates
16· ·testimony.
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm sorry.· I'm going to need you
18· ·to repeat the question.
19· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) The authority that you just
20· ·testified to speak on behalf of Hygea was with respect to
21· ·your interactions with the auditors; is that correct?
22· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· You can answer.
23· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· For the most part, my
24· ·interactions with other third parties was limited.
25· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Dragelin, are you familiar
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·1· ·with the plaintiff in this case named N5HYG, LLC?
·2· · · · A.· ·I believe that is a -- a name of -- of the
·3· ·investment vehicle that RIN Capital used, I believe.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And are you familiar with RIN Capital?
·5· · · · A.· ·I am.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Do you have an understanding of the
·7· ·relationship between RIN Capital and N5HYG, LLC?
·8· · · · A.· ·No.
·9· · · · Q.· ·When you were engaged by Hygea as a
10· ·consultant, were you also engaged by N5HYG?
11· · · · A.· ·No.
12· · · · Q.· ·How about RIN Capital?
13· · · · A.· ·No.
14· · · · Q.· ·And were you engaged by Chris Fowler?
15· · · · A.· ·No.
16· · · · Q.· ·So you were not an agent of RIN Capital,
17· ·N5HYG, or any other agents; is that correct?
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; vague as to "any other
19· ·agents."
20· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Okay.· So you were not an agent of
21· ·RIN Capital, correct?
22· · · · A.· ·That's correct.
23· · · · Q.· ·And you were not an agent of N5HYG; is that
24· ·correct?
25· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And you were not an agent of Mr. Fowler; is
·2· ·that correct?
·3· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And you had a written engagement agreement
·5· ·with Hygea; is that correct?
·6· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·7· · · · Q.· ·And FTI incorporated its standard terms and
·8· ·conditions into that agreement; is that correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·FTI Consulting, yes.
10· · · · Q.· ·And pursuant to its standard terms and
11· ·conditions, it included a mutual confidentiality
12· ·provision; isn't that correct?
13· · · · A.· ·Correct.
14· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And pursuant to that provision, both
15· ·parties agreed that any confidential information
16· ·received from the other party shall only be used for
17· ·providing and receiving services under that agreement;
18· ·isn't that correct?
19· · · · A.· ·I would have to look at the agreement, but
20· ·that is a general concept, yes.· But you'd -- we'd
21· ·have to look at the letter.
22· · · · Q.· ·Okay.
23· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, may I approach the
24· ·witness with a copy of the agreement to refresh his
25· ·recollection?
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·1· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Yes.
·2· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, as counsel does that,
·3· ·I'm going to object to this whole line of questioning
·4· ·as to relevance.
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· How is it relevant?
·6· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, it's relevant as to
·7· ·Mr. Dragelin's potential bias.· As we heard yesterday,
·8· ·Mr. Dragelin was communicating with third parties,
·9· ·including the agent, the client representative, who's
10· ·sitting here today for N5HYG.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mr. Kaye?
12· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, it's not clear to me
13· ·how that would go to -- how the contents of the -- of
14· ·the retainer agreement as they relate confidentiality
15· ·would go to bias.
16· · · · · · ·It seems to me almost that this is perhaps --
17· ·perhaps some issue that Hygea has with relation to
18· ·Mr. Dragelin and perhaps some defense that they'll
19· ·present to any sort of hypothetical claim that FTI
20· ·might have for its payment.· That's ancillary to this
21· ·proceeding, and I don't see how it's relevant.
22· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· It's -- it's not clear to me
23· ·either, but I'm going to overrule the objection, and
24· ·we'll see.
25· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Okay.· Thank you, Your Honor.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Dragelin, if you could take a
·2· ·look, take your time to review this, and then let me know
·3· ·when you're ready to proceed.
·4· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Is this not one of the pre-marked
·5· ·exhibits?
·6· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· It is not.· We're not admitting it
·7· ·for purposes of the exhibit.· It's merely to refresh
·8· ·the witness's recollection.
·9· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.
10· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Dragelin, does this appear to
11· ·be the engagement agreement you entered into with Hygea
12· ·or, rather, FTI Consulting entered into with Hygea?
13· · · · A.· ·It appears to be a copy.
14· · · · Q.· ·And can you please turn to page -- turn
15· ·towards the back.· It's page 2 of the standard terms
16· ·and conditions.
17· · · · A.· ·I'm there.
18· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And could you read, please, to
19· ·yourself, not necessarily into the record, Section 4.1
20· ·and Section 4.2.
21· · · · A.· ·I've read it.
22· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And does that refresh your
23· ·recollection as to whether as -- pursuant to the
24· ·standard terms and conditions included a mutual
25· ·confidentiality provision by which both parties agree
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·1· ·that any confidential information received from the
·2· ·other party would only be used for purposes of
·3· ·providing or receiving services under the parties'
·4· ·agreement?
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I would object to
·7· ·that.· I do not believe that -- that accurately states
·8· ·what's in there.· Even more so, in addition to the
·9· ·continuing objection from earlier, it seems like this
10· ·is sort of a backdoor way to try to get some of these
11· ·contractual terms into the record by way of having the
12· ·witness's memory refreshed as to the technical terms of
13· ·a technical contract that we seem to be arguing here.
14· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· And I'm still looking
15· ·for the relevance.
16· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· In addition to that, Your Honor, I
17· ·would say it not only goes to the witness's credibility
18· ·and bias, but we do have an affirmative defense, which
19· ·is in our answer, of unclean hands.
20· · · · · · ·And that also goes to if Mr. Dragelin, who's
21· ·under a confidentiality provision, was communicating
22· ·with a third party such as RIN Capital, it goes to RIN
23· ·Capital's -- whether they come to this Court asking for
24· ·equity with clean or unclean hands.
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I suppose if there's evidence
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·1· ·that they knew about this agreement, but I haven't
·2· ·heard about that yet, RIN.
·3· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· That's correct.· I'm getting
·4· ·there.
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm still giving you some
·6· ·latitude.
·7· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Thank you.
·8· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Dragelin, is it your
·9· ·understanding that the confidentiality provision survived
10· ·any termination of this agreement?
11· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; calls for a legal
12· ·conclusion.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
14· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I think Mr. Dragelin can testify
15· ·as to whether -- his understanding was whether the --
16· ·his -- the confidentiality provision survived the terms
17· ·of the agreement between Hygea and FTI Consulting.
18· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· He can testify to his
19· ·understanding.
20· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· My understanding is that our
21· ·confidentiality agreement still stands.
22· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) And yesterday you testified that
23· ·you walked from your engagement in June or July 2017 and
24· ·only came back for the August 2017 board meeting, correct?
25· · · · A.· ·Correct.
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·1· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Can we please hand the witness
·2· ·Exhibit 28, the volume that contains Exhibit 28 and 29.
·3· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Can I clarify my last answer?
·4· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Of course.
·5· · · · A.· ·So you said "walked."· We were still under
·6· ·our engagement letter.· That's never been terminated.
·7· · · · Q.· ·Okay.
·8· · · · A.· ·Even to this day, there was an agreement
·9· ·that if they continue to pay us, if they would
10· ·actually make good on our outstanding invoices, we
11· ·would continue to provide services.· That's still --
12· ·that offer was outstanding back in August and
13· ·continued, although I had no response from the
14· ·company.
15· · · · Q.· ·Understood.· So just so that I'm clear, your
16· ·understanding is that -- that the agreement, written
17· ·engagement agreement, has not been terminated by either
18· ·party?
19· · · · A.· ·That's correct.
20· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Dragelin, could you please turn to
21· ·Exhibit 28.
22· · · · A.· ·I'm there.
23· · · · Q.· ·All right.· Do you see the email in the
24· ·middle of the page that's from you?
25· · · · A.· ·The first page of the exhibit?

Page 29PET001557



Page 427
·1· · · · Q.· ·I believe so.
·2· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· What is the date of this email?
·4· · · · A.· ·August 12th.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And it's addressed to Chris Fowler,
·6· ·correct?
·7· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· This email was not sent to
·9· ·Mr. Iglesias, correct?
10· · · · A.· ·I don't believe so, no.
11· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Iglesias was the CEO of Hygea at the
12· ·time of this email, correct?
13· · · · A.· ·Correct.
14· · · · Q.· ·And this email was not sent to Ted Moffly,
15· ·correct?
16· · · · A.· ·Correct.
17· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Moffly was the CFO of Hygea at the
18· ·time of this email, correct?
19· · · · A.· ·Possibly.
20· · · · Q.· ·And this email was not sent to Sergey
21· ·Savchenko, correct?
22· · · · A.· ·I do not believe so.
23· · · · Q.· ·And Sergey Savchenko was the director of
24· ·finance of Hygea at this time, correct?
25· · · · A.· ·I think in capacity, but I don't know about
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·1· ·title.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Mr. Savchenko was one of the
·3· ·individuals at Hygea with whom you regularly worked; is
·4· ·that correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Will you please turn to Exhibit 29.
·7· · · · A.· ·I'm there.
·8· · · · Q.· ·What is the date of this email?
·9· · · · A.· ·August 5th.
10· · · · Q.· ·And it's an email from you to Chris Fowler,
11· ·correct?
12· · · · A.· ·Correct.
13· · · · Q.· ·And the email was not sent to Mr. Iglesias,
14· ·correct?
15· · · · A.· ·It's a forward of an email that I sent to
16· ·Mr. Iglesias.
17· · · · Q.· ·You sent the very top email, the one you sent
18· ·to Chris Fowler.· Is Mr. Iglesias cc'd on that email?
19· · · · A.· ·No.
20· · · · Q.· ·Is Mr. Moffly cc'd on that email?
21· · · · A.· ·No.
22· · · · Q.· ·Is anyone from Hygea cc'd on that email?
23· · · · A.· ·No.
24· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Dragelin, does FTI Consulting have a
25· ·relationship with RIN Capital?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Define "relationship."
·2· · · · Q.· ·Has FTI Consulting been engaged by RIN
·3· ·Capital previously?
·4· · · · A.· ·Possibly.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And has FTI Consulting been engaged by
·6· ·Mr. Fowler previously?
·7· · · · A.· ·I believe so, yes.
·8· · · · Q.· ·And would FTI Consulting have entered into a
·9· ·standard engagement letter with its standard terms and
10· ·conditions with Mr. Fowler?
11· · · · A.· ·What do you mean?
12· · · · Q.· ·If you had been engaged by Mr. Fowler
13· ·previously, would there have been an engagement letter?
14· · · · A.· ·Our standard practice is to enter into
15· ·engagement letters in any matter.
16· · · · Q.· ·Would your standard engagement letter have
17· ·incorporated your standard terms and conditions?
18· · · · A.· ·Generally, but they're always -- there's
19· ·always some negotiation that happens with the LOEs,
20· ·letters of engagement.
21· · · · Q.· ·Do you believe that your -- any negotiation
22· ·would have negotiated out the confidentiality provision
23· ·that we previously looked at?
24· · · · A.· ·Generally speaking, that's a -- that's a
25· ·standard that both parties want to have in there.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Dragelin, you previously -- yesterday
·2· ·testified about purchase price valuations, correct?
·3· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And you were looking at those purchase price
·5· ·valuations at latest as of June or July 2017, correct?
·6· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·7· · · · Q.· ·And so sitting here today, you do not know
·8· ·the status of the purchase price valuations at Hygea;
·9· ·is that correct?
10· · · · A.· ·That's correct.
11· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you do not know what the financial
12· ·statement of Hygea today is, correct?
13· · · · A.· ·No.
14· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you know whether Hygea remains
15· ·a going concern today?
16· · · · A.· ·I do not.
17· · · · Q.· ·And do you know whether Hygea implemented
18· ·many of the internal controls you suggested be
19· ·implemented?
20· · · · A.· ·I do not.
21· · · · Q.· ·And do you know whether Mr. Iglesias remains
22· ·Hygea's CEO?
23· · · · A.· ·I believe he is, but I'm not exactly sure.
24· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you know whether Mr. Moffly is
25· ·Hygea's CFO?
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·1· · · · A.· ·I do not.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you're aware that Hygea is a
·3· ·private company, correct?
·4· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I believe you testified yesterday,
·6· ·but correct me if I'm wrong, you have experience with
·7· ·helping companies go public, correct?
·8· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·9· · · · Q.· ·And so you had some understanding at least of
10· ·the regulatory requirements associated with companies
11· ·that are going public, correct?
12· · · · A.· ·Can you be more specific?
13· · · · Q.· ·For instance, do you have an understanding as
14· ·to whether or not a company who is going public or who
15· ·is public has a requirement for audited financials from
16· ·a regulatory perspective?
17· · · · A.· ·To be an SEC registrant or registrant on
18· ·other exchanges, there's usually a requirement to have
19· ·audited financials, yes.
20· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so as a private company, are you
21· ·aware based on your experience that Hygea has no
22· ·regulatory obligation to conduct audits?
23· · · · A.· ·Typically speaking, a private company does
24· ·not have a regulatory requirement, but they may have
25· ·other requirements, such as loan documents or things
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·1· ·like that that require audits.
·2· · · · Q.· ·And do you know sitting here today whether
·3· ·Hygea intends to go public?
·4· · · · A.· ·I do not.
·5· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· That's all the questions I have,
·6· ·Your Honor.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The continuing relevance
·8· ·objection is overruled.
·9· · · · · · ·Mr. Kaye, redirect?
10· · · · · · · · · · REDIRECT EXAMINATION
11· ·BY MR. KAYE:
12· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Dragelin, if I use the term "zone of
13· ·confidentiality" to mean -- to mean the people with
14· ·whom you could communicate, does that concept make
15· ·sense to you?
16· · · · A.· ·I don't know if I've heard that term before,
17· ·but as you describe it, I -- I can understand it.
18· · · · Q.· ·In your engagement with Hygea, did you
19· ·understand RIN Capital to fall within the zone of
20· ·confidentiality?
21· · · · A.· ·So I had relatively free rein to talk with
22· ·the members of the board, which I did regularly.  I
23· ·believe RIN Capital was an observer of the board.
24· ·They were not a member of the board, but they were an
25· ·observer.
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·1· · · · · · ·And to the extent that I had conversations
·2· ·with RIN, Mr. Iglesias, I would tell him that I would
·3· ·talk to Mr. Fowler, etc., as well as the other board
·4· ·members who were part of the audit committee or, I
·5· ·guess, what they call the executive committee of the
·6· ·board, who I had regular contact with without
·7· ·Mr. Iglesias present or Mr. Moffly.
·8· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you.· I don't have anything
·9· ·else, Your Honor.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Recross on those questions?
11· · · · · · · · · · ·RECROSS-EXAMINATION
12· ·BY MS. GALL:
13· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Dragelin, did anyone at Hygea give you
14· ·permission to send the emails that we looked at at
15· ·Exhibits 28 and 29?
16· · · · A.· ·I did not believe permission was necessary
17· ·specifically.
18· · · · Q.· ·I understand.· My question is did anyone at
19· ·Hygea give you permission to send the emails at
20· ·Exhibits 28 and 29?
21· · · · A.· ·Mr. Iglesias knew that I would be sending
22· ·cash flow to -- to the board members, as well as RIN
23· ·Capital.· He also knew that there was a request for
24· ·information from the follow-up at the board meeting,
25· ·which I think Exhibit 28 dealt with.

Page 434
·1· · · · Q.· ·I understand that.· And so my question is
·2· ·very specific.
·3· · · · · · ·Did you receive permission to send the emails
·4· ·at Exhibits 28 and 29?· Let me be very clear.· I also
·5· ·mean the statements that you made within those emails
·6· ·about Mr. Iglesias and about Mr. Moffly and anybody
·7· ·else at Hygea.
·8· · · · A.· ·Permission meaning pre -- pre-review?
·9· · · · Q.· ·I mean permission.
10· · · · A.· ·As I stated, I had permission, generally
11· ·speaking, to speak to the board members and RIN
12· ·Capital about the ongoing activities that I was
13· ·involved in, as well as the company.· So there was,
14· ·although no specific saying that specific email can be
15· ·sent, generally speaking, I had free rein.
16· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And in August, you had not been at the
17· ·company for probably at least a month; is that correct?
18· · · · A.· ·Possibly a month, yes.
19· · · · Q.· ·And you -- again, I'll repeat, you did not CC
20· ·anybody at Hygea on those emails; is that correct?
21· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; asked and answered.
22· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.
23· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Those two emails that we
24· ·reviewed, no one was copied.
25· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You can step down.
·2· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thanks.
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Your next witness?
·4· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at this time
·5· ·plaintiffs call Manuel Iglesias to the stand.
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Please be mindful of the rugs and
·7· ·cords there.
·8· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·--oOo--
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·MANUEL E. IGLESIAS,
10· · · · having been first duly sworn to tell the
11· · · · truth, was examined and testified as follows:
12· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·--oOo--
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Go ahead and have a seat.· Is he
14· ·going to need that -- the first binder, 1 through 44?
15· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I believe he will, Your Honor.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.
17· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at the outset, state
18· ·for the record that plaintiffs intend to examine
19· ·Mr. Iglesias as an adverse witness and would ask
20· ·permission to do so.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I defer to the Court's judgment on
23· ·that matter.
24· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You will be able to treat him as
25· ·an adverse witness.
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·1· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·DIRECT EXAMINATION
·3· ·BY MR. KAYE:
·4· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, can you please state and spell
·5· ·your name for the record.
·6· · · · A.· ·Manuel Ernesto Iglesias.· M-A-N-U-E-L,
·7· ·middle name E-R-N-E-S-T-O, last name I-G-L-E-S-I-A-S.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever been referred to as Manuel
·9· ·Iglesias, Sr.?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, can you please turn to
12· ·Exhibit 125 in the --
13· · · · A.· ·Actually, sir, I have been referred to as
14· ·Manuel Iglesias.· My son has been referred to as
15· ·Manuel Iglesias, Jr.· I don't recall being referred to
16· ·as Sr.
17· · · · Q.· ·Is your father named Manuel Iglesias?
18· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
19· · · · Q.· ·All right.
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I don't think he has -- you want
21· ·121?
22· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Yeah.· I think we're going to use
23· ·probably -- I don't know how many binders the Court's
24· ·exhibits are broken down into.· I think we'll probably
25· ·go kind of across the set of numbers.· This is going to
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·1· ·be 125.
·2· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I don't believe he has that yet.
·3· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· My apologies.· I didn't -- wasn't
·4· ·aware of what was up there and what wasn't.
·5· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· You want me to look at 121?
·6· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) 125, please.
·7· · · · · · ·Do you recognize this document?
·8· · · · A.· ·Seems to be the board minutes for the
·9· ·January 27th meeting of the board of Hygea Holdings
10· ·Corp.
11· · · · Q.· ·And how do you recognize this document?
12· · · · A.· ·It's executed only the second page by Lacy
13· ·Loar, the assistant secretary of the company.
14· · · · Q.· ·Is it Hygea's usual business practice to
15· ·maintain such minutes of board meetings?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
17· · · · Q.· ·And is this a true and accurate copy of the
18· ·board minutes of this meeting?
19· · · · A.· ·I'd have to read it if you want me to and --
20· ·it looks correct.
21· · · · Q.· ·I do want to point out one -- one issue with
22· ·it.· The date at the top says January 27th, 2016, but
23· ·if you look at the first paragraph, it indicates
24· ·January 27th, 2017.
25· · · · · · ·Am I correct that these minutes were January
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·1· ·of 2017?
·2· · · · A.· ·Let me read the content, and I'll tell you.
·3· ·Yes, it would be 2017.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Iglesias, there's a paragraph, second
·5· ·paragraph from the bottom of those minutes.· Can you
·6· ·read that, please, into the record.
·7· · · · A.· ·The one that starts "Mr. Moffly"?
·8· · · · Q.· ·Yes.
·9· · · · A.· ·"Mr. Moffly spoke about the challenges of
10· ·concluding the audits under both U.S. GAAP and
11· ·Canadian IFRS rules, but concurred that the '14 and
12· ·'15 audits should be complete in a matter of weeks."
13· · · · Q.· ·They were not complete in a matter of weeks;
14· ·isn't that right?
15· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
16· · · · Q.· ·And they are still not complete, are they?
17· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
18· · · · Q.· ·And the 2016 audit is not complete yet
19· ·either, is it?
20· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
21· · · · Q.· ·Are you aware that the Court in this matter
22· ·ordered Hygea to produce the 2017 audited quality of
23· ·earnings report?
24· · · · A.· ·I am aware that the Court ordered that the
25· ·quality of earning report for 2017 be provided, yes,
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·1· ·sir.
·2· · · · Q.· ·And that that be provided by April 23rd?
·3· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And Hygea did not provide that, did they?
·5· · · · A.· ·They have provided a draft of the report.
·6· · · · Q.· ·The report itself is not done yet, is it?
·7· · · · A.· ·It may be done as of today or tomorrow.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Are you aware that that same court order
·9· ·required Hygea to produce HMO contracts that
10· ·purportedly preclude appointment of a receiver?
11· · · · A.· ·I believe the Court was provided a copy of
12· ·our HMO contracts with the termination language.
13· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· And if I can step back a moment,
14· ·plaintiffs move for the -- move for the admission of
15· ·Exhibit 125.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
17· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I have no objection to the
18· ·admission of Exhibit 125.
19· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· 125 is admitted.
20· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you.· And my apologies for
21· ·taking that issue a little bit out of order.
22· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) So you're aware that Hygea has
23· ·taken the position in this litigation that HMO contracts
24· ·preclude the appointment of a receiver?
25· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· We have --
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·1· ·I think that misstates the position that Hygea has
·2· ·taken with respect to HMO contracts.
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· That's the question
·4· ·to him.· Go ahead.
·5· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Could you repeat the question,
·6· ·sir?
·7· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Can you repeat the question,
·8· ·please.
·9· · · · · · ·(The following was read by the reporter: "So
10· · · · · · ·you're aware that Hygea has taken the
11· · · · · · ·position in this litigation that HMO
12· · · · · · ·contracts preclude the appointment of a
13· · · · · · ·receiver?")
14· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· HMOs historically have two
15· ·types of termination provisions in most contracts, one
16· ·for cause and one without cause.· When a company is
17· ·deemed to be in bankruptcy, receiver, deemed insolvent,
18· ·most HMOs historically in Florida have canceled their
19· ·provider agreements.· They do so mostly on a
20· ·not-for-cause basis because they don't want themselves
21· ·to be -- get into litigation as to the rationale.
22· · · · · · ·But one of the reasons that they use most
23· ·commonly is lack of financial liability.· And naming a
24· ·receiver in -- some of the contracts actually state
25· ·that if you name a receiver, it's a cause for
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·1· ·cancellation.· Others leave it more vague.
·2· · · · · · ·But the practical -- as a practical matter,
·3· ·the naming of a receiver we feel would create the
·4· ·cancellation of most, if not all of our HMO contracts.
·5· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) And just to repeat my question,

·6· ·you're aware that Hygea has taken the position in this
·7· ·litigation that appointment of a receiver or that the HMO

·8· ·contracts would preclude the appointment of a receiver?

·9· · · · A.· ·I think the appointment of a receiver would
10· ·be a death nail to our HMO business.· Our HMO Medicare
11· ·Advantage business represents about 70 percent of our
12· ·revenue.· It would destroy Hygea as a going concern,
13· ·yes, sir.· That is a position that we're taking.
14· · · · Q.· ·And you understand that the Court ordered
15· ·Hygea to produce the HMO contracts that purportedly

16· ·preclude appointment of a receiver, correct?

17· · · · A.· ·The contracts -- my understanding is the
18· ·contracts have been provided.· And if the lawyers
19· ·involved in both sides understand what the language
20· ·means and how they are interpreted by the entities
21· ·that issue those contracts, they will understand that
22· ·the language there and the way they are interpreted
23· ·historically means that a company that goes into
24· ·receiver, a company deemed -- that goes into
25· ·bankruptcy, a company deemed insolvent will more than
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·1· ·likely cause -- some are specific that it will happen
·2· ·automatically.· Others will give the HMO the latitude
·3· ·of canceling those contracts.· And it is my personal
·4· ·belief that most of our contracts will be canceled
·5· ·upon the appointment of a receiver.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Well, with all due respect, Mr. Iglesias, I
·7· ·didn't ask about your personal belief.· I asked if you
·8· ·understood that the Court ordered the HMO contracts
·9· ·that purportedly preclude appointment of a receiver.
10· ·You're aware of that, right?
11· · · · A.· ·And I think we've complied.
12· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I want to talk about the documents
13· ·that -- that have been produced that as you say comply
14· ·with that.
15· · · · · · ·Can you turn to Exhibit 70, please.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· He's going to need the second
17· ·volume.
18· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· 7?
19· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) 70.· 7-0, please.
20· · · · · · ·If you'd turn to the first substantive page,
21· ·which is Bates number Hygea underscore a bunch of zeros
22· ·and then 4.· And before we continue, Mr. Iglesias --
23· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· What -- what page are we
24· ·talking?
25· · · · Q.· ·I was about to say something that might make
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·1· ·this a little bit more helpful.· When we're talking
·2· ·about the Bates numbers, I'm just -- you're familiar
·3· ·with what Bates numbers are, correct?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And I'm just going to -- I'm not going to
·6· ·mention all the zeros.· I'm just going to mention the
·7· ·numbers at the end to make it a little easier.· That
·8· ·sound good?
·9· · · · A.· ·I don't see any here.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I don't have them on mine either.
11· ·There are no Bates stamps on -- if this is the Primary
12· ·Care Provider Agreement between Simply Healthcare
13· ·Plans, Inc. and Medcare Quality Medical Centers, LLC?
14· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Yes, with a handwritten 2 of 2.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· But no Bates stamp.
16· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Okay.· I -- honestly don't know
17· ·how that happened.· My apologies if that was -- that
18· ·was something that happened on our end.
19· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) I'll direct you to the page of
20· ·the -- of the document itself.· And this is -- the first
21· ·substantive page that begins up at the top "Simply
22· ·Healthcare Plans, Inc. Primary Care Provider Agreement."
23· ·Are you there?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·Can you read that first paragraph that
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·1· ·begins, "This Primary Care Provider Agreement" and ends
·2· ·with the federal tax identification number, although
·3· ·I'm certainly fine and would prefer that you not read
·4· ·the tax identification number into the record.
·5· · · · A.· ·"This Primary Care Provider Agreement (The
·6· ·Agreement) is made and entered into as of the 1st day
·7· ·of January, 2012," 2011 being crossed out, "by and
·8· ·between Simply Healthcare Plans, Inc., a Florida
·9· ·corporation (Simply) and Medcare Quality Medical
10· ·Centers, a Florida limited liability company, a
11· ·corporation (Provider), federal tax identification
12· ·number," and then the numbers.
13· · · · Q.· ·Yes.· And can you please turn to -- it looks
14· ·like all the page numbers here on the document itself
15· ·are all A-1, so that's not going to be much help.· But
16· ·I'm looking for Section 9.4, which is about 20 or so
17· ·pages in.
18· · · · A.· ·I'm here.
19· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read the header and first
20· ·sentence of Section 9.4?
21· · · · A.· ·"9.4, Termination Without Cause.· This
22· ·agreement may be terminated by either party, without
23· ·cause, effective only at the end of a calendar month,
24· ·which is at least ninety (90) days following the
25· ·delivery of a written notice to the other party.· The
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·1· ·terminating party will also provide written notice of
·2· ·such termination to AHCA and the OIR."
·3· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, I did just ask you to read the
·4· ·first sentence.
·5· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.
·6· · · · Q.· ·That's okay.· That's okay.
·7· · · · · · ·And can you please turn to Exhibit No. 71.
·8· ·And I'll ask you, does this -- does your copy of
·9· ·Exhibit 71 have the Bates numbers on it?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
11· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· So looking at Bates page 70, under the
12· ·title "Group Participation Agreement," can you please
13· ·read the -- can you please read the first paragraph of
14· ·that page?
15· · · · A.· ·"This Group Participation Agreement
16· ·(Agreement) is made and entered into the 1st day of"
17· ·blank, "2017 (Effective Date) by and between Freedom
18· ·Health, Inc. (Plan) and Palm All Care MSO, Inc.
19· ·(Group), an entity licensed and/or organized under the
20· ·laws of the State of Florida and the principals of
21· ·which are listed in Attachment A."
22· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Iglesias, can you please turn to
23· ·page 24 of the document, which is Bates range 93.· And
24· ·can you please read into the record Section 4.3.1.
25· · · · A.· ·4.3.1?
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Yes.
·2· · · · A.· ·Can I read the section above that, 4.3?
·3· · · · Q.· ·Certainly.
·4· · · · A.· ·4.3 is entitled "Termination."· 4.3.1, "Plan
·5· ·or group may terminate this agreement at any time for
·6· ·business reasons by providing at least ninety (90)
·7· ·days prior written notice to the other party, CMS,
·8· ·AHCA, and DFS."
·9· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias --
10· · · · A.· ·Period.
11· · · · Q.· ·-- can you please turn to Exhibit 72.
12· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I think that's your last volume,
13· ·number 3.
14· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· 72?
15· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Yes.
16· · · · A.· ·I'm here.
17· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read -- I'll ask you this
18· ·again.· Is that copy that you have Bates stamped?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
20· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read at the top of page 122
21· ·and the Bates stamps the first paragraph under "Network
22· ·Risk Agreement"?
23· · · · A.· ·"Preferred Care Partners, Inc., a Florida
24· ·corporation (Plan) and MedPlan Clinic, LLC, (The
25· ·Network) enter into this Medicare Advantage Network
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·1· ·Risk Agreement (Agreement) effective June 01, 2015."
·2· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Iglesias, can you please turn to
·3· ·Bates page 131.· And I direct your attention to
·4· ·Section 9.4.
·5· · · · A.· ·Let me get there, sir.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Certainly.· My apologies.
·7· · · · A.· ·131?
·8· · · · Q.· ·Yes, 131.
·9· · · · · · ·And directing your attention to 9.4, can you
10· ·please read the caption of section 9.4 and the first
11· ·sentence of section 9.4 into the record.
12· · · · A.· ·9.4, "Termination Without Cause.· Network, a
13· ·network provider, or plan may terminate this agreement
14· ·without cause upon one hundred twenty (120) days prior
15· ·written notice to the other party."
16· · · · Q.· ·And can you please turn your attention to
17· ·Exhibit 73?
18· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
19· · · · Q.· ·And in Exhibit 73, can you please turn your
20· ·attention to the first -- on the first page there, 172
21· ·in the Bates range, can you please read the first
22· ·paragraph of text under the title of the document?
23· · · · A.· ·"This Independent Practice Association
24· ·Participation Agreement (Agreement) is made and
25· ·entered into by and between the party named on the
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·1· ·signature page below (hereafter referred to as IPA)

·2· ·and Humana Insurance Company, Humana Health Insurance

·3· ·Company of Florida, Inc., Humana Medical Plan, Inc.,

·4· ·and their affiliates that underwrite or administer

·5· ·health plans, hereinafter referred to as 'Humana.'"

·6· · · · Q.· ·Can you please turn to page 184.

·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mine doesn't have Bates stamps

·8· ·again.· What page of the document is it?

·9· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Page 13 of the document.

10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Thank you.

11· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Page 13?

12· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I want to state something just for

13· ·the record.· Suspect if I didn't do this, we'd hear

14· ·from the other side, but these were marked as

15· ·confidential and attorneys' eyes only.· And I state

16· ·that for the record because it seems like the Bates --

17· ·the Bates footer has come off of some of these

18· ·documents.

19· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Sorry about that.· Housekeeping

20· ·matter.

21· · · · · · ·Under "IPA authorized signatory," what is the

22· ·printed name of this document -- on this?

23· · · · A.· ·Bruce Romanello.

24· · · · Q.· ·There's not a signature, is there?

25· · · · A.· ·No, there isn't.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·There isn't a date, is there?
·2· · · · A.· ·Not on this page.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And what is the address of note -- for notice
·4· ·for the IPA?· What does the document say there?
·5· · · · A.· ·There is the name of the IPA, First Harbor
·6· ·MSO.· But on this page, there is no address.
·7· · · · Q.· ·And do you know that this is -- that the IPA
·8· ·is First Harbor MSO?· Because it says "copy to,"
·9· ·doesn't it.
10· · · · A.· ·I know that the IPA agreement with Humana is
11· ·with First Harbor.· There are a variety of First
12· ·Harbors.· I couldn't tell you sitting here which First
13· ·Harbor entity.
14· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.
15· · · · · · ·Turning to Exhibit -- one more bit of -- one
16· ·more item on Exhibit 73.· Can you please turn to page 3
17· ·of the document.
18· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
19· · · · Q.· ·And can you please read Section 7.2 into the
20· ·record.
21· · · · A.· ·"Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
22· ·herein, either party may terminate this agreement
23· ·without cause by providing the other party one hundred
24· ·twenty (120) days prior written notice of
25· ·termination."
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.
·2· · · · · · ·Proceeding on to Exhibit 74, I don't know if
·3· ·your copy is Bates numbered?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir, it is.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And so looking at page 219 up at the top, can
·6· ·you read the first paragraph under "Network Agreement"
·7· ·into the record.
·8· · · · A.· ·"This Network Agreement (Agreement) is made
·9· ·and entered into on this 29th day of July, 2008, by
10· ·and between CarePlus Health Plans, Inc. (Plan) and
11· ·Palm Medical Network, LLC (Network)."
12· · · · Q.· ·And turning to page 243 in the Bates range,
13· ·page 25 of the document, can you please read
14· ·Section 6.5 into the record.
15· · · · A.· ·6.5, "Termination Without Cause.
16· ·Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may not
17· ·terminate this agreement without cause during the
18· ·Medicare lock-in period.· Upon 60 days written notice
19· ·to the other party hereto, the agreement may be
20· ·terminated during the Medicare open enrollment
21· ·period."
22· · · · Q.· ·Can you please turn to Exhibit 75.· Is your
23· ·copy Bates stamped?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes.· Yes, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·Looking at the top of page 259, can you
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·1· ·please read the first paragraph of text under the title
·2· ·"Network Risk Agreement or Medicare Advantage Network
·3· ·Risk Agreement"?
·4· · · · A.· ·"Medica Healthcare Plan, Inc., a Florida
·5· ·corporation (Plan) and MedPlan Clinic, LLC (The
·6· ·Network) enter into this Medicare Advantage Network
·7· ·Risk Agreement (Agreement) effective June 1, 2015."
·8· · · · Q.· ·And can you please turn to page 268 in the
·9· ·Bates range?
10· · · · A.· ·I no longer have -- the only --
11· · · · Q.· ·Look on the side.
12· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I would instruct the witness.
13· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· 268?
14· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Yes.
15· · · · A.· ·This is upside down.· Okay.
16· · · · Q.· ·And can you please read the heading and first
17· ·sentence of Section 9.4 into the record.
18· · · · A.· ·"9.4, Termination Without Cause.· A network
19· ·provider or plan may terminate this agreement without
20· ·cause upon 120 days prior written notice to the other
21· ·party."
22· · · · Q.· ·You testified earlier that Hygea had complied
23· ·in your estimation with the court order requiring it to
24· ·produce the HMO contracts that purportedly preclude
25· ·appointment of a receiver, correct?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·2· · · · Q.· ·And are those the contracts that we just
·3· ·looked at?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes.· And I believe there are more.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Well, those are the ones that were produced
·6· ·in response to the court order, correct?
·7· · · · A.· ·I don't know if those are all the ones that
·8· ·were produced.· You've shown me a series of contracts,
·9· ·and I've read the heading.
10· · · · Q.· ·Do you believe that there are others that
11· ·were produced?
12· · · · A.· ·I assume we produced all the ones that we
13· ·have.
14· · · · Q.· ·Well, I can represent to you that that's what
15· ·was produced.
16· · · · A.· ·Okay.
17· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I would move to admit
18· ·those exhibits.· Read them in there.· 70, 71, 72, 73,
19· ·74, 75, and that's it.
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
21· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, we have no objection
22· ·to their admission.· I don't think all the foundation
23· ·has been laid, but we have no objection to their
24· ·admission.
25· · · · · · ·One thing I would note is that as counsel and

Page 453
·1· ·I at the beginning of this trial discussed, we would be
·2· ·moving at the end of the trial to redact any copies --
·3· ·redact portions of certain confidential documents.
·4· ·These are one of them.
·5· · · · · · ·And in particular, I would want to make sure
·6· ·that any copy that got admitted into the public record
·7· ·had the confidential - attorneys' eyes only stamp on
·8· ·them.
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· All right.· 70 through 75 are
10· ·admitted.· So I don't know what's in that original
11· ·binder.· Some -- some of them have confidential -
12· ·attorneys' eyes only, and some of them on my copy
13· ·don't.· So 70 through 75 though are admitted.
14· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Mr. Iglesias, you gave a
15· ·declaration in this matter; is that correct?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
17· · · · Q.· ·Can you please turn to Exhibit 90.
18· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
19· · · · Q.· ·And this is -- I will state for the record
20· ·that this is your declaration which has been admitted
21· ·into evidence in this matter.
22· · · · · · ·Can you please turn to Bates page 109.
23· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
24· · · · Q.· ·And can you please read paragraph 56 into the
25· ·record.
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·1· · · · A.· ·"While Hygea has not received correspondence
·2· ·from any taxing authority regarding a failure to pay
·3· ·payroll taxes, Hygea has acknowledged that it
·4· ·continues to owe back payroll taxes for the 4th
·5· ·quarter of 2017 and is incurring payroll tax
·6· ·liabilities for 2018."
·7· · · · Q.· ·And that statement that you made under oath
·8· ·was a true and accurate statement, correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
10· · · · Q.· ·If you can turn back to the previous page,
11· ·108, page 9 of the document.· Can you please read
12· ·paragraph 47.
13· · · · A.· ·"All payments to physicians and other
14· ·administrative staff have always been remitted to
15· ·those employees, including on February 9, 2018.· As
16· ·for the C-suite executives, those executives who have
17· ·not been paid include myself, Mr. Edward Moffly
18· ·(Hygea's Chief Financial Officer), Aaron Kaufman
19· ·(Hygea's former Chief Technology Officer), and Dan
20· ·Miller (Hygea's former Chief Operating Officer)."
21· · · · Q.· ·And that statement that C-suite executives
22· ·who had not been paid -- C-suite executives have not
23· ·been paid, that was a true and accurate statement,
24· ·correct?
25· · · · A.· ·As of that date, yes.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Was Mr. Moffly the chief financial officer at
·2· ·that time?
·3· · · · A.· ·He was acting chief financial officer.
·4· · · · Q.· ·What's -- please continue.
·5· · · · A.· ·We were in the process of reorganizing the
·6· ·C-suite, and he was probably acting in that capacity
·7· ·at that time.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Excuse me?
·9· · · · A.· ·He was acting in that capacity at that time.
10· · · · Q.· ·Turn to page 101.· Is that a true and
11· ·accurate statement at paragraph 10 that Hygea currently
12· ·manages over 100,000 members and patients?
13· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Which paragraph?
14· · · · Q.· ·Paragraph 10.
15· · · · A.· ·We provide services to over 100,000 patients
16· ·throughout our system, yes, sir.
17· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.
18· · · · · · ·Can you please turn to 105.· I'm looking here
19· ·from 105 to 106 under paragraph 30(e)?
20· · · · A.· ·Paragraph E?
21· · · · Q.· ·Paragraph E, yes.· And starting at "Hygea's
22· ·certified public accountant, CliftonLarsonAllen," do
23· ·you see that language?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·Can you read that starting from there.
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·1· · · · A.· ·"Hygea's certified public accountant,
·2· ·CliftonLarsonAllen (CLA), a tier 1 accounting firm
·3· ·ranking the ninth largest in the nation, is currently
·4· ·in the process of completing an audited 2017 QOE
·5· ·report.· Hygea expects to provide financials to the
·6· ·prospective investors by mid-March."
·7· · · · Q.· ·And turning to page 119, is this accurate
·8· ·that you executed the declaration on February 20th,
·9· ·2018?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
11· · · · Q.· ·Ask you to turn your attention to
12· ·Exhibit 193.
13· · · · A.· ·193?
14· · · · Q.· ·Yes.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· That's going to be a different
16· ·volume.· 193 would be volume 4.
17· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, Your Honor.
18· · · · · · ·193?
19· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Yes.
20· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
21· · · · Q.· ·Can you turn to Bates page 646.
22· · · · · · ·First, let me ask this:· This is the Q of E
23· ·draft you referred to earlier?
24· · · · A.· ·This is a draft of the Q of E, yes, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·This draft Q of E is the draft Q of E you

Page 457
·1· ·were referring to in the declaration, correct?
·2· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Turn to Bates page 646.
·4· · · · A.· ·646.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And the second paragraph of full text in that
·6· ·page, can you please read that, the first sentence of
·7· ·that paragraph into the record.
·8· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· The first -- which one?
·9· · · · Q.· ·The first paragraph -- excuse me.· The second
10· ·paragraph of full text that begins "our consulting," do
11· ·you see that?
12· · · · A.· ·"Our consulting procedures were conducted
13· ·primarily in March/April 2018.· A significant portion
14· ·of our work consisted of inquiries of accounting and
15· ·management personnel of the company, without further
16· ·verification."
17· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.· Thank you.
18· · · · · · ·So when you said in your declaration that CLA
19· ·was currently in the process of completing this
20· ·document on February 20th, that wasn't accurate, was
21· ·it?
22· · · · A.· ·It was accurate as they stated.· We expected
23· ·to have the Q of E completed by mid-March, and we
24· ·don't control CliftonLarsonAllen.· They're a national
25· ·firm.· They have their own internal priorities.
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·1· · · · · · ·We kept pushing them to get it done on a
·2· ·timely basis.· It took longer, and I apologize to the
·3· ·Court and to the world, but at the time I made the
·4· ·declaration, I fully believed that based on
·5· ·conversations that we had -- we talked to them on a
·6· ·daily basis from the beginning of 2018 when they began
·7· ·the work that it would be done by mid-March.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Turn your attention to Exhibit 6.
·9· · · · A.· ·Exhibit 6.
10· · · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document?
11· · · · A.· ·It seems -- can I read it?
12· · · · Q.· ·Certainly.
13· · · · A.· ·Give me a chance to -- yes, sir.· It's a
14· ·letter from Bridging Finance, Inc.
15· · · · Q.· ·And how do you recognize this document?
16· · · · A.· ·The heading.
17· · · · Q.· ·You remember receiving this document, don't
18· ·you?
19· · · · A.· ·Probably, yes.· Or a document like it.
20· · · · Q.· ·Excuse me?
21· · · · A.· ·I don't remember the contents of this
22· ·document, but it seems to be a letter from Bridging
23· ·Finance.
24· · · · Q.· ·Is this a true and accurate copy of the
25· ·letter you received from Bridging Finance?
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·1· · · · A.· ·It seems to be a letter that we received,
·2· ·yes, sir.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And you're familiar with Bridging Finance,
·4· ·correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes, I am.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And you're familiar with their business?
·7· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Did you have the impression that Bridging
·9· ·sent you this letter in the course of its business?
10· · · · A.· ·I believe they did.
11· · · · Q.· ·And did you forward this letter on to Hygea's
12· ·board of directors?
13· · · · A.· ·I assume so.
14· · · · Q.· ·And I would ask you to turn to Exhibit 41 and
15· ·ask if that refreshes your recollection whether you
16· ·sent this letter from Bridging Finance to the board?
17· · · · A.· ·Exhibit 41?
18· · · · Q.· ·41.· I think I'm right on that.
19· · · · A.· ·Yes.· This seems to be an email from me to
20· ·the board.
21· · · · Q.· ·And you forwarded to the board a copy of the
22· ·letter that we were looking at as Exhibit 6; isn't that
23· ·correct?
24· · · · A.· ·I'm sure I had -- it may have been under
25· ·separate cover.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·But you -- you agree that you sent this
·2· ·letter to the board?
·3· · · · A.· ·Yes.· The board had copies or received
·4· ·copies of that letter.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Was anything in the letter inaccurate?
·6· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· It's
·7· ·vague.· I'm not sure if Mr. Iglesias can testify as to
·8· ·another entity's letter, whether there was anything
·9· ·inaccurate.
10· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I'll withdraw the question.
11· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Can you read in Exhibit 6 the
12· ·third paragraph of text?· Actually, let me take a step
13· ·back before you do.· I'll withdraw that question as well.
14· · · · · · ·What was Bridging -- Bridging Finance was
15· ·Hygea's primary lender, correct?
16· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
17· · · · Q.· ·We've heard a lot about that, but I wanted to
18· ·ask you that question.· And so when this letter talks
19· ·about borrowers, it's talking about Hygea, correct?
20· · · · A.· ·Yes.· It talks about -- under the caption,
21· ·I'm assuming collectively the borrowers is Hygea
22· ·Holdings Corp., the parent company, and Hygea Health
23· ·Holdings, Inc., the Florida operating company.
24· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.· We'll get back to -- to that
25· ·issue.· But can you please read the, "Where I was a
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·1· ·moment ago," the third paragraph of text in the letter.
·2· · · · A.· ·"Nevertheless, the borrowers acknowledge
·3· ·that the last monthly cash interest payment made by
·4· ·the borrowers occurred on July 6, 2017, and was to be
·5· ·applied towards the interest owing for the month of
·6· ·June '17.
·7· · · · · · ·"Furthermore, the borrowers acknowledge and
·8· ·agree that the monthly cash interest payment for the
·9· ·month of July 2017 and August 2017 have not been made
10· ·and are owed to the agents."
11· · · · Q.· ·And that was accurate, right, Hygea had
12· ·missed those payments?
13· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
14· · · · Q.· ·And turning to the next page -- well,
15· ·actually, turning to the bottom of that, can you please
16· ·read the last sentence of text in this letter -- on
17· ·this page, page 1634.
18· · · · A.· ·Paragraph starting with, "Please"?
19· · · · Q.· ·Yeah.· Why don't you read that whole
20· ·paragraph.
21· · · · A.· ·"Please be advised that this constitutes a
22· ·breach of covenant and an event of default under the
23· ·Credit Agreement (see item 1 of the section titled
24· ·'Covenants' and item 1 of the section titled 'Events
25· ·of Default').
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·1· · · · · · ·"However, the agent has agreed not to
·2· ·constitute the borrowers in 'default' under the Credit
·3· ·Agreement at this time and will not be taking any other
·4· ·action on such breaches because the borrowers have
·5· ·agreed to do all of the following."
·6· · · · Q.· ·And the word "default" there in that last
·7· ·sentence is in quotation marks; isn't that right?
·8· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·9· · · · Q.· ·And can you please read the first bullet
10· ·point on the next page?
11· · · · A.· ·First bullet point, "At or before 5 p.m. EST
12· ·on November 10th, 2017, provide the agent with audited
13· ·financials for both the 2014 and 2015 fiscal year and
14· ·the draft management financials for the 2016 fiscal
15· ·year."
16· · · · Q.· ·That hasn't happened, has it?
17· · · · A.· ·No, it hasn't.
18· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read the second bullet point.
19· · · · A.· ·"At or before 5 p.m. EST on December 15,
20· ·2017, provide the agent with audited financials for
21· ·2016 fiscal year."
22· · · · Q.· ·That hasn't happened, has it?
23· · · · A.· ·No, sir.
24· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read the next bullet point.
25· · · · A.· ·"Appoint an additional signatory, such
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·1· ·additional signatory to be mutually agreed upon

·2· ·between the agent and RIN Capital, LLC (RIN) for cash

·3· ·management purposes and for any future payments (all

·4· ·checks to be signed by Mr. Manuel E. Iglesias and)"

·5· ·underlined "(such newly appointed signatory)."

·6· · · · Q.· ·That hasn't happened, has it?

·7· · · · A.· ·We have a treasury management per our

·8· ·agreement with Bridging Finance where they approve

·9· ·signors on the accounts, and we implemented that

10· ·program for a while.· That has since changed.· And as

11· ·we evolve, I'm in the process of being taken off

12· ·the -- as we speak, taken off the check signing.

13· · · · · · ·Presently, we have three signors.· And

14· ·there's a process before a check is produced, it goes

15· ·through our finance department that gets pre-approved

16· ·before one of the signors approves it.· Part of that

17· ·number 3, it evolved.· But in essence, we have created

18· ·treasury management processes based on Bridging Finance

19· ·requirements.

20· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Igelsias, it's a yes-or-no question.

21· ·I'll rephrase it.

22· · · · · · ·Has -- is there an additional signatory

23· ·mutually agreed upon between -- that RIN Capital has

24· ·agreed to?

25· · · · A.· ·I have no idea of the relationship between
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·1· ·Bridging Finance and RIN Capital.· The person dealing
·2· ·with us has been Bridging Finance, who is our banker.
·3· ·And we have complied with all the requirements.
·4· · · · Q.· ·I want to go down a little bit to the third
·5· ·bullet point from the bottom that reads, "At or before
·6· ·5 p.m. EST."· Can you please read that into the record.
·7· · · · A.· ·"At or before 5 p.m. EST on October 15,
·8· ·2017, hire a new chief financial officer for the
·9· ·borrowers."
10· · · · Q.· ·And the incumbent chief financial officer at
11· ·that time was Mr. Moffly, correct?
12· · · · A.· ·We have tried to replace Mr. Moffly on
13· ·multiple occasions.· He has been already -- we have an
14· ·interim chief financial officer in Sergey Savchenko.
15· ·Mr. Moffly is currently not the chief financial
16· ·officer.· That said, I am not -- I do not remember if
17· ·he had been replaced by October 15th.
18· · · · Q.· ·You testified a few minutes ago that he was
19· ·the -- I believe you said acting CFO at the time you
20· ·signed your declaration in February 20th of 2018; isn't
21· ·that right?
22· · · · A.· ·He had offered his resignation.· And until
23· ·we named Mr. Savchenko as interim financial officer,
24· ·he fulfilled some of those functions.
25· · · · Q.· ·So that bullet point was not met, correct?
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·1· · · · A.· ·We have, I think, a very good relationship
·2· ·with Bridging Finance, and this letter evolved.· There
·3· ·were a lot of other subsequent conversations and
·4· ·negotiations.· And I would tell you that we're in
·5· ·compliance with our lending -- Bridging Finance as our
·6· ·lender.
·7· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Moffly -- that was a yes or no question.
·8· ·That bullet point wasn't complied with, correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·I think we have complied with everything
10· ·requested to us by Bridging Finance.
11· · · · Q.· ·Meaning that at or before -- it's your
12· ·position that at or before 5 p.m. EST on October 15th,
13· ·2017, Hygea hired a new chief financial officer?
14· · · · A.· ·No.· There were a lot of subsequent
15· ·conversations between the time this letter was sent
16· ·to -- to today.· It's an interactive relationship with
17· ·our financial backer, our bank.
18· · · · · · ·And I -- A, we're in compliance with the
19· ·bank.· We're not in default.· And we have met all their
20· ·requirements.· There have been changes.· This is a
21· ·snapshot of a request at the time, which was then
22· ·subsequently renegotiated.· I would tell you that
23· ·whatever has been requested to us by Bridging Finance,
24· ·we're currently in covenant with Bridging Finance.
25· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm going to move to
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·1· ·strike that answer.· That was a yes-or-no question, and
·2· ·we got a long disquisition about Hygea's relationship.
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The objection is sustained.
·4· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) So, again, that bullet point was
·5· ·not complied with, correct?
·6· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·7· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at this time
·8· ·plaintiffs do move to admit Exhibit 6 into evidence.
·9· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, we object.· It's
10· ·hearsay.· It's a writing and statements made by
11· ·Ms. Natasha Sharpe of Bridging.· It's not part of
12· ·Hygea's business records, if that is the exception that
13· ·Mr. Kaye seeks.· So I would object based on hearsay and
14· ·a lack of foundation.
15· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, there's a couple of
16· ·reasons why I don't think that that objection prevails.
17· ·First of all, while it may have been generated by -- by
18· ·Bridging Finance, that doesn't mean that it's not a
19· ·business record, something that came to -- I believe --
20· ·and I believe we've had testimony that this was
21· ·within -- was within Hygea's business records, but we
22· ·can lay additional foundation.
23· · · · · · ·In fact, I don't think that's necessary
24· ·because we've already heard the testimony that this was
25· ·forwarded on to the board, and thereby came within
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·1· ·Hygea's business records, forwarded by -- sent by
·2· ·Mr. Iglesias to the board.
·3· · · · · · ·Moreover, there are additional indicia of
·4· ·trustworthiness here, including the fact that this is
·5· ·in certain respects a statement against interest from
·6· ·an unavailable witness.
·7· · · · · · ·I say "unavailable" because, once again, as
·8· ·we have heard and as shown on the face of the document,
·9· ·Bridging is a Canadian entity, outside of the usual
10· ·subpoena process for a case such as this.· And the
11· ·statement from Bridging that they are not being paid is
12· ·a statement against interest.· Presumably, they want to
13· ·be paid.
14· · · · · · ·Beyond that, I would -- I would say that by
15· ·presenting this to the board, Mr. Iglesias adopted as
16· ·an admission the statement, which he has said here
17· ·that -- that the monthly cash interest payments were
18· ·not made for those months as indicated, that Hygea had
19· ·missed those payments.
20· · · · · · ·Beyond all of that, even if the Court is not
21· ·inclined to admit this document for the truth of the
22· ·matter asserted therein, which in some respects is a
23· ·tree falling in the forest because the witness has
24· ·already testified to the truth of the matter admitted
25· ·therein, this is still a -- it's still admissible as a
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·1· ·verbal act.
·2· · · · · · ·We have heard a lot of testimony, some of
·3· ·it's been stricken from the record, but not all of it,
·4· ·from Mr. Iglesias that there have been ongoing
·5· ·discussions about the topic of this letter.
·6· · · · · · ·Well, those sort of -- those sort of
·7· ·discussions and the documents that comprise those sort
·8· ·of discussions are very relevant to what's going on in
·9· ·this case and are not at all excludable as hearsay.
10· ·That's -- if it's, as Mr. Iglesias has postured it,
11· ·almost a draft of an ongoing arrangement, that's
12· ·certainly admissible.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm going to overrule the hearsay
14· ·objection.· I'm accepting it on the basis that it's not
15· ·as evidence of the truth of the matters asserted,
16· ·separate from Mr. Iglesias' testimony.· The foundation
17· ·objection is also overruled.· Exhibit 6 is admitted.
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
19· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Mr. Iglesias, can you please turn
20· ·to Exhibit 14.
21· · · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document?
23· · · · A.· ·Yes.
24· · · · Q.· ·What is this document?
25· · · · A.· ·This is an email from Dr. Ewaul Persaud, one
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·1· ·of our Atlanta physicians, to us regarding the
·2· ·February 23rd payroll.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And Dr. Persaud is a physician within the
·4· ·Hygea network of providers, correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes, he is.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Do you remember receiving this email?
·7· · · · A.· ·Yes, I do.
·8· · · · Q.· ·And is this a true and accurate copy of the
·9· ·email you received?
10· · · · A.· ·I believe it is.
11· · · · Q.· ·And I'm going to state one thing for the
12· ·record before I forget this.· My copy has an indication
13· ·at the bottom of the page "Exhibit A."· And I think I
14· ·discussed this with -- with opposing counsel.
15· · · · · · ·And I think we sort of are in agreement that
16· ·we'll disregard the Exhibit A for right now.· And if
17· ·this is eventually admitted as an exhibit, we would ask
18· ·to have the Exhibit A removed from this copy.· But I
19· ·wanted to get that out there before I forgot it, that
20· ·that issue was out there.
21· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, at this point I would
22· ·object to both any admission or use of this exhibit,
23· ·Your Honor has already ruled this exhibit inadmissible
24· ·based on hearsay.
25· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, we've not moved for
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·1· ·admission --
·2· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Right.
·3· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· -- of the exhibit.· I do intend to
·4· ·move for admission of the exhibit.· But this is an
·5· ·additional examination about the exhibit that I
·6· ·think -- not to get ahead of ourselves, I think we're
·7· ·going to have probably some of the same issues we had
·8· ·with the last exhibit.
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· It has not been offered.· At this
10· ·point there is no outstanding question, so go ahead
11· ·with your next question.
12· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you.
13· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) If you read in this -- the main
14· ·paragraph of text here, there's a sentence that begins,
15· ·"The most disturbing."· Do you see that?
16· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Could you repeat?
17· · · · Q.· ·There's a sentence that begins, "The most
18· ·disturbing"?
19· · · · A.· ·"The most disturbing issue was when two of
20· ·the employees in my office had their most recent
21· ·checks bounce."
22· · · · Q.· ·What did you do when you got that email?
23· · · · A.· ·We covered the checks, the payments to the
24· ·employees, plus any fees charged by their financial
25· ·institutions.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And because those checks had bounced,
·2· ·correct?
·3· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·4· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at this time
·5· ·plaintiffs do move to admit Exhibit 14.· I will state
·6· ·for the record that we believe that this falls within a
·7· ·hearsay exception for similar reasons to the last
·8· ·exhibit that we discussed, business record, and as
·9· ·well -- anticipate the objections, but I think we know
10· ·what's coming.· I'll let -- I'll let --
11· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I suppose Mr. Kaye is
12· ·trying to admit it for the truth of the matters
13· ·asserted based on the one statement that Mr. Iglesias
14· ·has just stated.· However, there are many more
15· ·statements in this email, and we have not laid the
16· ·foundation as to those statements.
17· · · · · · ·This was written by Dr. Persaud.· This is not
18· ·necessarily a Hygea business record, and it has not
19· ·been in -- the proper foundation it has not been
20· ·established.· Dr. Persaud is not here today to testify
21· ·about his out-of-court statements.
22· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, the witness testified
23· ·that Dr. Persaud was a -- was a physician within the
24· ·Hygea network of -- of doctors.· That is to my mind a
25· ·business relationship and makes this a business record.
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·1· · · · · · ·Having said that, I believe that there is
·2· ·again an alternative basis for the admission of this
·3· ·document, which is not for the truth of the matter
·4· ·asserted, which, once again, as to the issue that we
·5· ·just discussed, there's, again, now been an admission
·6· ·from the witness, so there's independent evidence of
·7· ·that.
·8· · · · · · ·And so, once again, the hearsay issue on that
·9· ·is to me -- is to me a moot point.· This is, once
10· ·again, a verbal act.· And the Court can certainly admit
11· ·it not for the truth of any matters asserted, which,
12· ·once again, I think the significance of which has been
13· ·minimized by the testimony, but, rather, as evidence
14· ·that this notification was sent to -- to Mr. Iglesias,
15· ·and that this -- now this fills in the story of what
16· ·prompted the action that Mr. Iglesias took.
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
18· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· If counsel wants to admit for
19· ·purposes of demonstrating that Mr. Iglesias received a
20· ·notification, I do not have any objection.· If it's for
21· ·the truth of the matters asserted, I repeat my
22· ·objection.
23· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm not going to accept it for
24· ·the truth of the matters asserted.· Again, I have
25· ·addition -- testimony from Mr. Iglesias that addresses
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·1· ·the checks.· So I'm going to admit it, though, on -- on
·2· ·that basis, not for the truth of the matter asserted,
·3· ·but for the notice that Mr. Iglesias received.
·4· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Mr. Iglesias, can you turn back
·5· ·now to Exhibit 90.
·6· · · · A.· ·90?
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Before we do that, we're going to
·8· ·go ahead and take our morning recess.· It will be 15
·9· ·minutes, so we'll come back in 10:45.
10· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You can step down.
12· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, sir.
13· · · · · · ·(Recess taken at 10:30, resuming at 10:45.)
14· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Please be seated.· 18 OC 71,
15· ·Arellano v. Hygea.· Counsel, except for Mr. Ewing, are
16· ·present.
17· · · · · · ·Mr. Kaye, go ahead with your direct.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Mr. Iglesias, before we took a
19· ·break there, I referred you to Exhibit 90.· Do you have
20· ·Exhibit 90?
21· · · · A.· ·90, 9-0?
22· · · · Q.· ·9-0, yes.
23· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
24· · · · Q.· ·And this is the declaration that you made on
25· ·February 20th, 2018, correct?
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·1· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·2· · · · Q.· ·And I will direct your attention on Bates
·3· ·page 108, document page 9, to paragraph 45 of your
·4· ·declaration.· Can you please read that into the record.
·5· · · · A.· ·"In fact, with the exception of a handful of
·6· ·C-suite executives, all the Hygea employees" -- I'm
·7· ·sorry -- "in fact, with the exception of a handful of
·8· ·C-suite executives, all of Hygea's approximately 600
·9· ·employees have always been paid on time."
10· · · · Q.· ·And "always" is italicized in your
11· ·declaration, correct?
12· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
13· · · · Q.· ·Within about a week of you making that
14· ·declaration, there was at least one bounced paycheck,
15· ·correct?
16· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
17· · · · Q.· ·I want to turn to something from earlier.  I
18· ·believe you testified that the completed quality of
19· ·earnings report could be done any day now; isn't that
20· ·right?
21· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
22· · · · Q.· ·Could you please go back to the first
23· ·exhibit, I think it's the first exhibit we looked at,
24· ·125.
25· · · · A.· ·125.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And I earlier referenced something Mr. -- had
·2· ·you read something into the record that Mr. Moffly
·3· ·had -- had indicated according to these minutes.
·4· · · · · · ·Can you please look at the paragraph that
·5· ·begins, "Mr. Iglesias provided a state of the company
·6· ·review."· And could you please -- could you please read
·7· ·the first sentence of that paragraph.
·8· · · · A.· ·"Mr. Iglesias provided a state of the
·9· ·company review, including about the investment by RIN
10· ·Capital (plan), the status of the 2014 and '15 audits
11· ·(to be completed with the next few weeks), and a
12· ·synopsis of the company's strategy going forward in
13· ·light of the changes to federal healthcare laws, which
14· ·are anticipated under the Trump administration."
15· · · · Q.· ·And could you please turn to Exhibit 19.
16· ·This has been previously admitted.· And in this email,
17· ·you indicate that the audit should be completed no
18· ·later than the end of July 2017; isn't that correct?
19· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Your question is?
20· · · · Q.· ·Didn't you state in this email that the audit
21· ·should be complete no later than the end of July of
22· ·2017?
23· · · · A.· ·I state in the email, "The audit should be
24· ·complete no later than the end of July with a call or
25· ·a board meeting immediately thereafter."

Page 476
·1· · · · Q.· ·And, again, the audits remain incomplete,
·2· ·correct?
·3· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·4· · · · Q.· ·I believe you testified earlier that you are
·5· ·familiar with Bridging Finance?
·6· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·7· · · · Q.· ·I believe you testified that you think you
·8· ·have a good relationship with Bridging Finance?
·9· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
10· · · · Q.· ·Do you know who John Travaglini is?
11· · · · A.· ·He's a principal of a consulting firm out of
12· ·Canada.· The answer is -- I'm sorry.· Yes.
13· · · · Q.· ·Who is John Travaglini to your knowledge?
14· · · · A.· ·He is a principal stakeholder in a
15· ·consulting firm called, I believe, 4Front Financial
16· ·Advisors or something like that.
17· · · · Q.· ·And he does a lot of work with Bridging,
18· ·correct?
19· · · · A.· ·I'm not -- I couldn't tell you if he does a
20· ·lot or not.
21· · · · Q.· ·Well, he -- you know him from his work with
22· ·Bridging; isn't that right?
23· · · · A.· ·No.· I met him two years ago in Canada
24· ·through our attorneys when we started investigating
25· ·the opportunity to go public in the Toronto exchange.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Well, Mr. Travaglini has some relationship
·2· ·with Bridging of which you're aware; isn't that right?
·3· · · · A.· ·If you say so.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Did you communicate with Mr. Travaglini about
·5· ·the situation at Hygea?
·6· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor; vague.· I'm
·7· ·not sure what situation he's referring to.
·8· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I'm asking if he ever communicated
·9· ·with Mr. Travaglini about Hygea.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· You can answer.
11· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, Your Honor.· He has
12· ·consulted to Hygea, and we -- he's a financial advisor
13· ·to Hygea.
14· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) So he's a consultant to Hygea you
15· ·say?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
17· · · · Q.· ·Do you know if he's also a consultant to
18· ·Bridging Finance?
19· · · · A.· ·I could not tell you.
20· · · · Q.· ·When you were speaking or when you were
21· ·communicating with Mr. Travaglini, did you understand
22· ·yourself to be communicating with someone who had a
23· ·relationship with Bridging Finance?
24· · · · A.· ·He knows -- I believe he knows Bridging
25· ·Finance.· But when I communicate with Mr. Travaglini,
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·1· ·I do so as his -- he is a consultant to Hygea.
·2· · · · Q.· ·So he's giving Hygea advice?
·3· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And do you think he was giving Hygea good
·5· ·advice?
·6· · · · A.· ·He has given Hygea a lot of advice.
·7· · · · Q.· ·Hygea was paying him for this advice,
·8· ·correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·Hygea has an engagement agreement with
10· ·Mr. Travaglini.
11· · · · Q.· ·Under the engagement agreement, is Hygea
12· ·supposed to pay Mr. Travaglini?
13· · · · A.· ·I think we're compliant with the engagement
14· ·agreement with Mr. Travaglini.
15· · · · Q.· ·I didn't ask if you were compliant.· I asked
16· ·if the agreement required you to pay him.
17· · · · A.· ·The agreement requires that we compensate
18· ·him for his -- for the services of his company.
19· · · · Q.· ·And has Hygea compensated him for the
20· ·services of his company?
21· · · · A.· ·I believe we have.
22· · · · Q.· ·Can you please turn to Exhibit 26.
23· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
24· · · · Q.· ·Now, putting aside the top email where this
25· ·is -- the email is forwarded to Mr. Fowler, do you
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·1· ·recognize this document?
·2· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· What is the question?
·3· · · · Q.· ·If you recognize the document.
·4· · · · A.· ·Obviously it was sent by John Travaglini.
·5· · · · Q.· ·So you recognize that email address there,
·6· ·4Front -- John@4frontcapitalpartners.com to be
·7· ·Mr. Travaglini?
·8· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·9· · · · Q.· ·And he sent the email to you, didn't he?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·Now, do you know why he sent it to you at
12· ·something other than a Hygea email address?
13· · · · A.· ·No idea.
14· · · · Q.· ·Well, what is -- that is though your email
15· ·address, the Yahoo address there?
16· · · · A.· ·That is a personal email of mine, yes, sir.
17· · · · Q.· ·So can you explain the user name, how you
18· ·came -- what that stands for, how you came up with that
19· ·in this personal email account?
20· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor; relevance.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mr. Kaye?
22· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I -- what I'm
23· ·intrigued by here is that I think that there's
24· ·reference to "law" at the end, and I'm wondering if
25· ·this is an email address that might be affiliated with
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·1· ·some sort of legal practice other than Hygea.
·2· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Why would that be relevant or how
·3· ·would that be relevant?
·4· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, we'll have some
·5· ·questions later on about -- that might, I think, shed
·6· ·some light on the relevance issue, but I'm happy to
·7· ·withdraw that question.· It's not that important.
·8· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· All right.· Go ahead.
·9· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) But this is your personal email
10· ·address?
11· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
12· · · · Q.· ·And do you recognize this email that
13· ·Mr. Travaglini sent you?· Do you remember this email?
14· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Could you repeat the question?
15· · · · Q.· ·Do you remember this email?
16· · · · A.· ·You know, actually, I do not.· I remember
17· ·the top part, the first part.· I don't remember the --
18· ·the second page.
19· · · · Q.· ·When you say "the second page," do you mean
20· ·starting where it says "-- after the line where it says
21· ·"John"?
22· · · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · · Q.· ·So in that first page that you do remember,
24· ·there's a reference to a Raj.· Who is Raj, do you
25· ·remember?

Page 481
·1· · · · A.· ·Raj, I believe, is Mr. Travaglini's partner
·2· ·at 4Front Capital Partners.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Can you read the first five lines of that

·4· ·email beginning, "Raj and I."
·5· · · · A.· ·Read them all?
·6· · · · Q.· ·Yes, please.
·7· · · · A.· ·"Raj and I read your email, and it was very
·8· ·good.· Thank you.· I'm giving you this analysis
·9· ·because it's what people think as opposed to what you
10· ·believe.· The cash flow was so sobering, but now that
11· ·we know what we're dealing with, we can work on it.
12· ·Now onto the business...what you see but what everyone
13· ·else is asking about and sees is very different...we
14· ·need to bridge this gap."
15· · · · Q.· ·Now, that reference there to, "I am giving

16· ·you this analysis," does that refresh your memory about

17· ·the second part of the email at all?
18· · · · A.· ·No.· Actually, it doesn't.
19· · · · Q.· ·Would you agree there isn't much analysis in

20· ·the part of the email that you do remember?
21· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry?· Say that again.
22· · · · Q.· ·Would you agree that the part of the email

23· ·that you do remember, the part that goes from "Manny"
24· ·down to "everyone forgets given time and effort," would

25· ·you agree that there isn't a whole lot of analysis in
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·1· ·that part of the email?
·2· · · · A.· ·I -- I remember that part of the email.
·3· · · · Q.· ·But it doesn't seem to contain a lot of
·4· ·analysis, does it?
·5· · · · A.· ·No.
·6· · · · Q.· ·So that -- doesn't that suggest to you that
·7· ·the analysis that he's referencing is the subsequent
·8· ·part of the email?
·9· · · · A.· ·He's addressing, A, an email that I -- that
10· ·I apparently forwarded to him, and you may have it
11· ·here.· And it is that context.· I would have to see
12· ·that email to put it in the context of what this is
13· ·responding to.· I'm sorry.
14· · · · Q.· ·Well, I'm not asking what it's responding to,
15· ·I'm asking if the part of the email that you remember
16· ·seems to contain a lot of analysis?
17· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, objection; asked and
18· ·answered.
19· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I don't think he's
20· ·answered the question.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· Go ahead.
22· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't see anybody signing
23· ·the -- under that line -- what confuses me is under
24· ·that line in the middle of the second page, something
25· ·is addressed to John.· And yet it's John who is signing
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·1· ·it.· So did he write a letter to himself?· It
·2· ·doesn't -- I don't remember seeing this, and I don't
·3· ·remember the context it's in.
·4· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Perhaps I had you stop reading a
·5· ·little bit too early.
·6· · · · · · ·Could you read the -- could you read the
·7· ·bottom two lines of the first page again?
·8· · · · A.· ·"I asked Raj."
·9· · · · Q.· ·I realize there's some typos there.
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.· "For his honest comments and they are
11· ·below.· As you know, he is a big fan so these are
12· ·things we need to fix.· This is not judgment, just
13· ·things that need to be fixed."
14· · · · Q.· ·So does that perhaps remind you or -- or
15· ·suggest to you that the below email that -- the below
16· ·text below the lines that you seemed a little confused
17· ·by perhaps, that that was Raj's comments?
18· · · · A.· ·Apparently, yes.
19· · · · Q.· ·And I want to go in those comments to
20· ·number 3.· Could you please read -- could you please
21· ·read the first -- first couple lines under 3 up through
22· ·the line that begins "(B)."
23· · · · A.· ·"3, theoretical EBITDA.· Manny believes that
24· ·for the patient count, they should be at 500 million
25· ·in sales and 60 million."· It doesn't say what
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·1· ·60 million is.· "But the actual numbers are much
·2· ·lower.· This only means that two links are broken:
·3· ·(A) converting the patient count to revenue - this
·4· ·seems to be only mildly broken."
·5· · · · · · ·Is that where you want me to stop?
·6· · · · Q.· ·I want you to read B, also.
·7· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· "(B) converting 10 to 12 EBITDA
·8· ·from that revenue.· This seems to be badly broken."
·9· · · · Q.· ·10 to 12 percent EBITDA, correct?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.· Is there a question though?
11· · · · Q.· ·Did you believe at that time that for the
12· ·patient count, Hygea should be at those kind of
13· ·figures?
14· · · · A.· ·Actually, close, yes.
15· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, plaintiffs move to
16· ·admit Exhibit 26.
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
18· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, same objections as
19· ·before.· This constitutes hearsay.· It is not even sent
20· ·to a Hygea business address.· As we have discussed, it
21· ·was sent to Mr. Iglesias' personal address.· So before
22· ·I can address further, I would need to know if Mr. Kaye
23· ·intends on putting in the record a hearsay exception.
24· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, first of all, let me
25· ·clarify the move -- the move for admission.· Of course,
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·1· ·we're talking here again at the bottom of the page, the
·2· ·email from Mr. Travaglini to Mr. Iglesias.· I want to
·3· ·take those -- want to take those issues in -- in order
·4· ·here.
·5· · · · · · ·First of all, we've heard testimony that
·6· ·Mr. Travaglini was a consultant who was, you know, a
·7· ·professional who was presumably going to be paid.  I
·8· ·think we heard that he was paid by Hygea to provide
·9· ·advice to Hygea.
10· · · · · · ·I think that that puts this squarely
11· ·within -- within a business record exception.· I don't
12· ·think that it becomes something other than a business
13· ·record by virtue of the fact that it was going to a
14· ·personal email address.
15· · · · · · ·I suppose we could ask some more questions
16· ·about that email account and so forth, but it seems to
17· ·me that this is all very -- that this is all very
18· ·business related.· So a consultant report falls
19· ·squarely within that exception.
20· · · · · · ·Having said that, I think there's another
21· ·exception here for some of what -- some of the content
22· ·is in here, and that is a present sense impression as
23· ·to Mr. Travaglini's present sense of the situation at
24· ·Hygea, September of 2017.
25· · · · · · ·He says the cash flow was sobering.· That's
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·1· ·a -- quite literally a present sense impression and a
·2· ·mental impression that he had at that time.· So that
·3· ·falls within a hearsay exception as well.
·4· · · · · · ·Beyond that, I believe -- I believe that it
·5· ·is fully admissible for all those reasons.· But, again,
·6· ·this is something that could be taken as something not
·7· ·for the truth of the matter asserted but, rather, as --
·8· ·as something that is part of the ongoing -- a document
·9· ·that is constitutive of the ongoing efforts at Hygea to
10· ·run the corporation.
11· · · · · · ·Once again, whether or not the comments that
12· ·are set forth in the document are true or not, it's an
13· ·indicia of issues at the corporation that its
14· ·consultants are raising these sort of -- these sort of
15· ·problems.· If they're wrong, then -- then that's also
16· ·an issue of corporate instability.· If they don't know
17· ·what they're talking about, that's an issue.
18· · · · · · ·So it -- it, once again, provides context for
19· ·what management was doing.· I would also add going back
20· ·a step that we have heard again that Mr. Travaglini was
21· ·hired by Hygea, so these -- these constitute
22· ·admissions.
23· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, my responses to that
24· ·are a few fold.· First, with respect to the business
25· ·records exception, again, I reiterate this was sent to
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·1· ·Mr. Iglesias' -- what Mr. Iglesias has testified is a
·2· ·personal address.
·3· · · · · · ·In fact, it is addressed to Mr. Iglesias
·4· ·personally.· And even if you read the first few lines,
·5· ·it is talking about giving Mr. Iglesias, I'm
·6· ·paraphrasing here, some advice or comments personally,
·7· ·not to Hygea.· I do think Mr. Kaye has established that
·8· ·this was necessarily within Mr. Travaglini's scope of
·9· ·agency for Hygea.
10· · · · · · ·In addition to that, we not only have what
11· ·appears to be Mr. Travaglini's words, we also have a
12· ·cut-and-paste of a separate email that appears to be
13· ·from Raj, Mr. Natarajan, to Mr. Travaglini.· So we have
14· ·two potential hearsay issues within this document.
15· · · · · · ·I do not really understand the exception
16· ·about demonstrating the issues at -- the potential
17· ·issues at Hygea at this time as being part of any of
18· ·the hearsay exceptions that I'm at least familiar with.
19· ·So I would ask that the hearsay objection be sustained.
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm going to admit the
21· ·September 19, 2017, from 4Front, John, to Manny,
22· ·Mr. Iglesias, not for the truth of the matter asserted,
23· ·but for information that was sent to him.
24· · · · · · ·What about the -- the part from John to John,
25· ·anything else, Mr. Kaye, you want to tell me about that
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·1· ·objection?
·2· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Certainly you're talking about the
·3· ·part beginning under the double -- under the two lines
·4· ·on the second page?
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Right.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I believe that the witness's
·7· ·testimony has -- has shown by -- certainly by a
·8· ·preponderance that that is -- preponderance of the
·9· ·evidence, the inference as well, that that is the
10· ·analysis that Raj provided.· My apologies, I don't
11· ·remember Raj's last name offhand.
12· · · · · · ·But that the analysis that Raj provided that
13· ·Mr. Travaglini was sending along to Mr. Iglesias.· And
14· ·I think that that falls within the same, you know,
15· ·exactly the same sort of rationale -- rationale that
16· ·the Court is employing for the initial -- the initial
17· ·email.
18· · · · · · ·And preserving all of our arguments that it
19· ·ought to come in fully, once again, if none of this is
20· ·being admitted for the truth of the matter asserted,
21· ·that's part of the email that -- that constituted the
22· ·advice and the analysis that was being presented to the
23· ·witness.
24· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I would say
25· ·Mr. Iglesias has repeatedly testified here today that

Page 489
·1· ·he does not even recall receiving the portion
·2· ·underneath the two double lines on page 2 of the email.
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Well, wasn't that -- looking at
·4· ·the first NV5001042, it -- the last sentence, "I asked
·5· ·Raj for his honest comments, and they are below."
·6· · · · · · ·So wasn't this attached to -- at least isn't
·7· ·there a preponderance that this was also included to
·8· ·Mr. Iglesias?
·9· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I, of course, allow Your Honor to
10· ·decide whether there's a preponderance.· I would state
11· ·there is not a preponderance.· But, of course, I would
12· ·defer to Your Honor's judgment on that.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm going to admit it for the
14· ·same -- on the same grounds.· It's not for the truth of
15· ·the matter asserted, but to show information that was
16· ·relayed to Mr. Iglesias.· So it's 26 admitted under
17· ·that for those purposes.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Move on to Exhibit 33,
19· ·Mr. Iglesias.· Do you recognize this document?
20· · · · A.· ·Yes, I do.
21· · · · Q.· ·What is this document?
22· · · · A.· ·It's an email from John Travaglini to me.
23· · · · Q.· ·Dated September 14th of 2017?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·Did you receive this email in the course of
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·1· ·your business?
·2· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And this is again sent to the Yahoo account,
·4· ·correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Based on your understanding of 4Front and how
·7· ·Mr. Travaglini operated, did 4Front send this to you in
·8· ·the course of its business?
·9· · · · A.· ·I don't know why he sent it to my personal
10· ·account.
11· · · · Q.· ·But based on your understanding of 4Front, do
12· ·you believe that 4Front sent this to you as part of its
13· ·professional engagement?
14· · · · A.· ·Let me read the email, and I'll give you my
15· ·opinion.· I think this was a personal email between
16· ·John and I, basically Dutch uncle advice to me
17· ·personally, not part of his engagement with Hygea and,
18· ·therefore, not part of the work product.
19· · · · Q.· ·Do you know if he billed for this letter or
20· ·for this email?
21· · · · A.· ·No idea.· I think we have a strong personal
22· ·relationship independent of Hygea.
23· · · · Q.· ·Can we please read the second paragraph of
24· ·the email.
25· · · · A.· ·"The audit is painful because the company
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·1· ·has not paid any attention to operational efficiencies
·2· ·and prioritize the maximizing revenues.· Simply put,
·3· ·the company has limited infrastructure, records and
·4· ·process to make, monitor and manage money.
·5· · · · · · ·"This is evident by the fact and is not an
·6· ·emotional statement.· The audit is proving to be true.
·7· ·Comparable companies to Hygea are making much more
·8· ·money in terms of cash coming in.· I say all this is an
·9· ·opportunity, not a threat."
10· · · · Q.· ·How did you respond to that?
11· · · · A.· ·There's a lot of truth to what he said.· We
12· ·stopped -- we had been a growth company.· We grew 30
13· ·sometimes over the last five years.· We went from
14· ·$10 million in 2012 to this year 400 in top line
15· ·revenue in large part by both internal growth as well
16· ·as aggressive acquisition.
17· · · · · · ·Just last year, we acquired approximately 20
18· ·entities, practices and IPOs, MSOs, the year before
19· ·probably a comparable number.· When you integrate all
20· ·that together, we grew too fast possibly.
21· · · · · · ·And then we stopped making acquisitions over
22· ·the last year and have been focused on doing a lot of
23· ·the things he's talking about, as a matter of fact,
24· ·doing a lot of things that RIN had suggested that we do
25· ·privately and not through a court-ordered receiver.  A
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·1· ·court-ordered receiver would be the death nail to
·2· ·Hygea.
·3· · · · · · ·But a lot of the suggestions made we've taken
·4· ·to heart.· We have brought in a new senior executive
·5· ·suite.· We have brought in people in the industry who
·6· ·are really knowledgeable.· We have a new CEO.· We have
·7· ·a new CFO.· We have a new COO.· We have a new director
·8· ·of MSO activities.
·9· · · · · · ·We have brought in senior consultants in
10· ·terms of utilization management.· All these people have
11· ·20-plus years each in the industry in managed care in
12· ·Florida.· And I think that we were very responsive to a
13· ·lot of the comments made last year to people who have
14· ·spoken before the Court.
15· · · · Q.· ·So there is nothing in that paragraph that

16· ·you just read with which you disagree?

17· · · · A.· ·It was more correct at the time it was
18· ·written than it is today.· I think that the company
19· ·today is a strong ongoing concern, and we've addressed
20· ·a lot and would be happy to go into detail with you.
21· · · · Q.· ·Can you look -- can you please read the first

22· ·sentence of the email into the record.

23· · · · A.· ·The first sentence?
24· · · · Q.· ·Yes.

25· · · · A.· ·"I think that we should sit down and go over
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·1· ·some stuff prior to going to the UK to raise money."
·2· · · · Q.· ·Did you ever sit down with Mr. Travaglini as
·3· ·he suggested --
·4· · · · A.· ·Many times.
·5· · · · Q.· ·-- as he suggested in that email?
·6· · · · A.· ·I like the part where, "Your company is
·7· ·great, and we need to fix some things."· We fixed some
·8· ·things.· The company's still great.
·9· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I would move to strike that answer
10· ·as non-responsive.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
12· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Did you ever sit down with
13· ·Mr. Travaglini as suggested in the email?
14· · · · A.· ·With both Mr. Travaglini and his partner,
15· ·Raj, who have spent months physically in our offices
16· ·in Miami, in addition to constant interaction by email
17· ·or phone, focused on improving Hygea.
18· · · · Q.· ·So the sit-down that he's talking about is a
19· ·Hygea-related business sit-down, right?
20· · · · A.· ·We have sat down with Mr. Travaglini on
21· ·multiple occasions and his firm, basically his
22· ·partner, to work on improving infrastructure and other
23· ·things at Hygea.
24· · · · Q.· ·But it's not a personal sit-down he wants to
25· ·have.· The stuff that he wants to go over with you
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·1· ·isn't some sort of personal matter, is it?
·2· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor, at this
·3· ·point.· We don't know at this point what
·4· ·Mr. Travaglini's intent was in writing this email.  I
·5· ·don't think Mr. Iglesias can speak to his intent.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, Mr. Iglesias has, I
·7· ·believe, in response to this question testified that he
·8· ·did have sit-down meetings with Mr. Travaglini.· And
·9· ·presumably based on the fact that he had those
10· ·meetings, he can say whether this was a suggestion of a
11· ·professional business-related meeting or a
12· ·friendship-related meeting.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· He can state his impression of
14· ·what it was.
15· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I've had conversations with
16· ·John Travaglini both as -- on a personal level, as well
17· ·as a professional.· And this was a private email I
18· ·believe from John to me.· There are other emails in
19· ·here that are from John to me as -- as CEO and John as
20· ·a consultant of the company.· I don't believe that's
21· ·what this is.
22· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) So your impression of wanting to
23· ·sit down and go over stuff was that he wasn't talking
24· ·about Hygea-related stuff?
25· · · · A.· ·We've actually worked very closely with John
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·1· ·and had referred other clients that he currently has
·2· ·and has raised money for.· And so it may be in that
·3· ·context.· It's a continuing relationship, and they're
·4· ·in parallel tracks.
·5· · · · Q.· ·It's a business relationship though, correct?
·6· · · · A.· ·Everything's a business relationship, but we
·7· ·had both a business and personal relationship.
·8· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, plaintiffs move to
·9· ·admit Exhibit 33.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
11· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I would object it's
12· ·being admitted for the truth of the matters asserted.
13· ·If counsel wants to admit it for -- based on the
14· ·exception Your Honor ruled on with the prior email, I
15· ·have no objection.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm going to admit it not for the
17· ·truth of the matter asserted, but for information that
18· ·was transmitted or communicated to Mr. Iglesias.
19· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.· I would
20· ·just state for the record that we do -- we did seek
21· ·admission under the hearsay exception as well.
22· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Can you please turn your attention
23· ·to Exhibit 37.
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·And I'm going to ask you to turn to the --
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·1· ·for now at least to turn to the -- the page that begins
·2· ·1823.
·3· · · · · · ·Do you recognize this document?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · · Q.· ·What is this document?
·6· · · · A.· ·It's a status report to the board by me
·7· ·dated October 1, 2017.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Is this a true and accurate copy of the
·9· ·status report memorandum that you provided to the
10· ·board?
11· · · · A.· ·I'd have to read it totally, but it seems to
12· ·be correct.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm sorry.· What was the exhibit
14· ·number?
15· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· My apologies, Your Honor.· This is
16· ·37.· But we're looking at the -- few pages in, 1823.
17· ·Essentially I've disregarded the cover email to the
18· ·memorandum.
19· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.
20· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) And can you please read the
21· ·second paragraph of the memorandum that you provided to
22· ·the board.
23· · · · A.· ·"We have stopped 'bolting' on revenue and
24· ·are now focused on organic (growing inward) to
25· ·maximize both efficiencies and create additional
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·1· ·revenues from the base we currently have."
·2· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) And "bolting revenue," that means

·3· ·you're buying new practices and trying to put those

·4· ·practices -- revenue based on those practices on your

·5· ·books; is that correct?

·6· · · · A.· ·Bolting on revenue means that we identify

·7· ·and acquire practices and add that to our revenue
·8· ·pool, yes, sir.

·9· · · · Q.· ·Let's go on to the next paragraph, and I'd

10· ·like you to begin reading -- I'd like you to read the

11· ·second sentence of that next paragraph.

12· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Which sentence?
13· · · · Q.· ·The second sentence beginning at the end of

14· ·the first line, "The audit process."

15· · · · A.· ·Oh.· I'm sorry.· The third full paragraph,
16· ·second sentence?

17· · · · Q.· ·Yes.· "The audit process."

18· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· "The audit process for 2014-2015
19· ·and to some extent 2016 has demonstrated that the

20· ·company had limited infrastructures, record and
21· ·process to make, monitor and manage money during those

22· ·periods."

23· · · · Q.· ·And read the next sentence, please.

24· · · · A.· ·"Historically, the company's biggest

25· ·weakness has been financial accounting, managerial
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·1· ·accounting, and data analytics."
·2· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, plaintiffs move to
·3· ·admit Exhibit 37, but I would exclude the first two
·4· ·pages, such that were beginning at 1823.· So just the
·5· ·memorandum, not the cover email.
·6· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I have no objection to
·7· ·its admission.
·8· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Exhibit 37 beginning at NV5001823
·9· ·through the end NV5001826 are admitted.
10· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Now, earlier we talked about
11· ·Exhibit 6.· I'd like to turn your attention back to
12· ·Exhibit 6 if you don't mind.
13· · · · · · ·You testified earlier relating to the
14· ·definition of borrowers up at the top of the page;
15· ·isn't that right?
16· · · · A.· ·I said that the two companies, Hygea
17· ·Holdings Corp. and Hygea Health Holdings, Inc., were
18· ·collectively referred to as "borrowers" in the letter
19· ·from Bridging Finance.
20· · · · Q.· ·Now, is Hygea Holdings Corporation as
21· ·indicated there, you understand that to mean Hygea
22· ·Holdings Corp.?
23· · · · A.· ·Yes.
24· · · · Q.· ·Which is the corporation that is a party to
25· ·this lawsuit, correct?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Which is a parent company, yes, sir.
·2· · · · Q.· ·What is Hygea Health Holdings, Inc.?
·3· · · · A.· ·It's our operating subsidiary, Florida
·4· ·based.· The Hygea Holding Corporation is a
·5· ·Nevada-based corporation.
·6· · · · Q.· ·How many other Hygea entities are there,
·7· ·correspondent entities?
·8· · · · A.· ·Companies owned by Hygea?
·9· · · · Q.· ·Let me ask you this:· How many other
10· ·corporations are there that have Hygea in their name?
11· · · · A.· ·I couldn't tell you.· I -- I don't know.
12· ·Maybe three, maybe half a dozen.· I couldn't tell you.
13· · · · Q.· ·What's the most that you think might
14· ·reasonably be the number?
15· · · · A.· ·Half a dozen.
16· · · · Q.· ·So you don't think there could be more than
17· ·half a dozen?
18· · · · A.· ·I'm guessing.· I don't know.· I know we have
19· ·active about 35 companies under Hygea Holdings Corp.,
20· ·but I don't -- I don't know how many of those have the
21· ·Hygea name in it.
22· · · · Q.· ·There's 35 corporations under Hygea Holdings
23· ·Corp.?
24· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection; mischaracterizes the
25· ·witness's testimony.
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·1· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I'm asking if that's correct.
·2· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.
·3· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· There's a list I believe in the
·4· ·draft Q of E of our active companies.
·5· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Are there any inactive companies?
·6· · · · A.· ·I'm assuming so, yes, sir.
·7· · · · Q.· ·How many inactive companies are there?
·8· · · · A.· ·No idea.
·9· · · · Q.· ·More than 10?
10· · · · A.· ·No idea, sir.
11· · · · Q.· ·More than 100?
12· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
14· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Asked and answered.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
16· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) So you have no idea at all how
17· ·many inactive companies?
18· · · · A.· ·Do not.
19· · · · Q.· ·Let me be precise.· When I'm saying
20· ·"companies," I'm meaning corporations as well.
21· · · · A.· ·I'm assuming you mean limited liability
22· ·corporations and incorporated companies?
23· · · · Q.· ·That was the next thing I was going to say,
24· ·some sort of corporate entity, be it a --
25· · · · A.· ·That's what I understood.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·-- corporation, LLC, etc.· Do I need to
·2· ·restate any of my questions?
·3· · · · A.· ·No, sir.
·4· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I would object, Your Honor.· It's
·5· ·been asked and answered.· There's a pending question
·6· ·about whether Mr. Iglesias has any idea.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
·8· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Do any of the -- what do you mean
·9· ·when you say "inactive corporation"?
10· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor;
11· ·mischaracterizes the witness's testimony.· Those were
12· ·Mr. Kaye's words.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.
14· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) What do you mean when you say
15· ·"inactive corporation"?
16· · · · A.· ·Can I give you an example?
17· · · · Q.· ·I want an answer to the question.· If an
18· ·example helps, you can give an example.
19· · · · A.· ·Is a corporation that at some point we
20· ·acquired that was probably active in terms that it
21· ·created revenue.· It's no longer active because it
22· ·creates no revenue or has no purpose.· So we in most
23· ·instances did not renew it as we do with our annual
24· ·filings and let it lapse.
25· · · · Q.· ·Do any of these inactive corporations retain

Page 502
·1· ·bank accounts?
·2· · · · A.· ·No.
·3· · · · Q.· ·But it's true that when a corporation's
·4· ·existence lapses, the bank account could still remain
·5· ·at the bank; isn't that right?
·6· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· This calls
·7· ·for a legal conclusion.
·8· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm not asking about a
·9· ·legal conclusion, I'm asking operationally.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.
11· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't believe that that's
12· ·something that we do.
13· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) I'm not asking what you do.· I'm
14· ·just saying that could happen, correct?
15· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· He's
16· ·asking the witness a hypothetical, which may or may not
17· ·be within the witness's knowledge to even answer.
18· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· If you know, you can
19· ·answer.
20· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't know.
21· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) The corporations that became
22· ·inactive, at one time they had bank accounts, right?
23· · · · A.· ·Not all of them.
24· · · · Q.· ·Why wouldn't one of them have a bank account?
25· · · · A.· ·It may have been created as an acquisition
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·1· ·vehicle, and the acquired, usually practice or MSO,
·2· ·but practice over time was incorporated into our
·3· ·integrated group practice so that that doctor no
·4· ·longer had his own individual PA.
·5· · · · · · ·So there was no need for either the historic
·6· ·PA that that doctor owned or which we controlled or the
·7· ·intervening corporation that was set up to make that
·8· ·acquisition.
·9· · · · · · ·So in that case, once that doctor's fully
10· ·integrated into one of our regional integrated group
11· ·practices, neither the acquiring intermediary
12· ·subsidiary of Hygea or the acquired physician practice
13· ·have a reason for being.
14· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I'm also going to
15· ·object at this point to relevance.· I'm not sure what
16· ·the relevance of this line of questioning is.
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· What is the relevance?
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, let me ask some
19· ·questions that may shed some light on the relevance, if
20· ·I may.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You may.
22· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Hygea Holding Corp. makes money
23· ·from insurance reimbursements, correct?
24· · · · A.· ·That's one of its major sources of income,
25· ·yes, sir.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Do all of those insurance reimbursements come
·2· ·into Hygea Holdings Corp.?
·3· · · · A.· ·I would say that none of them come into
·4· ·Hygea Holding Corp.· They go into -- I can't tell you
·5· ·right now if any of the contracts are contracted
·6· ·directly with Hygea Holdings Corp.
·7· · · · · · ·It is my belief that they are the -- the HMO
·8· ·contracts I believe are contracted with Hygea
·9· ·subsidiaries, and the medical revenue from -- on the
10· ·fee for service side are contracted with the Hygea
11· ·integrated group practices and/or the individual
12· ·practices that have yet to be integrated.
13· · · · · · ·I don't believe there's any actual revenue
14· ·coming into, it's all consolidated on a financial
15· ·statement basis.· But I do not believe that Hygea
16· ·Holdings Corp. per se is a recipient of revenue.
17· · · · Q.· ·Are you testifying that you don't know how
18· ·the money gets into Hygea from the insurance companies?
19· · · · A.· ·I know per contract, yes.
20· · · · Q.· ·Didn't you just say you don't know what the
21· ·contracts say?· I'm asking what you know.
22· · · · A.· ·In that case, I don't know.
23· · · · Q.· ·What entities other than Hygea Holdings Corp.
24· ·received payments from insurance providers?· And I
25· ·include in there the United States government.
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·1· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor,

·2· ·mischaracterizes the witness's testimony about which

·3· ·entity receives revenue.
·4· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· You can answer.

·5· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· We have entities, MSO entities.
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Can you raise your voice just a
·7· ·little bit?

·8· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm sorry, Your Honor.· Could
·9· ·you repeat the question?
10· · · · · · ·(By Mr. Kaye) Other than Hygea Holdings
11· ·Corp., what other entities -- what other Hygea entities
12· ·receive insurance reimbursements?
13· · · · A.· ·Hygea Health Holdings and its subsidiaries,
14· ·for example, Palm Medical Network, the IPA.· Under
15· ·Palm Medical Network, there are a series of sub MSO
16· ·agreements.
17· · · · · · ·You referenced some earlier in the contracts.
18· ·They're subsidiaries of Hygea Health Holdings.· The
19· ·doctors' practices, for example, Dr. Gaylis, who spoke
20· ·via video, Norman Gaylis, MDPA receives reimbursement
21· ·from insurance companies.
22· · · · · · ·We have three regional integrated group
23· ·practices.· Each one receives reimbursements from
24· ·insurance companies, so there are multiple entities
25· ·that receive -- are the direct recipient of the funds.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And not all that money gets to Hygea Holdings

·2· ·Corp., does it?
·3· · · · A.· ·It -- we sweep all the accounts and -- where
·4· ·possible and make payments either through Hygea Health
·5· ·Holdings and/or through Hygea Holdings Corp.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Where possible.· So Hygea Holdings Corp.

·7· ·doesn't get all of the money to your knowledge?

·8· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever determined how much of the

10· ·money coming in to the Hygea system fails to reach
11· ·Hygea Holdings Corp.?

12· · · · A.· ·No.
13· · · · Q.· ·Doesn't that seem to you to be an important
14· ·issue for Hygea Holdings Corp.?

15· · · · A.· ·We end up having consolidated statements,
16· ·and our accounting department is very capable of
17· ·understanding where the funds are within the Hygea
18· ·family of companies.· And so I -- I think your
19· ·question is incorrect from an accounting standpoint
20· ·how a large corporation works respectfully.
21· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I would move to strike the
22· ·commentary about the evaluation of the -- of the

23· ·question.

24· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
25· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Okay.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) As we sit here today, can you name
·2· ·any other entity that received funds that should have

·3· ·flowed through the network into Hygea Holdings Corp.?

·4· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor;
·5· ·mischaracterizes the witness's earlier testimony.

·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, that didn't
·7· ·characterize any testimony.

·8· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· You can answer.

·9· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· To my knowledge at this point,
10· ·there are only three practices that are currently not
11· ·allowing us to transfer money, wholly-owned practices,
12· ·to Hygea.· And those are the Cohen, Gaylis, and
13· ·Horowitz practices, but I am now removed from
14· ·day-to-day management, so my information on this issue
15· ·may be stale.
16· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Are there any other entities other

17· ·than those three that you mentioned that you know or have
18· ·any knowledge of receiving money that should have gone to

19· ·Hygea Holdings Corp. that did not arrive at Hygea Holdings

20· ·Corp.?
21· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· Perhaps I

22· ·should make the correct objection now.· It's a lack of

23· ·foundation.· I don't think there's any facts in
24· ·evidence right now that certain monies should have gone

25· ·into Hygea Holdings Corp. versus any other entity.
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·1· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
·2· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Hygea Holdings Corp. is the parent
·3· ·company of the Hygea network, is that what you've
·4· ·testified to?
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And is the business model -- isn't the
·7· ·business model of the Hygea network predicated on money
·8· ·ultimately coming to Hygea Holdings Corp.?
·9· · · · A.· ·Or Hygea Health Holdings as its operational
10· ·entity, major operational entity.· For example, Hygea
11· ·Holding -- I'm sorry -- Hygea Health Holdings, Inc. is
12· ·where monies go in to make such payments as all
13· ·payroll.· I believe that from that company, most rents
14· ·are paid.
15· · · · · · ·So the actual operations of the company in
16· ·large part rest at a combination of either Hygea Health
17· ·Holdings and/or Hygea Holdings Corp.· And our finance
18· ·department, revenue enters both.
19· · · · · · ·All the revenue that enters into Hygea Health
20· ·Holdings doesn't necessarily get deposited into Hygea
21· ·Holdings Corp.· A lot of that is paid directly -- a lot
22· ·of the expenses are paid for directly by Hygea Health
23· ·Holdings.· Its wholly-owned subsidiary and operating
24· ·company.
25· · · · Q.· ·So let me see if I follow this.· Money might
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·1· ·be used for operational purposes at the Hygea Health
·2· ·Holdings level, but all of the, for lack of a better
·3· ·term, profit is supposed to flow to Hygea Holdings
·4· ·Corp.; is that correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·No, that is not correct.· Money stays where
·6· ·accounting -- our chief financial officer deems it
·7· ·best to stay in.· Profit is -- respectfully, I think
·8· ·you're confusing cash flow with profits.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Why don't you explain the difference to me.
10· · · · A.· ·We're a very profitable company from an
11· ·EBITDA standpoint.· We've had -- have helped
12· ·identify -- have had a cash flow issue over the last
13· ·six, nine months.
14· · · · Q.· ·So I'll use -- I'll use cash flow then.
15· · · · · · ·Am I correct that the model for the Hygea
16· ·network is supposed to be that even if cash is used at
17· ·the Hygea Health Holdings level to pay certain
18· ·expenses, the cash flow is supposed to flow up to Hygea
19· ·Holdings Corp.?
20· · · · A.· ·I do not believe that's the way it actually
21· ·works.
22· · · · Q.· ·And did you testify a moment ago that the way
23· ·it actually works is that the CFO kind of determines
24· ·where the money is supposed to be within the Hygea
25· ·network?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Based on availability of cash and
·2· ·requirements of payments that need to be made, yes.
·3· · · · Q.· ·So there's a lot of money moving around
·4· ·within the system; is that right?
·5· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·6· · · · Q.· ·What are the other corporations other than
·7· ·Hygea Holdings Corp. and Hygea Health Holdings that you
·8· ·remember that have Hygea in their name?
·9· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor; asked and
10· ·answered.
11· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I believe we -- I
12· ·asked about the number of corporations, and he gave an
13· ·answer as to that.· I don't think we've talked about
14· ·what the actual corporations were.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· Go ahead.
16· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't remember specifically
17· ·which companies may have the Hygea in their name.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Of the corporations, the roughly
19· ·35 corporations within the Hygea network, other than Hygea
20· ·Holdings Corp. and other than Hygea Health Holdings, Inc.,
21· ·what do those other corporations do?
22· · · · A.· ·They have -- they house individual HMO, MSO
23· ·agreements.· They're practices that are in the process
24· ·of being integrated.· They're inactive from the
25· ·standpoint that they're not active companies.
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·1· · · · · · ·They're active legally, but they're
·2· ·pass-through from the standpoint they were created to
·3· ·make certain discrete acquisitions.· So it's an
·4· ·intermediary company between either Hygea Holdings
·5· ·Corp. and/or Hygea Health Holdings, both of which have
·6· ·made acquisitions and the ultimate acquiring --
·7· ·acquired party.
·8· · · · · · ·We have two management companies that we use
·9· ·to manage a lot of our acquired entities.· That's
10· ·pretty much the mix of types of companies.· Was that
11· ·your question?· I'm sorry.· Did I respond to your
12· ·question?
13· · · · Q.· ·Well, can you think of any specific

14· ·corporation within the network that matches up to any

15· ·of the specific roles you've discussed?

16· · · · A.· ·Physicians Management Company Southeast and
17· ·Physicians Management Company are two of our two
18· ·management companies.· Sussman and Staller, MDPA has
19· ·been converted to Hygea South Florida IGP, integrated
20· ·group practice.
21· · · · · · ·We own MedCare clinics.· We own MedPlan
22· ·Medical Centers.· We own MedPlan Discount Plan.· It's
23· ·a -- not an insurance, but a discount plan that Hygea
24· ·owns.· We own the Amir Family, MDPA.· We own Mid
25· ·Florida Adult Medicine.· Those are some of the firms
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·1· ·that we --
·2· · · · Q.· ·Are these wholly-owned subsidiaries?

·3· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Are there any partially owned subsidiaries

·5· ·or, to put it another way, are there any other

·6· ·corporate entities in which Hygea Holdings Corp. has an

·7· ·interest?

·8· · · · A.· ·They're all listed, but I believe at this
·9· ·point all the entities that Hygea owns Hygea owns
10· ·100 percent of.
11· · · · Q.· ·That Hygea Holdings Corp. owns?

12· · · · A.· ·That Hygea Holdings Corp. or that Hygea
13· ·Health Holdings own, they own 100 percent of.
14· · · · Q.· ·Do any of the subsidiaries have an interest

15· ·in any other corporations?

16· · · · A.· ·Except for those pass-through subsidiaries,
17· ·for example, that were created to acquire a practice.
18· ·So Hygea Health Holding, we may have created an LLC to
19· ·acquire practice ABC, but we own 100 percent of the
20· ·intervening practice.· And we either own 100 percent
21· ·of the acquired medical office, or we have an option
22· ·to acquire the entity.
23· · · · Q.· ·And any one of these entities could be

24· ·receiving insurance reimbursements?

25· · · · A.· ·If they're still active as a medical
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·1· ·practice, they would be receiving insurance
·2· ·reimbursements.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And any of these entities could be -- could
·4· ·be housing cash within the Hygea network?
·5· · · · A.· ·Anybody who houses cash in our organization?
·6· ·Yes, it could be in theory.
·7· · · · Q.· ·During your time with Hygea, how many bank
·8· ·accounts has Hygea Holdings Corp. had?
·9· · · · A.· ·Hygea Holdings Corp.?· We have, I believe,
10· ·three accounts with Wells Fargo under Hygea Holdings
11· ·Corp. or Hygea Health Holdings, and a similar number
12· ·with another bank.
13· · · · Q.· ·What's that other bank?
14· · · · A.· ·City National Bank.
15· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I'm going to renew my
16· ·objection.· We sat here I think for maybe 20 or
17· ·30 minutes now, and I still don't understand the
18· ·relevance of this line of questioning.
19· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I can speak to a
20· ·couple things I think is relevant about it.· We just
21· ·heard that within -- there's a network of about 35
22· ·corporate entities that any -- any one of those
23· ·corporate entities could be storing cash or housing
24· ·cash.· I think there was some -- some suggestion that
25· ·right now there's not cash, but if they were, they
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·1· ·could be storing them.
·2· · · · · · ·We also heard that is allocated by the CFO.
·3· ·We've also heard that any one of those corporations
·4· ·that is active could be receiving -- could be receiving
·5· ·insurance reimbursements.
·6· · · · · · ·So I think that this goes to the
·7· ·managerial -- the management issues, the financial
·8· ·management issues that have been at issue throughout
·9· ·this case.
10· · · · · · ·We heard just a few moments ago -- we were
11· ·looking at some materials talking about some of those
12· ·issues and the operational difficulties, the
13· ·difficulties of integrating all these things.· This
14· ·gets exactly to that.
15· · · · · · ·As to the bank accounts, we heard yesterday
16· ·from Mr. Dragelin that he found a bank account that he
17· ·had not previously known about in the course of his
18· ·work for Hygea.
19· · · · · · ·So at the very least, this gets to some of --
20· ·I think two things that might be two sides of the same
21· ·coin.· One is the operational difficulties here, and
22· ·the other is some explanation, perhaps, shedding some
23· ·light on why there have been some of these difficulties
24· ·with getting audited financial statements.
25· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I will say I didn't
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·1· ·realize operational difficulties was a basis for the
·2· ·appointment of a receiver under 78.650, 630, or 32.010.
·3· ·Certainly the existence of bank accounts or a loan I
·4· ·don't think is relevant to this action.
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· It seems to me what is missing
·6· ·is -- and I -- I'm not saying you said this exactly,
·7· ·but as I was writing while you were speaking, Mr. Kaye,
·8· ·they could be storing cash, could be receiving -- if
·9· ·there's not evidence connecting that up, I'm not seeing
10· ·relevance.
11· · · · · · ·If you have evidence that, in fact, they are
12· ·storing cash and that is some ground for appointment of
13· ·a receiver, that the -- that they are, in fact,
14· ·receiving insurance reimbursements and that.· But it
15· ·seems to me there's a break between the interesting
16· ·information you've been eliciting and the cause of
17· ·action.
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I -- I appreciate
19· ·that.· First of all, that's why I'm asking the
20· ·questions because as we have discussed throughout this
21· ·proceeding, we don't know the answers to these
22· ·questions, and we don't have the evidence of this.
23· · · · · · ·And in the context of this case in particular
24· ·where we haven't done, you know, any sort of
25· ·conventional discovery, we don't have records that we
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·1· ·can show, okay, Can you explain this transaction, can
·2· ·you explain that transaction?
·3· · · · · · ·What -- and so the reason for the questions
·4· ·is to -- is to get at that.· But I do have -- I do have
·5· ·some -- perhaps some questions that can tie that in
·6· ·that I'm happy to proceed with.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We're going to take our lunch
·8· ·break.· I'm going to give him some latitude to show me
·9· ·how it's connected up.· So we'll do that after lunch.
10· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We will be in recess.· I have --
12· ·we're going to have to take a little longer lunch than
13· ·normal.· How are we doing on remaining time?
14· · · · · · ·COURT CLERK:· Plaintiffs have 3 hours, 21
15· ·minutes, and 53 seconds.· And defendants have 10 hours,
16· ·17 minutes, and 4 seconds.
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I will try to be back at 1:15.
18· ·I'm not sure I can make that.· It won't be later than
19· ·1:30, but it sounds like we need that 15 minutes if we
20· ·can get it done.· So let's plan on 1:15.
21· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
22· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You can step down.
23· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, sir.
24· · · · · · ·(Recess taken at 11:57, resuming at 1:30.)
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Please be seated.· Just couldn't
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·1· ·be done by 1:15.· I apologize.· We're back on 18 OC 71,
·2· ·Arellano v. Hygea.· Everybody but Mr. Ewing is present.
·3· · · · · · ·Mr. Iglesias is on the --
·4· · · · · · ·MR. CARLSON:· Your Honor, if I may for a
·5· ·second, Ms. Zimmerman had to step out for --
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We are apparently not running
·7· ·yet.
·8· · · · · · ·(A discussion was had off the record.)
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We are back on 18 OC 71,
10· ·Arellano v. Hygea.· Almost all counsel are present.
11· · · · · · ·Mr. Carlson?
12· · · · · · ·MR. CARLSON:· Yes.· Ms. Zimmerman had to step
13· ·out to handle another client matter.· I expect her back
14· ·this afternoon.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mr. Ewing is not present right
16· ·now.· Mr. Iglesias is on the stand.
17· · · · · · ·Mr. Kaye, your continued direct.
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
19· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Mr. Iglesias, can you please
20· ·turn your attention to Exhibit --
21· · · · · · ·COURT CLERK:· I don't think he has any
22· ·exhibits.· We have them.
23· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Oh, my apologies.· I didn't
24· ·realize they had gone back.
25· · · · · · ·COURT CLERK:· What did you guys need?
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·1· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· 193.
·2· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, sir.
·3· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) And if you can -- well, first of
·4· ·all, this is the quality -- the draft quality of earnings
·5· ·report that we discussed earlier; isn't that correct?
·6· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·7· · · · Q.· ·And can you please turn to page Bates 654.  I
·8· ·think the Bates is on the side of that -- of that page,
·9· ·if that's something that helps you find it.
10· · · · A.· ·654.
11· · · · Q.· ·And earlier I believe you testified that the
12· ·wholly-owned subsidiaries of Hygea were illustrated or
13· ·were show on a -- on -- in a chart or something along
14· ·those lines in the quality of earnings report draft; is
15· ·that correct?
16· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
17· · · · Q.· ·And is this that chart or that image to which
18· ·you were referring?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
20· · · · Q.· ·And are the entities that are listed in the
21· ·largest of the -- of the boxes there, are those all of
22· ·the wholly-owned subsidiaries?
23· · · · A.· ·All the entities in any one of the four
24· ·boxes are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Hygea Holdings
25· ·Corp., some directly and some indirectly.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·In what respect would a -- in what respect do
·2· ·you mean "indirectly"?
·3· · · · A.· ·Well, for example, in the big box at the
·4· ·bottom, those are owned directly by Hygea Health
·5· ·Holdings, Inc., which in turn is owned by Hygea of
·6· ·Delaware, LLC, which in turn is owned by Hygea
·7· ·Holdings Corp., the parent company.
·8· · · · Q.· ·So they're wholly-owned subsidiaries, but
·9· ·there's a corporation in between?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
11· · · · Q.· ·And what is Hygea of Delaware, LLC?
12· · · · A.· ·Hygea of Delaware, LLC I'm not very familiar
13· ·with.· It's inactive.· It was going to be active
14· ·with -- in regards to -- utilized when Hygea was going
15· ·to go public through Toronto, through the Toronto
16· ·exchange.
17· · · · Q.· ·And are all the -- are the entities shown on
18· ·this sheet, is that all of the wholly-owned
19· ·subsidiaries?
20· · · · A.· ·I would suggest yes, sir, that I'm aware of.
21· · · · Q.· ·And the flipside of that, are there -- are
22· ·there any entities shown on here that are not
23· ·wholly-owned subsidiaries?
24· · · · A.· ·My belief is that -- for some of the
25· ·practices, we buy them in two steps or acquire them in
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·1· ·two steps, and we do an asset acquisition of the
·2· ·practice.· We do not acquire the interest in the
·3· ·entity.· We have an option under our contracts to
·4· ·acquire that entity if we want to.
·5· · · · · · ·But in essence, what we do over the course of
·6· ·a year is transfer the physician to our integrated
·7· ·group practice and transfer -- contract with them under
·8· ·our integrated group practice, at which point at the
·9· ·end of that process, we just dissolve or let the -- the
10· ·PA dissolve statutorily.
11· · · · Q.· ·Have any insurance reimbursements for Hygea,

12· ·for the Hygea network, ever gone to an entity that was

13· ·not a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hygea?

14· · · · A.· ·Again, when we buy a practice on day one, we
15· ·take management control and ownership of all revenue.
16· ·But technically from a legal standpoint, we may not
17· ·own the PA, the licensed provider.· I can get a lot
18· ·more specific if you want.· I don't want to take your
19· ·time, but --
20· · · · Q.· ·Is the short answer that insurance

21· ·reimbursements have gone to entities that are not

22· ·wholly-owned subsidiaries?

23· · · · A.· ·No insurance reimbursement has gone to an
24· ·entity that is not controlled 100 percent by Hygea,
25· ·whether through ownership or a management agreement.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·But insurance reimbursements have gone to
·2· ·entities that are not wholly-owned subsidiaries,
·3· ·correct?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Earlier we were discussing some bank
·6· ·accounts.· I believe you testified that there were
·7· ·three Hygea Holdings accounts -- perhaps Hygea Health
·8· ·Holdings at Wells Fargo, and that there were three at
·9· ·another bank; is that correct?
10· · · · A.· ·With the name of Hygea.
11· · · · Q.· ·What other names would there be?
12· · · · A.· ·There were -- there are bank accounts for
13· ·most of these entities listed in this page.
14· · · · Q.· ·Now, do you currently have signatory rights
15· ·to the Hygea bank accounts?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes, I do.
17· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Who else has rights to those,
18· ·signatory rights to them?
19· · · · A.· ·Currently Ted Moffly and Sergey Savchenko.
20· · · · Q.· ·Now, for a long time, you were the only
21· ·person with signature --
22· · · · A.· ·That never happened.· There were at least
23· ·three signors on that account.· That information said
24· ·yesterday in court was incorrect.
25· · · · Q.· ·So it's your contention, it's your testimony
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·1· ·that you never had sole signatory rights to any of the
·2· ·Hygea accounts?
·3· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And what about the accounts for the
·5· ·wholly-owned subsidiaries other than Hygea Holdings
·6· ·Corp., which is not a subsidiary, Hygea of Delaware,
·7· ·LLC, and Hygea Health Holdings, Inc., as to the other
·8· ·subsidiaries?
·9· · · · A.· ·What's the question?
10· · · · Q.· ·I'm getting there.
11· · · · · · ·As to the other subsidiaries --
12· · · · A.· ·So Hygea of Delaware --
13· · · · Q.· ·If I can finish?
14· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.
15· · · · Q.· ·Of the other subsidiaries, who has control
16· ·over those bank accounts?
17· · · · A.· ·Hygea of Delaware is a passive entity, has
18· ·no bank accounts.· Hygea Health Holdings is one of two
19· ·entities that I mentioned had three accounts in
20· ·Wells Fargo and one or two accounts in CNB, City
21· ·National Bank.
22· · · · · · ·In those accounts, the signors are -- we've
23· ·been in the process of getting Sergey on the accounts.
24· ·Definitely in CNB, he's on the accounts.· And I believe
25· ·he's also on the accounts at Wells Fargo currently.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·I may have been unclear in how I asked the
·2· ·question.· I'm asking about the subsidiaries other than
·3· ·Hygea of Delaware, other than Hygea Health Holdings,
·4· ·Inc., the bottom-level or ground-level subsidiaries,
·5· ·who has signatory rights over to those entities' bank
·6· ·accounts.
·7· · · · A.· ·Most of those, someone -- and I -- I don't
·8· ·believe I have sole signature on any.· I believe that
·9· ·there are at least two or three signors on each one of
10· ·those entities.
11· · · · Q.· ·Who are the other signors?
12· · · · A.· ·Most of the ones that are still PAs that are
13· ·active have the signors of the selling physician, if
14· ·he was a signor at the time.· And the rest, it's a
15· ·combination of Ted, now Sergey, and I.
16· · · · Q.· ·So the CFO wouldn't have signature --
17· ·signatory rights to all those accounts, correct?
18· · · · A.· ·Ted Moffly was the CFO for the first umpteen
19· ·years of our organization, and he's always had
20· ·signature rights.· As we transition now from his being
21· ·the CFO to Mr. Savchenko, Mr. Savchenko has been
22· ·brought in as a signor.
23· · · · · · ·So currently we have in most of these
24· ·practices, in addition to the potentially selling
25· ·physician or an administrator in that practice who has
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·1· ·just discrete signing authority for PA, a combination
·2· ·of Mr. Moffly, Mr. Savchenko, and I.· And I'm in the
·3· ·process of being taken out of signing authority across
·4· ·the board as we speak.
·5· · · · Q.· ·If there's a single CFO who has signatory
·6· ·rights across the board, how does the CFO move money
·7· ·between the entities within the network?
·8· · · · A.· ·That's an accounting -- we move -- they're
·9· ·in the same banks, and we move -- they're related
10· ·entities.· They're wholly owned.· And the way it's
11· ·structured within the entities, they can be moved, the
12· ·funds can be moved within the entities.
13· · · · Q.· ·Even without signature rights on the bank
14· ·accounts?
15· · · · A.· ·With electronic banking.
16· · · · Q.· ·What were the entities that were not
17· ·wholly-owned subsidiaries that received insurance
18· ·reimbursements?
19· · · · A.· ·At some point every physician practice for a
20· ·time being was not wholly owned, so --
21· · · · Q.· ·Can you name a specific one?· Can you
22· ·remember any specific one?
23· · · · A.· ·Sure.· Amir Family, MDPA.
24· · · · Q.· ·Can you remember any other specific ones?
25· · · · A.· ·Cardella Consultants of West Broward;
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·1· ·MedPlan Clinics; Medcare Quality Medical Centers; Mid
·2· ·Florida Adult Medicine; Norman B. Gaylis, MDPA;
·3· ·Patricia M. Martindale, MDPA; Physicians Group of
·4· ·South Florida, PA; Solomon & Solomon Medical Clinic,
·5· ·LLC; Saverstein & Horowitz, MDPA.
·6· · · · Q.· ·You're no longer the CEO?
·7· · · · A.· ·I am no longer the CEO.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Is that correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
10· · · · Q.· ·Were you terminated, or did you resign?
11· · · · A.· ·I resigned.
12· · · · Q.· ·When did you resign?
13· · · · A.· ·About two, three weeks ago.
14· · · · Q.· ·How did you effectuate that resignation?
15· · · · A.· ·At the board.· We had a board meeting, and I
16· ·resigned, and we named Keith Collins initially interim
17· ·CEO -- actually, more than three weeks ago.· And
18· ·subsequent to that, we've named a full -- full-term
19· ·CEO.· We took the interim out.· He's now full.
20· · · · Q.· ·So Mr. Keith Collins is the permanent CEO at
21· ·that point?
22· · · · A.· ·Yes, he is.
23· · · · Q.· ·And there is no other ongoing search for a
24· ·CEO?
25· · · · A.· ·Not at this point.· We had a national
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·1· ·search, interviewed a whole series of people, made one
·2· ·or two offers.· And at the end during the process
·3· ·during which he had been interim CEO, we determined
·4· ·that we had a tremendous CEO already sitting in place.
·5· ·The board decided to offer him a permanent position.
·6· · · · Q.· ·He's a better CEO than you were?
·7· · · · A.· ·I hope so.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Who did you make the offers to?
·9· · · · A.· ·At one point we made an offer to a gentleman
10· ·identified by RIN Capital with their national search,
11· ·Michael Muchnicki, who had been the president of
12· ·United Health Care for South Florida.· There are one
13· ·or two others that we interviewed.
14· · · · Q.· ·That you interviewed or that you made an
15· ·offer to?
16· · · · A.· ·We -- with the other one, I can't remember
17· ·the gentleman's name, but we negotiated, and at the
18· ·end it didn't work out.
19· · · · Q.· ·Why didn't it work out?
20· · · · A.· ·Well, with Michael Muchnicki, he's still
21· ·affiliated with us.· He didn't want the full
22· ·responsibility of CEO.· He is -- so we're trying to
23· ·renegotiate another status with him as well, either as
24· ·an in-house executive or as a consultant.
25· · · · · · ·But he still works with us on a daily basis.
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·1· ·And the other gentleman just didn't work out.· We
·2· ·didn't think he had the qualities necessary for the
·3· ·position.
·4· · · · Q.· ·When you resigned to the board, did you do
·5· ·that verbally or in writing?
·6· · · · A.· ·I believe I did it verbally, but it was
·7· ·memorialized in the board minutes, so it would be --
·8· · · · Q.· ·Have those board minutes been circulated to
·9· ·your knowledge?
10· · · · A.· ·I assume so.
11· · · · Q.· ·You're still on the board, right?
12· · · · A.· ·I am on the board.
13· · · · Q.· ·In fact, you're the co-chair of the board;
14· ·isn't that correct?
15· · · · A.· ·I am the co-chair of the board.
16· · · · Q.· ·The board minutes have not been approved?
17· · · · A.· ·I believe for that position, they have been.
18· ·That position has been approved.· And I believe those
19· ·board minutes, which are not -- have been circulated.
20· ·But I can't warrant that right now.
21· · · · Q.· ·You're not a CPA, correct?
22· · · · A.· ·No, sir.
23· · · · Q.· ·And you're not a doctor, correct?
24· · · · A.· ·Only in jurisprudence.
25· · · · Q.· ·And you are a lawyer?
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·1· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·2· · · · Q.· ·You're a securities lawyer; isn't that true?
·3· · · · A.· ·I've had two careers in law, one as a
·4· ·corporate securities, and then this century -- that
·5· ·was last century.· This century I've been a healthcare
·6· ·lawyer primarily.
·7· · · · Q.· ·You've drafted documents as a lawyer,
·8· ·correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·Yes, I have.
10· · · · Q.· ·And been very careful when you draft
11· ·documents, right?
12· · · · A.· ·They always look worse in court, but yes.
13· · · · Q.· ·You never had a reputation as a lawyer of
14· ·someone who was prone to mistakes; is that true?
15· · · · A.· ·You're being too nice.
16· · · · Q.· ·Are you familiar -- do you currently maintain
17· ·a law practice?
18· · · · A.· ·I do not.
19· · · · Q.· ·When was the last time you represented
20· ·somebody, you had a legal client?
21· · · · A.· ·Eight years ago.· Other than family, they
22· ·never go away, but -- and some friends.· Basically
23· ·about eight years ago.
24· · · · Q.· ·Are you familiar with referral fees?
25· · · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever received a referral fee for
·2· ·work that somebody performed for or relating to Hygea?
·3· · · · A.· ·Never.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Has any law practice with which you were
·5· ·engaged ever received such a -- such a referral fee?
·6· · · · A.· ·No.· Hygea was a client of a practice that I
·7· ·was a member of ten years ago.· Ruden McClosky, which
·8· ·was one of the three largest healthcare practices in
·9· ·Florida, and I was a member of the healthcare group in
10· ·that practice.
11· · · · · · ·It was through Ruden McClosky that we evolved
12· ·the program for what ultimately became Hygea.· And
13· ·Hygea at one point was a client and paid a lot of money
14· ·to Ruden McClosky, not for my work product.
15· · · · Q.· ·Has Hygea ever promised you compensation on
16· ·the basis of Hygea's EBITDA figures?
17· · · · A.· ·No.
18· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever negotiated on Hygea's behalf?
19· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry?
20· · · · Q.· ·You've negotiated things on Hygea's behalf,
21· ·correct?
22· · · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · · Q.· ·You consider yourself to be a good
24· ·negotiator?
25· · · · A.· ·Adequate.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And you think you're good at sort of the
·2· ·figuring out what the other side is looking for in
·3· ·negotiation.· Is that fair to say?
·4· · · · A.· ·I haven't been able to figure out what
·5· ·you're looking for.
·6· · · · Q.· ·I'm tempted to move to strike, but I think
·7· ·that's an answer.
·8· · · · · · ·You understand that you're a fiduciary to
·9· ·Hygea Holdings Corp., correct?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·And you continue to be a fiduciary as
12· ·co-chair of the board, correct?
13· · · · A.· ·Yes.
14· · · · Q.· ·Even though you're no longer CEO?
15· · · · A.· ·Could you define what your version of --
16· ·definition of fiduciary is, please.
17· · · · Q.· ·Well, I'm asking your definition.· You
18· ·consider yourself to be a fiduciary to Hygea; isn't
19· ·that correct?
20· · · · A.· ·I think so, yes.
21· · · · Q.· ·You understand that you have a duty of
22· ·loyalty to Hygea; isn't that correct?
23· · · · A.· ·Absolutely.
24· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever put yourself in an inherent
25· ·conflict of interest vis-a-vis Hygea Holdings Corp.?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Never.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever put yourself in any kind of
·3· ·conflict of interest vis-a-vis Hygea Holdings Corp.?
·4· · · · A.· ·Not to my knowledge.
·5· · · · Q.· ·If you thought that a receiver was the right
·6· ·thing for Hygea, would you advise the board as such?
·7· · · · A.· ·Absolutely.
·8· · · · Q.· ·And you wouldn't have any personal interest
·9· ·that would interfere with making a fair and impartial
10· ·recommendation on that issue, would you?
11· · · · A.· ·I don't think so.
12· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever promised anyone to make any
13· ·particular testimony regarding Hygea?
14· · · · A.· ·No.
15· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever promised to refrain from making
16· ·any particular testimony regarding Hygea?
17· · · · A.· ·Ask other people?
18· · · · Q.· ·No.· Have you ever -- have you ever promised
19· ·to refrain from testifying as to some fact or condition
20· ·relating to Hygea?
21· · · · A.· ·Promised that I would not?
22· · · · Q.· ·Correct.
23· · · · A.· ·No, never.
24· · · · Q.· ·If a receiver gets appointed, would that cost
25· ·you money personally?
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·1· · · · A.· ·I think it would be the death nail of Hygea
·2· ·as we know today as an ongoing entity, and it would
·3· ·cost my family a substantial amount of family.· My
·4· ·family group is the largest shareholder in Hygea, and
·5· ·I would do nothing -- my goal is to enhance
·6· ·shareholder value for all because if we do, my boat
·7· ·floats rather high.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Aside from the indirect financial harm that
·9· ·you believe -- that you contend would come in the
10· ·manner you just explained, would the appointment of a
11· ·receiver cost you something personally?
12· · · · A.· ·Not at all.
13· · · · Q.· ·Have you promised anyone that you're going to
14· ·keep this Court from appointing a receiver?
15· · · · A.· ·I will do everything I can to persuade the
16· ·Court that a receiver is a very bad idea for Hygea.
17· · · · Q.· ·Have you promised anyone that you're going to
18· ·keep it from happening?
19· · · · A.· ·I promised myself I'm going to do everything
20· ·possible to demonstrate to the Court that it would be
21· ·a grave mistake for the benefit of Hygea and its
22· ·shareholders, its 600 employees and the patients that
23· ·we serve to have a receiver appointed.
24· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at this point I have a
25· ·document that I would like to present to the witness.
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·1· ·This is not part of the exhibit binder because this was
·2· ·produced subsequent to -- to the exchange of exhibit
·3· ·lists.· It was produced I believe last Wednesday as
·4· ·part of the expert witness disclosure and along with
·5· ·the expert witness disclosure.
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You can show him.
·7· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.· If I may
·8· ·approach?
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· When did you say it was produced
10· ·last?
11· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Last Wednesday, I believe.· We
12· ·can, of course, double-check.
13· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Have you --
14· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I have no idea what document this
15· ·is.
16· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· May I approach, Your Honor?
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Yes.· Thank you.
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· And I would ask to have it marked
19· ·as an exhibit before we -- my apologies for failing to
20· ·do that.· I'm not sure what number we are at.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The clerk will tell us.
22· · · · · · ·COURT CLERK:· 194.
23· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor --
24· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· It's being marked.· Go ahead.
25· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I would object to it entirely even
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·1· ·being moved for an admission as an exhibit.· It wasn't
·2· ·on the exhibit list.· It wasn't requested in discovery.
·3· ·We simply produced this with our expert disclosure,
·4· ·even without counsel's request and even without any
·5· ·request for expert discovery in good faith.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I have a couple of
·7· ·responses to that.· First of all, this was -- as I
·8· ·mentioned, this was produced subsequent to the exchange
·9· ·of exhibit lists.
10· · · · · · ·And, in fact, we retained a placeholder on
11· ·our exhibit list for any materials produced
12· ·subsequent -- produced by defendants subsequent to
13· ·April 30th.· And this was produced subsequent to
14· ·April 30th, several days after April 30th.
15· · · · · · ·Beyond that, the fact that -- that it was not
16· ·requested in discovery, I mean, I hardly think that
17· ·that somehow ought to count against us, in particular
18· ·given the fact that there was, as we've discussed on
19· ·several occasions, very circumscribed discovery in this
20· ·case.· We didn't ask about this because we didn't know
21· ·about this document.
22· · · · · · ·Moreover, I think that the document -- and we
23· ·have not yet moved to admit the document.· So I
24· ·certainly think that the -- at the very least we can
25· ·examine the witness on it, although I do anticipate
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·1· ·that we're going to move for admission.
·2· · · · · · ·But the probative value here is quite -- is
·3· ·quite significant, I believe.· And I say that I believe
·4· ·that in part because I personally have a lot of -- you
·5· ·know, a lot of questions about this not even in the
·6· ·lawyerly sense, but in the sense that it's a very
·7· ·mysterious piece of paper to me.
·8· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Well, because Hygea produced it
·9· ·I'm not going to prohibit them from asking questions.
10· ·It hasn't been offered yet.· At this point no question
11· ·has been asked about it, so I'm not -- I'm not saying
12· ·there aren't objections that can be made.
13· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Okay.
14· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· But I'm not going to prohibit
15· ·them from asking Mr. Iglesias questions about it.· Go
16· ·ahead.
17· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Do you recognize this document?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes, I do.
20· · · · Q.· ·You signed this document, right?
21· · · · A.· ·Yes, I did.
22· · · · Q.· ·You initialed the first four pages of this
23· ·document; isn't that correct?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, I did.
25· · · · Q.· ·You drafted this, didn't you?
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·1· · · · A.· ·No, I didn't.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Who did draft this?
·3· · · · A.· ·I don't know.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Well, who presented it to you to sign?
·5· · · · A.· ·Lawyers for Bridging Finance.
·6· · · · Q.· ·All right.· And what lawyers for Bridging
·7· ·Finance presented this to you?
·8· · · · A.· ·I do not remember the name of the lawyer.
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Did you say this is 194?
10· · · · · · ·COURT CLERK:· Yes.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sorry.· Go ahead.
12· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Do you remember if it was the
13· ·gentleman from Bridging Finance who was listed on the
14· ·defendants' witness list?
15· · · · A.· ·I do not remember.
16· · · · Q.· ·Was it American counsel or Canadian counsel
17· ·for Bridging Finance?
18· · · · A.· ·To be honest with you, I don't remember.
19· · · · Q.· ·And I'm just going to ask you to read the
20· ·first paragraph into the record.
21· · · · A.· ·The one that says "for value received"?
22· · · · Q.· ·Yes, "for value received."
23· · · · A.· ·"For value received, and at times here
24· ·after -- hereinafter specified, the undersigned, Manny
25· ·Iglesias, a Florida resident, hereafter referred to as
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·1· ·'Borrower,' unconditionally promises and agrees to pay
·2· ·to the order of $3 million hereafter referred to,
·3· ·together with each subsequent holder of this
·4· ·promissory note (Note) as holder or lender, addresses
·5· ·may be designated from time to time by holder, the
·6· ·aggregate principal sum $63 million (The Principal) in
·7· ·lawful money of the United States, together with
·8· ·interest in like lawful money from the date of
·9· ·execution of this note at the interest rate and in the
10· ·manner set forth below."
11· · · · Q.· ·Now, I'm going to -- I think you skipped a
12· ·line saying whose place of business.· And that came
13· ·between the definition of lender and address.
14· · · · A.· ·Yes.
15· · · · Q.· ·So could you read that line to complete that
16· ·record?
17· · · · A.· ·"With each subsequent holder of this
18· ·promissory note (as holder or lender) whose place of
19· ·business is 8750 N.W. 36th Street, Suite 300, Doral,
20· ·Florida 33178, or at such other addresses that may be
21· ·designated from time to time by any holder, the
22· ·aggregate outstanding principals on the $3 million."
23· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.· Who borrowed this money?
24· · · · A.· ·I did.
25· · · · Q.· ·And who lent you this money?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Bridging Finance.
·2· · · · Q.· ·What are you using this money for?
·3· · · · A.· ·I put it into the company to address cash
·4· ·flow shortages.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Why did they lend it to you instead of just
·6· ·lending it to the company?
·7· · · · A.· ·I gave -- I asked for additional funding and
·8· ·gave additional personal guarantees.
·9· · · · Q.· ·We'll discuss that in -- in a moment.
10· · · · · · ·Who did you negotiate this with?
11· · · · A.· ·Natasha Sharpe.
12· · · · Q.· ·Do you know why this says "pay to the order
13· ·of $3 million"?
14· · · · A.· ·I think that's why -- the amount that they
15· ·were lending.
16· · · · Q.· ·But does it say anywhere in that first
17· ·paragraph who you owe the money to?
18· · · · A.· ·No, it doesn't.
19· · · · Q.· ·That wasn't a typo, was it?
20· · · · A.· ·I don't understand your point.
21· · · · Q.· ·Well, was it a typo or an oversight that it
22· ·doesn't say who is -- who is owed the money?
23· · · · A.· ·I -- again, I don't know enough about how
24· ·promissory notes are -- we received the money, and I
25· ·agreed to guarantee it.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·This isn't the first promissory note you've
·2· ·come across in your professional life; isn't that true?
·3· · · · A.· ·Couple others.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And usually when it says paid -- "the
·5· ·borrower promises and agrees to pay to the order of"
·6· ·blank, what goes in the blank is the person who's owed
·7· ·the money; isn't that right?
·8· · · · A.· ·It doesn't have a blank.· It's the holder of
·9· ·the note is the one that is going to be repaid, so...
10· · · · Q.· ·Who is the holder of the note based on this?
11· · · · A.· ·In financial institutions, you have a lot of
12· ·people oftentimes who the financial institution is --
13· ·does the paper, and they sell the paper to a third
14· ·party.
15· · · · · · ·At the end of the day in a financial
16· ·instrument, you never know who the ultimate owner is.
17· ·And so it can be very sophisticated and have all kinds
18· ·of names, or it can be something as vanilla as this
19· ·where the ultimate holder is somebody not the one who
20· ·originally issued it.
21· · · · Q.· ·Don't they usually say who originally issued
22· ·it?
23· · · · A.· ·I wouldn't know.· I couldn't opine.
24· · · · Q.· ·Because it looks to me here -- isn't it the
25· ·case that you signed a note where you're agreeing to
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·1· ·pay $3 million, $2-$3 million?
·2· · · · A.· ·I wasn't the drafter of this note.  I
·3· ·will -- it has been reviewed by lawyers at my end, and
·4· ·it's considered an adequate or correct legal document.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Did you discuss -- I don't -- you don't need
·6· ·to tell me what you talked about with your lawyers, but
·7· ·did discuss that issue --
·8· · · · A.· ·Not at all.
·9· · · · Q.· ·-- with Bridging?
10· · · · A.· ·No.
11· · · · Q.· ·Did your lawyers discuss that issue with
12· ·Bridging's lawyers to your knowledge?
13· · · · A.· ·I have no idea.
14· · · · Q.· ·As you look at it today, you realize that's
15· ·not a typo though, right?
16· · · · A.· ·I don't understand what you're trying to
17· ·infer.· I think this is a perfectly legal promissory
18· ·note, personal guarantee, which I gladly made for the
19· ·benefit of Hygea.
20· · · · Q.· ·But it's written in a way such that when we
21· ·read the first paragraph, you can't tell who the lender
22· ·is; isn't that right?
23· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· It's been
24· ·asked and answered.
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
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·1· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I'll withdraw the question.
·2· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) That address, 8750 N.W. 36th
·3· ·Street, Suite 300, what address that?
·4· · · · A.· ·That's the corporate headquarters of Hygea
·5· ·Holdings Corp.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And the reference to Manny Iglesias is a
·7· ·reference to you?
·8· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Is there a reason that it says Manny Iglesias
10· ·instead of Manuel Iglesias?
11· · · · A.· ·No.· Most people call me Manny, but it is
12· ·somewhat informal.
13· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever signed a loan document before
14· ·in which you were referred to as "Manny"?
15· · · · A.· ·If I was getting money, I would sign it.
16· · · · Q.· ·Humorous, but I move to strike because you
17· ·didn't answer the question.
18· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
19· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I may have.· I really can't
20· ·remember.
21· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Have you ever listed Hygea's
22· ·address as your address on a personal promissory note
23· ·before?
24· · · · A.· ·It was a personal promissory note for funds
25· ·to go directly into Hygea, so that is my office.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Who was in the room when you signed this

·2· ·note?

·3· · · · A.· ·I can't remember.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Do you remember where you were when you

·5· ·signed it?

·6· · · · A.· ·Probably at Hygea.
·7· · · · Q.· ·You gave a guarantee I believe you've already

·8· ·testified; isn't that right?

·9· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
10· · · · Q.· ·You gave that guarantee to Bridging, correct?

11· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
12· · · · Q.· ·Who was in the room when you signed the

13· ·guarantee?

14· · · · A.· ·The same person that was in the room -- I
15· ·don't remember.· I think -- I really do not remember.
16· ·I signed them at the same time, so...
17· · · · Q.· ·Well, look at the dates though.· Does that

18· ·change your recollection as to whether or not you

19· ·signed them on the same time?

20· · · · · · ·And to unpack that a bit, perhaps, isn't it

21· ·true that the first page, and this is Bates number

22· ·9446, has a date up at the top right of March 4th,

23· ·2018; isn't that right?

24· · · · A.· ·It may have been a difference of timing in
25· ·terms of when each of these documents was produced by
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·1· ·the lender.· I'm pretty sure I signed them both at the
·2· ·same time, but I can't remember.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read paragraph 2 of the
·4· ·promissory note on the first page, Bates 9446.
·5· · · · A.· ·"Unless an event of default" -- I'm sorry.
·6· ·Number 2?
·7· · · · Q.· ·Correct.
·8· · · · A.· ·"Interest rate," bold, underlined, period,
·9· ·"unless an event of default (as hereinafter defined)
10· ·shall have occurred and the default -- the default
11· ·rate (as hereinafter defined) shall be applicable, the
12· ·unpaid principal amount of this note shall bear the
13· ·interest rate equal to 14 (14 percent) per annum.
14· · · · · · ·"For the period from March 10, 2018, to
15· ·September 9, 2018, interest will be in the form of
16· ·payment in kind (PIK) and be added to the principal.
17· ·For the period from September 10, 2018, until maturity
18· ·date, interest will be paid -- interest would be
19· ·current pay, paid on the 30th of every month."
20· · · · Q.· ·What does "payment in kind" mean?
21· · · · A.· ·Frankly, I don't know.
22· · · · Q.· ·Well --
23· · · · A.· ·I'm assuming it's the interest that would be
24· ·accrued and added to the principal.· That was my
25· ·understanding.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Have you made any payments on the note thus

·2· ·far?

·3· · · · A.· ·It's not September 10, 2018, yet.
·4· · · · Q.· ·So right now you're in payment in kind mode?

·5· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And you understand "payment in kind" means

·7· ·money is added to the principal?

·8· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Do you believe you're in default of this

10· ·note?

11· · · · A.· ·Not at all.
12· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read paragraph 5 on the next

13· ·page.· And --

14· · · · A.· ·Paragraph 5, "Covenants" underlined.· "The
15· ·borrower agrees to the following changes and
16· ·improvements to Hygea.· I work with Michael Muchnicki
17· ·to provide business plan with measurable milestones
18· ·and six months cash flows and budget broken down on a
19· ·weekly and monthly basis, (2) Michael Muchnicki and
20· ·Manny Iglesias to jointly agree to all Hygea's
21· ·disbursements (any conflict to be arbitrated by the

22· ·lender), (3) all of Hygea's current and future bank
23· ·accounts to be co-signed by Michael Muchnicki and

24· ·Manny Iglesias, (4) Manny Iglesias to focus on all of
25· ·Hygea's outstanding litigation -- litigations pool and
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·1· ·attempt to settle them in the best interests of
·2· ·Hygea, (5) allow and assist Michael Muchnicki to focus
·3· ·in all operational issues which he will have authority
·4· ·over, (6) mandatory one-hour meeting to evaluate
·5· ·spending for the following week and evaluate business
·6· ·plan milestones."
·7· · · · Q.· ·You talked about Mr. Muchnicki earlier.· He
·8· ·was considered to be CEO and did not become CEO?
·9· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
10· · · · Q.· ·Are you complying with all these covenants
11· ·right now?
12· · · · A.· ·If you change the name of Muchnicki to Keith
13· ·Collins, he's actually been given a lot more
14· ·authority, and I'm much less involved.· But basically
15· ·I think we're way beyond the spirit of this letter of
16· ·intent in terms of what we're doing now.
17· · · · Q.· ·It's not a letter of intent?
18· · · · A.· ·I mean this promissory note vis-a-vis the
19· ·lender.
20· · · · Q.· ·Have you discussed that noncompliance with
21· ·Bridging?
22· · · · A.· ·There is no noncompliance.· This document
23· ·has evolved, and the relationship has evolved.· Things
24· ·that are happening now are in full compliance with the
25· ·current agreements that we have, both verbal and in
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·1· ·writing, with Bridging Financing, the lender.
·2· · · · Q.· ·You testified that the relationship has
·3· ·evolved.· Are you testifying that this document has
·4· ·evolved as well?
·5· · · · A.· ·This document is a promissory note, and that
·6· ·is still in full force.· We have evolved the covenants
·7· ·in number 5, and I think the lender is very happy with
·8· ·where we are today in terms of this document and the
·9· ·relationship.
10· · · · Q.· ·Isn't it true that paragraph 6 sets forth
11· ·certain events of default?
12· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· And what is the question?
13· · · · Q.· ·The question is whether paragraph 6 sets
14· ·forth events of default?
15· · · · A.· ·That's what it's entitled, "Events of
16· ·Default."
17· · · · Q.· ·In fact, it says that, "The entire unpaid
18· ·principal balance under the note, together with all
19· ·unpaid interest, shall become immediately -- in
20· ·substance shall become immediately due and payable
21· ·without notice or demand upon the occurrence of any of
22· ·the events of default, regardless of the cause thereof,
23· ·and whether within or beyond the control of the
24· ·borrower"; isn't that correct?
25· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And can you please read the event of default
·2· ·set forth at Section 6(c)?
·3· · · · A.· ·"C, borrower shall (1) apply for all or
·4· ·consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee in
·5· ·bankruptcy for the benefit of creditors, or liquidator
·6· ·or borrower, or of any of its property; (2) admit in
·7· ·writing its inability to pay its debt as they mature
·8· ·or generally fail to pay such debts as they mature;
·9· ·(3) make a general assignment for the benefit of
10· ·creditors; (4) be adjudicated -- be adjudicated,
11· ·bankrupt, or insolvent; (5) file a voluntary petition
12· ·in bankruptcy, or a petition or an answer seeking
13· ·reorganization or an arrangement with creditors, or
14· ·seeking to take advantage of any bankruptcy,
15· ·reorganization, insolvency, creditors, readjustments
16· ·of debt, dissolution or liquidation or law statute or
17· ·an answer admitting missing an act of bankruptcy
18· ·alleged in a petition filed against it in any
19· ·proceedings under any such law; or (6) take any action
20· ·for the purpose of affecting any of the foregoing;
21· ·or" -- that's the end of the paragraph.
22· · · · Q.· ·So that means that you promised not to admit
23· ·in writing that Hygea is unable to pay debts as they
24· ·mature; isn't that true?
25· · · · A.· ·No.· I am the borrower.· This is something I
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·1· ·can't do personally.· I'm not binding Hygea.· This
·2· ·does not -- the way I read it, this does not apply to
·3· ·Hygea, this applies to me personally.
·4· · · · Q.· ·You don't think that Bridging had the issue
·5· ·of Hygea's solvency, Hygea's litigation, Hygea's
·6· ·potential receivership in mind when they drafted this?
·7· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor; calls for
·8· ·speculation.
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.
10· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I have no idea.
11· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Let's -- can you please read 6(d).
12· · · · A.· ·"D.· An order, judgment, or decree shall be
13· ·entered against borrower without borrower's
14· ·application, approval, or consent, by any court or of
15· ·competent jurisdiction, approving a petition
16· ·appointing a receiver, trustee, or liquidator of
17· ·borrower or of all or a substantial part of the assets
18· ·of borrower and such order, judgment, or decree shall
19· ·continue unstayed and in effect for a period of 30
20· ·consecutive days from the date of entry thereof."
21· · · · Q.· ·When they're talking about a petition
22· ·appointing a receiver, you understood -- over any or
23· ·all of -- all or a substantial part of your asset, you
24· ·understand that they're talking about a potential
25· ·receiver over Hygea, correct?

Page 549
·1· · · · A.· ·Not at all.· My family is a substantial
·2· ·family with substantial assets, and I believe this
·3· ·document deals with the assets that we've pledged and
·4· ·deals with the receiver -- all the language here deals
·5· ·with the assets of my family personally, not Hygea.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And you haven't pledged any interest in Hygea
·7· ·as part of this note?
·8· · · · A.· ·I have pledged some -- the family's interest
·9· ·in Hygea as part of this note, but Bridging Finance
10· ·has -- with its own agreement as a lender with Hygea
11· ·hasn't affected a demand note on Hygea and could
12· ·foreclose -- they have all kinds of remedies.· They
13· ·don't need this to execute against Hygea.
14· · · · Q.· ·But they wanted this, didn't they?
15· · · · A.· ·They got it.
16· · · · Q.· ·And they asked you to -- they asked that
17· ·their name be minimized on here; isn't that true?
18· · · · A.· ·That's not my recollection.
19· · · · Q.· ·Has Bridging ever told you that they wanted
20· ·to avoid having to say that they are -- that the loan
21· ·to Hygea is in "default"?
22· · · · A.· ·The loan to Hygea is not in default.
23· · · · Q.· ·That's not what I asked.· I asked has --
24· ·excuse me.· Has Bridging -- I may have misspoken.· If I
25· ·did, I'm sorry.
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·1· · · · · · ·Has Bridging or any representative thereof
·2· ·ever told you that they wanted to avoid having to say
·3· ·that their loan to Hygea is in "default"?
·4· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor.· The
·5· ·question calls for hearsay.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, that's not asked for
·7· ·the truth of the matter asserted.· I'm asking if Hygea
·8· ·has ever -- excuse me -- if Bridging has ever expressed
·9· ·a desire.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· You can answer.
11· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Could you repeat the question,
12· ·please.
13· · · · · · ·(The following was read by the reporter:
14· · · · · · ·"That's not what I asked.· I asked has --
15· · · · · · ·excuse me.· Has Bridging -- I may have
16· · · · · · ·misspoken.· If I did, I'm sorry.· Has
17· · · · · · ·Bridging or any representative thereof ever
18· · · · · · ·told you that they wanted to avoid having to
19· · · · · · ·say that their loan to Hygea is in
20· · · · · · ·'default'?")
21· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· No.
22· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Do you understand that if the loan
23· ·does go into technical default, that Bridging would have
24· ·to report that in some way?
25· · · · A.· ·I have no idea.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·That's not something you've ever discussed
·2· ·with anyone from Bridging?
·3· · · · A.· ·All I've discussed with Bridging is making
·4· ·sure we don't go into default.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And you've never discussed that with anyone
·6· ·on your side of the issue so to speak?
·7· · · · A.· ·No.
·8· · · · Q.· ·It's never something that's crossed your
·9· ·mind?
10· · · · A.· ·No.
11· · · · Q.· ·Has anyone from Bridging ever told you that
12· ·they wanted to avoid a receiver over Hygea because that
13· ·would trigger some sort of reporting requirement?
14· · · · A.· ·Never.· Never.· They have told me they
15· ·thought a receiver would be a bad business decision
16· ·for Hygea for the same reasons that we've laid out so
17· ·far.
18· · · · Q.· ·Have you ever formed an understanding or an
19· ·impression that Bridging wanted to avoid the
20· ·appointment of a receiver because of a potential
21· ·reporting requirement?
22· · · · A.· ·Not at all.
23· · · · Q.· ·Did you inform the board of the promissory
24· ·note and personal guarantee?
25· · · · A.· ·I believe so.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·When did you inform the board of that?
·2· · · · A.· ·After it was executed.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Do you remember the date that you informed
·4· ·the board?
·5· · · · A.· ·Sometime after March 10th.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Did you provide a copy of this to the board?
·7· · · · A.· ·I do not remember, but I know the board has
·8· ·totally -- intimately aware of this transaction.· It's
·9· ·been discussed.
10· · · · Q.· ·Who has discussed it?
11· · · · A.· ·Actually, our -- my co-chair, Dan McGowan,
12· ·on the board explained to the board what the
13· ·components of this was.· Obviously he's seen it.
14· · · · Q.· ·Which components did he discuss with the
15· ·board?
16· · · · A.· ·I don't remember, but he just mentioned the
17· ·fact that I had come through and had additional
18· ·guarantees to bring additional funds into the company.
19· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at this time
20· ·plaintiffs do move to introduce the exhibit.· I believe
21· ·it's 194?
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Again, Your Honor, I renew my
23· ·objection.· This was not included on any exhibit list,
24· ·including supplemental exhibit lists that were
25· ·provided, amended by plaintiffs up to -- up to and
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·1· ·through the time of trial.
·2· · · · · · ·This was not mentioned to us, even after
·3· ·April 30th when we did produce it as part of our expert
·4· ·disclosures without request by plaintiffs, without
·5· ·demand by plaintiffs in good faith, and after
·6· ·April 30th when they have amended their exhibit lists.
·7· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm quite certain this
·8· ·was produced long after April 30th.
·9· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I apologize.· I mean the
10· ·Wednesday -- I can't remember the exact date, but it
11· ·would be Wednesday, May 2nd.
12· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I still think that that's --
13· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Is that still --
14· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I believe it's Wednesday, May 9th.
15· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Okay.· It was a Wednesday, which I
16· ·remember.· The day we were required to disclose our
17· ·experts.
18· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· That was one week ago today.  I
19· ·don't remember offhand, and I can find this out,
20· ·Your Honor, there were a great deal of documents
21· ·produced as part of that -- as part of that production.
22· ·And I think upwards of -- well, this is Bates 9446 to
23· ·begin with.
24· · · · · · ·So I think upwards of at least -- about
25· ·10,000 pages that were produced on Wednesday, the 9th.
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·1· ·And that is, of course, just days before trial.
·2· ·Everyone was in the thick of preparations.
·3· · · · · · ·Without getting into any sort of work product
·4· ·insight, this is not -- it's not like we got this along
·5· ·with two or three other pages last Wednesday.· This was
·6· ·something that had to be dug out.
·7· · · · · · ·That is simply a feature of the fact that it
·8· ·wasn't on the witness list, except in the form of the
·9· ·catchall reservation of exhibits, exhibit list.· My
10· ·apologies.· That's simply a function of the late
11· ·production and the expedited nature of the proceeding.
12· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Hang on one second.· When did it
13· ·get dug out?
14· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I think I -- you know,
15· ·without waiving any sort of privilege, I think I saw it
16· ·either -- probably very late on Monday evening, so
17· ·that's -- right around midnight.· I don't remember
18· ·which -- which side of midnight.· But it was probably
19· ·about -- I think it was the Monday side of midnight.
20· ·It was Monday evening.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· And who before you would have
22· ·seen it on your side?
23· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I -- I believe that
24· ·Ms. Szymanski on our team had originally found it.
25· ·That may have been a few days earlier.· It did not come
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·1· ·to my attention, what with all the traveling and -- and
·2· ·trial preparation.
·3· · · · · · ·And I think it's sort of -- I saw it, like I
·4· ·said, Monday evening, and, you know, formed the
·5· ·impression that this was something that was -- that was
·6· ·worth -- that was worthwhile presenting to the Court,
·7· ·in part for all of the reasons I think you can -- I
·8· ·think my -- the questions sort of speak for themselves.
·9· ·I think this sheds light on what's happening here.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Why couldn't -- why didn't you
11· ·produce this to Ms. Gall Tuesday or this morning?
12· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Well, Your Honor, once again, it
13· ·was produced by -- by defendants.· I take it the
14· ·question to be why was it not -- why was it not --
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Identified as a document that
16· ·would be used.
17· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Identified as an exhibit,
18· ·disclosed as an exhibit.· Your Honor, the reason is
19· ·that, once again, this was -- there was a catchall
20· ·reservation on the exhibit list for documents that
21· ·would be produced by defendants after April 30th.
22· · · · · · ·This came well after -- well after
23· ·April 30th.· I have to believe that defendants were
24· ·well aware of the document.· I know Mr. Iglesias is
25· ·obviously aware of the document, and he's indicated
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·1· ·that the board was generally aware of the document.
·2· · · · · · ·So I can't -- I would be surprised if there
·3· ·was a big element of surprise to it.· And the -- given
·4· ·the comprehensive sort of late -- late production
·5· ·catchall and given the fact that I think as a practical
·6· ·matter it would seem to be something that -- that at
·7· ·least Mr. Iglesias was well aware of, and he's
·8· ·indicated that the rest of the board was aware of, we
·9· ·thought that there would not be an element of surprise
10· ·to the party.
11· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, first of all, I would
12· ·object to the characterization of this is a late
13· ·production.· Plaintiffs moved, as Your Honor is likely
14· ·aware, for a motion for limited discovery under
15· ·Rule 16.1.· Your Honor granted that.· We produced
16· ·documents on April 23rd.· In fact, they have taken
17· ·issue with the documents we produced.
18· · · · · · ·This document would not have fallen within
19· ·any of the documents that they requested in discovery.
20· ·In addition, we produced on May 9th, not as a late
21· ·production, but as part of our expert disclosure,
22· ·although I was aware that this document existed as
23· ·Hygea's lawyer.
24· · · · · · ·I did not even know that it was within the
25· ·expert production because I have not been directly
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·1· ·working with the expert in this manner.· And we
·2· ·disclosed everything that was sent to the expert to
·3· ·plaintiffs in good faith as part of our expert
·4· ·disclosure and without even request by plaintiffs'
·5· ·counsel for such documents.
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· So in light of the questions that
·7· ·Mr. Kaye has asked Mr. Iglesias that weren't objected
·8· ·to --
·9· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· And I haven't made that -- I
10· ·haven't made that objection yet, Your Honor.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Let's get to that objection.
12· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Which is simply I would move to
13· ·strike the entire line of questioning related to this
14· ·document as completely irrelevant to the claims made in
15· ·this case and the bases for the appointment of a
16· ·receiver.
17· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor --
18· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· To me the reason -- it seems to
19· ·me it's obvious.· But Mr. Kaye, what's the relevance?
20· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I think there's a
21· ·couple of reasons why this is relevant.· The first one
22· ·is that it seems to me -- look, perhaps Mr. Iglesias
23· ·has a different interpretation of the language, but it
24· ·certainly seems to me that a lot of this language about
25· ·receivership and so forth and the, you know, ability to
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·1· ·pay its debts as they mature, it's not his debts, its
·2· ·debts.· It seems to me that this is geared towards
·3· ·exactly the sort of proceeding that we're having here
·4· ·right now.
·5· · · · · · ·And it certainly raises a question as to
·6· ·Mr. Iglesias' interests vis-a-vis Hygea and vis-a-vis
·7· ·this litigation.· It seems to me that this puts him in
·8· ·a conflicted position.
·9· · · · · · ·And that's significant for two reasons.· It's
10· ·significant, first of all, because it calls into
11· ·question his -- you know, his credibility and so forth
12· ·as -- as both -- as a witness, but also as a litigant
13· ·in this matter because it seems as if he has a
14· ·$3 million stake in avoiding a receivership.
15· · · · · · ·But it also calls into question his adherence
16· ·to his duty of loyalty, which he's admitted, to his
17· ·fiduciary duties that he seems to have put himself in a
18· ·conflicted position.
19· · · · · · ·Now, once again, he's got -- it seems as if
20· ·he's got arguments about that, and those are certainly
21· ·fair arguments to have, but the document itself
22· ·certainly has evidentiary significance.
23· · · · · · ·And I would also say it's relevant even
24· ·taking a step back -- a general sense.· Defendants have
25· ·said in -- I believe it was in their -- in their trial
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·1· ·statement that Bridging Finance has -- is ready,
·2· ·willing, and able to -- I'm paraphrasing there -- but
·3· ·ready, willing, and able to continue to finance Hygea.
·4· ·And Mr. Iglesias testified earlier this morning that he
·5· ·enjoys a good relationship with Bridging Finance.
·6· · · · · · ·Well, it's -- in light of that claim and in
·7· ·light of that testimony, I think it's significant that
·8· ·Mr. Iglesias has entered into this arrangement with
·9· ·Hygea -- with Bridging Finance whereby he owes this
10· ·money with these rather -- some of these provisions
11· ·that seem to me to be rather onerous.
12· · · · · · ·Conversely, it brings into question
13· ·Bridging's commitment to Hygea itself if this is the
14· ·sort of mechanism by which it is going to provide
15· ·additional financing to Hygea.
16· · · · · · ·So I think in that first sense it's relevant,
17· ·and in the second sense it's relevant.· Frankly, the
18· ·financing of Hygea is an important issue, and this is
19· ·an important document in considering that financing.
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Have you stated all of your
21· ·objections?
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Yes, I had.
23· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Is there anything -- you're the
24· ·one that objected, so I'll give you the last word.
25· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I would just say I
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·1· ·don't want to take up the Court's time, but obviously I
·2· ·disagree on the legal matter of whether this has placed
·3· ·Mr. Iglesias into a conflict of interest position or
·4· ·whether it's a violation of his duty of loyalty.
·5· · · · · · ·In addition, this is clearly an individual
·6· ·loan agreement and security for an individual loan
·7· ·agreement.· And in addition to that, I do think we're
·8· ·prejudiced by having this admitted into the record.
·9· · · · · · ·I understand Your Honor's point about the
10· ·testimony.· But at the very least, if Your Honor is
11· ·going to allow the testimony to stand, I would say the
12· ·testimony could at least stand on its own, and the
13· ·document itself wouldn't exist in the public record.
14· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Well, that is a way for me to
15· ·attempt to balance the document could have been
16· ·provided to the defense earlier than when it was handed
17· ·to the witness to review.
18· · · · · · ·So is there something in here that you have
19· ·not asked Mr. Iglesias about you think is relevant and
20· ·otherwise admissible?
21· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I would -- there are a
22· ·few other things that -- that I would inquire about
23· ·that I do believe are relevant.· I think that the --
24· ·the -- the best way to address the issue is to simply
25· ·have it admitted as an exhibit, but I'm happy to, in
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·1· ·addition to -- to contending so, examine -- examine the
·2· ·witness.
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I'm not going to admit 194 on
·4· ·grounds that this -- this has -- I mean, you're trying
·5· ·to get a case through the court system in a very, very
·6· ·short timeframe.
·7· · · · · · ·And -- but I asked both sides repeatedly
·8· ·prior to trial if they wanted a continuance, and so
·9· ·this is one of the costs of proceeding without full
10· ·discovery.
11· · · · · · ·So I'm not going to admit 194.· We're going
12· ·to go ahead and take a break until a quarter 'til,
13· ·2:45.· You can step down.
14· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, sir.
15· · · · · · ·(Recess taken at 2:32, resuming at 2:45.)
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· 18 OC 71, Arellano v. Hygea.
17· ·Mr. Carlson and Ms. Gall are present on the defense
18· ·side.· The plaintiffs' counsel are here.
19· · · · · · ·So Ms. Gall, I'm not the most observant guy,
20· ·but I've noticed when Mr. Kaye has been doing his exam,
21· ·you've been doing this.· Can you see now?
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I can.· Thank you, Your Honor.
23· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Are you able to see, Mr. Carlson?
24· · · · · · ·MR. CARLSON:· I can.· Thank you, Your Honor.
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· That doesn't mess up anything on
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·1· ·this side?· Good.
·2· · · · · · ·Go ahead, Mr. Kaye.
·3· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) The documents that we've been
·4· ·considering which is marked as 194, if you could refer
·5· ·back to that, and I'm going to refer --
·6· · · · A.· ·The promissory note.· Yes.
·7· · · · Q.· ·The promissory note.· Yes.
·8· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Looking at Hygea_Greene_9447, could you
10· ·please read paragraph 4 into the record.
11· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· Which --
12· · · · Q.· ·Paragraph 4 at the top of the page, 9447.
13· · · · A.· ·There are no numbers here.· You're talking
14· ·about the security?
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· It's the second page of the
16· ·promissory note.
17· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Page 2 of the document.
18· · · · A.· ·Right.
19· · · · Q.· ·Paragraph 4.
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mine doesn't have Bates stamps
21· ·either.
22· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· My apologies.· They must have been
23· ·cut off.· I can state for the record that this is
24· ·Hygea_Greene_009446 through 009452.
25· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) So looking at page 2 of the
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·1· ·document, my apologies for referring to the Bates stamps
·2· ·that weren't on your copy throughout the exam.
·3· · · · · · ·If you can please read paragraph 4 into the
·4· ·record.
·5· · · · A.· ·"4, Security," underscore.· "The note is
·6· ·secured by borrower's full and unconditional personal
·7· ·guarantee, which includes but is not restricted to (1)
·8· ·all of borrower's real estate (farm, house, condo),
·9· ·(2) borrower's shares in Hygea Holdings Corp. (and all
10· ·of its affiliates and subsidiaries), collectively
11· ·referred to as Hygea, and (3) borrower's personal and
12· ·family trust signed by all trustees.· Related
13· ·documentation including all forms of chattel and
14· ·mortgages will be perfected within 30 days."
15· · · · Q.· ·Does Bridging know all -- about all of your
16· ·assets?
17· · · · A.· ·They do now.
18· · · · Q.· ·So you have -- you have disclosed all of your
19· ·assets to Bridging?
20· · · · A.· ·I believe so.
21· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read the handwriting in the
22· ·space above paragraph 4.
23· · · · A.· ·"The security below does not include certain
24· ·insurance policies for the benefit of my sons.· They
25· ·are comprised of one or more annuities for Manuel
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·1· ·Alejandro Iglesias and whole life policy for Carlos
·2· ·Andreas Iglesias."
·3· · · · Q.· ·And then you initialed that?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Who wrote that?
·6· · · · A.· ·I wrote it in.
·7· · · · Q.· ·And you underlined the word "not"; isn't that
·8· ·correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·That's correct.
10· · · · Q.· ·And can you turn to the first page, which is
11· ·page 6 of the personal guarantee.
12· · · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · · Q.· ·And can you please read the first sentence of
14· ·that document into the record.
15· · · · A.· ·"In consideration of and as an inducement
16· ·for the granting, execution, and delivery of the
17· ·promissory note, dated March 10, 2018 (Note) by Manny
18· ·Iglesias (Borrower), to Bridging Finance, Inc.
19· ·(Lender), and in further consideration of the sum of
20· ·$10 and other good and value consideration paid by
21· ·lender to the undersigned, the receipt and sufficiency
22· ·of which is hereby acknowledged, Manny Iglesias
23· ·(Guarantor and hereafter referred to collectively as
24· ·Guarantors) having an address of 8750 N.W. 36th
25· ·Street, Suite 300, Doral, Florida 33178, hereby

Page 565
·1· ·guarantees absolutely and unconditionally and joint
·2· ·and several (1) the full and prompt payment of
·3· ·principal and interest and all other charges or sums
·4· ·payable by borrower pursuant to the note and (2) and
·5· ·the prompt and full" -- I'm sorry -- "prompt, full and
·6· ·faithful performance by borrower of all terms and
·7· ·conditions of the note."
·8· · · · Q.· ·And when that refers to the note, did you
·9· ·understand that to be referring to the note that we've
10· ·been looking at here?
11· · · · A.· ·The front of Exhibit 194, yes, sir.
12· · · · Q.· ·And the amount of that note is $3 million?
13· · · · A.· ·$3 million.
14· · · · Q.· ·And if you can look at page -- page 5 of the
15· ·document, you signed the note, correct?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
17· · · · Q.· ·And if you can look at page 7 of the
18· ·document, you signed the guarantee?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
20· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· No further questions, Your Honor.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?· Do you want to
22· ·cross-examine now?
23· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I do, Your Honor, but I'd like to
24· ·reserve my right to recall Mr. Iglesias on direct.
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You will have that right.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION
·2· ·BY MS. GALL:
·3· · · · Q.· ·Good afternoon, Mr. Iglesias.· Could you
·4· ·please, if you have it -- do you have the volume 3 with
·5· ·Exhibit 90 in front of you?
·6· · · · A.· ·No, I have number 4.
·7· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· May I approach the witness,
·8· ·Your Honor?
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Yes.
10· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, would you turn to
11· ·Exhibit 90 and specifically to the page Bates stamped
12· ·NV5000111.
13· · · · A.· ·I'm sorry.· 90?
14· · · · Q.· ·Correct.· Exhibit 90.
15· · · · A.· ·Which -- what number, ma'am?
16· · · · Q.· ·NV5000111.· It's page 12 of the document.
17· · · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, do you remember earlier
19· ·testifying today regarding an email from Dr. Persaud to
20· ·yourself and a few others?
21· · · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · · Q.· ·And do you recall testifying as to the
23· ·accusation made in the email regarding bounced checks?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · · Q.· ·And do you remember the date of that email
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·1· ·being February 27th, 2018?
·2· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, what is the date of your
·4· ·declaration?
·5· · · · A.· ·February 20th, 2018.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And so if you look at paragraph 74 on page 12
·7· ·of your declaration, where you state, "Hygea is not
·8· ·aware of any of its checks bouncing or any reason a
·9· ·check might bounce, any errors in the processing of one
10· ·of Hygea's checks is not due to insufficiency of
11· ·funds," was that a true and correct statement as of
12· ·February 20th, 2018?
13· · · · A.· ·Yes.· I checked both for '17 and '18.· We
14· ·issued more than 15,000 payroll checks in '17, 2017.
15· ·One check bounced, but not for insufficiency of funds,
16· ·a technicality with the bank in 2017.· And through
17· ·February 20th of 2018, no payroll check, I believe for
18· ·that matter any other check, had bounced in Hygea.
19· · · · Q.· ·Do you have an explanation for why certain
20· ·paper checks may have bounced after February 20th,
21· ·2018?
22· · · · A.· ·Certain practices that were cash flow
23· ·positive, we swept all the practice revenue to Hygea
24· ·Health Holdings and from there issued payroll.· And on
25· ·Wednesday and Thursday before the Friday --
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·1· ·February 23rd payroll, we were estopped by the doctors
·2· ·who were managing the Cohen practice, the Gaylis
·3· ·practice, and the Horowitz practice from sweeping
·4· ·money from those accounts to complete the payroll.
·5· · · · · · ·So when we issued the approximate 600 checks
·6· ·for the 26th -- for the 23rd, we bounced 28 checks.
·7· ·Since then, we have bounced two other payroll checks
·8· ·that were held out of sequence.· We have very tight
·9· ·cash management we've been going through.· But those
10· ·are the only payroll checks that have bounced.
11· · · · Q.· ·With respect to the payroll checks that have

12· ·bounced since February 20th, 2018, how has Hygea

13· ·addressed that issue?

14· · · · A.· ·The payments were made to the employees with
15· ·additional monies to cover NSF charges, etc., within
16· ·24 hours, maximum 48 in one case, but immediately upon
17· ·hearing that a check had bounced.
18· · · · Q.· ·Thank you very much.· You can put that

19· ·exhibit away.· Could I have -- you can put that exhibit

20· ·away, but please keep the exhibit binder.

21· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Could I have volume 2, please.

22· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, would you please

23· ·turn to Exhibit 70, please.

24· · · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, what is this document?
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·1· · · · A.· ·It's the contract between Simply Healthcare
·2· ·Plans, which is an HMO owned by Anthem, and Medcare
·3· ·Quality Medical Centers, which is a wholly-owned
·4· ·subsidiary of Hygea.
·5· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, would you please turn to the
·6· ·page marked HYGEA_000022.
·7· · · · A.· ·The pages here are not marked.
·8· · · · Q.· ·You're right.· Would you please turn to the
·9· ·page that begins with the Section 9.2.
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·And do you recall earlier when plaintiffs'
12· ·counsel had you read into the record the section
13· ·beginning 9.4?
14· · · · A.· ·Yes.
15· · · · Q.· ·Would you please turn to the next page to
16· ·Section 9.6.
17· · · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · · Q.· ·Would you please read Section 9.6 into the
19· ·record.
20· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.· "Insolvency, bankruptcy,"
21· ·underlined.· "This agreement shall terminate (1) on
22· ·the filing of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or
23· ·for reorganization under any bankruptcy law, or a
24· ·petition for the appointment of a receiver of all or
25· ·any substantial portion of the assets of either party,
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·1· ·or any voluntary or involuntary steps to dissolve
·2· ·unless such steps to dissolve are promptly reversed or
·3· ·voided; 2) upon the consent by either party of an
·4· ·order for relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or
·5· ·the failure to vacate such an order for relief within
·6· ·ninety days (90) days from and after the date of entry
·7· ·thereof; (3) upon the entry of an order, judgment, or
·8· ·decree adjudging a party as bankrupt or insolvent or
·9· ·which appoints or provides for the taking of
10· ·possession by a receiver, trustee, liquidator, or
11· ·similar official for any of the property of a party
12· ·and any such order, judgment, or decree continuing
13· ·unstayed and, in effect, for a period of 90 days."
14· · · · Q.· ·Thank you, Mr. Iglesias.
15· · · · · · ·Would you please turn to Exhibit 71, which is
16· ·in the same volume.· Mr. Iglesias, do you recognize
17· ·this document?
18· · · · A.· ·This is the Freedom contract with AllCare.
19· · · · Q.· ·And --
20· · · · A.· ·HMO contract.· Sorry.
21· · · · Q.· ·Understood.· I apologize.
22· · · · · · ·And does your version of this document have
23· ·Bates stamps?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, it does.
25· · · · Q.· ·Would you please turn to the page marked
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·1· ·HYGEA_000093.
·2· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And do you remember earlier today reading
·4· ·this -- reading this document into the record or
·5· ·reading -- I'm sorry -- Section 4.3 and 4.3.1 into the
·6· ·record?
·7· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · · Q.· ·Would you please turn to the next page at
·9· ·4.3.4.
10· · · · A.· ·4.3.4.· Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·Would you please read 4.3.4 into the record.
12· · · · A.· ·"4.3.4:· Plan may terminate this agreement
13· ·and/or any group physician with cause effective
14· ·immediately upon written notice.· Plan may reasonably
15· ·determine costs such that:· A, group and/or group
16· ·physicians continued participation in this agreement
17· ·may adversely affect the health, well-being of any
18· ·member or the reputation of the plan; B, group
19· ·physician fails to pass plan credentialing criteria;
20· ·C, group physician becomes unable to perform covered
21· ·services under this agreement."
22· · · · Q.· ·Thank you, Mr. Iglesias.
23· · · · · · ·Would you please turn to the other volume of
24· ·documents that you have and turn to Exhibit 72.
25· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, what is this document?
·2· · · · A.· ·It is the HMO agreement between Preferred
·3· ·Care Partners and MedPlan Clinic, LLC.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And you recognize this document, correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·MedPlan Clinic, LLC is a wholly-owned
·6· ·subsidiary of Hygea.
·7· · · · Q.· ·Is your version of the document Bates
·8· ·stamped?
·9· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.
10· · · · Q.· ·Would you please turn to the page Bates
11· ·stamped HYGEA_000130.
12· · · · A.· ·130?
13· · · · Q.· ·Correct.
14· · · · A.· ·I'm here.
15· · · · Q.· ·And do you remember reading a provision from
16· ·this document into the record earlier?
17· · · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · · Q.· ·Would you at this time read into the record
19· ·Section 9.1, including section 9.1(a)?
20· · · · A.· ·.1, "Termination for cause by plan,"
21· ·underlined.· "This agreement may be terminated by plan
22· ·for cause with regard to network or any network
23· ·provider by delivering to network written notice
24· ·stating:· (1) effective date of termination; (2)
25· ·reasons for termination.· If terminating a network
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·1· ·provider, plan must also provide (3) information
·2· ·regarding the network's provider's right to appeal the
·3· ·termination.
·4· · · · · · ·"'Cause' means any of the following events:
·5· ·A, if network or a network provider commences an action
·6· ·for relief as a debtor under the United States
·7· ·bankruptcy laws, or any bankruptcy, receivership,
·8· ·insolvency, reorganization, dissolution, liquidation or
·9· ·similar proceedings is instituted against network or
10· ·any of the network's physicians or principals;"
11· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.· Would you please turn to the
12· ·exhibit in the same binder, Exhibit 73.
13· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.
14· · · · Q.· ·Do you recognize this document, Mr. Iglesias?
15· · · · A.· ·Yes.
16· · · · Q.· ·What is it?
17· · · · A.· ·It's a Humana Health Plan Agreement, HMO
18· ·agreement with somebody.· One of our -- can't tell you
19· ·who with.· I'm sorry.· Give me a second.· With First
20· ·Harbor MSO.
21· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Mr. Iglesias, do you remember reading
22· ·a provision of this document into the record earlier
23· ·today?
24· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.
25· · · · Q.· ·Would you please turn to HYGEA_000174.
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·1· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mine doesn't have the Bates
·2· ·stamp.· What paragraph are you going to be looking at?
·3· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· It is the page beginning with
·4· ·Section 6.2 and going into section 7.1.
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.
·6· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, was the provision
·7· ·that you read into the record earlier today Section 7.2?
·8· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Would you please read into the record
10· ·Section 7.3.
11· · · · A.· ·7.3.· "Humana may terminate this agreement,
12· ·or any individual participating provider, immediately
13· ·upon written notice to IPA or any IPA provider,
14· ·stating the cause for such termination, in the event;
15· ·(1) APAs or any APA providers, or any individual
16· ·participating providers, continue participation under
17· ·this agreement may adversely affect the health, safety
18· ·or welfare of any member or brings Humana or its
19· ·healthcare network into disrepute; (2) IPA or any IPA
20· ·provider or any individual participating provider
21· ·fails to meet Humana credentialing or recredentialing
22· ·criteria; (3) IPA or any IPA provider or any
23· ·individual participating provider is excluded from
24· ·participating in any federal healthcare program; (4)
25· ·IPA or any IPA provider or any individual
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·1· ·participating provider voluntarily or involuntarily
·2· ·seeks projection from creditors through bankruptcy
·3· ·proceedings or engages in or acquiesces to
·4· ·receivership or assignment of accounts for the benefit
·5· ·of creditors; or (5) Humana loses its authority to do
·6· ·business in total or as to any limited segment of the
·7· ·business, but then only as to that segment."
·8· · · · Q.· ·Thank you, Mr. Iglesias.
·9· · · · · · ·Would you please turn to Exhibit 75 in the
10· ·same binder.
11· · · · A.· ·Yes.
12· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Would you please turn -- is your
13· ·version Bates stamped, Mr. Iglesias?
14· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.
15· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, is your version Bates
16· ·stamped?
17· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· It is.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Would you please turn to the page
19· ·where the Bates stamp is on side to HYGEA_000268.
20· · · · A.· ·Yes, ma'am.
21· · · · Q.· ·And do you recall reading a provision of this
22· ·document into the record earlier today?
23· · · · A.· ·Yes.
24· · · · Q.· ·Was that provision 9.4?
25· · · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Would you please turn to the page --
·2· ·the next page, HYGEA_000267.
·3· · · · A.· ·The previous page?
·4· · · · Q.· ·Correct.· I apologize.· The previous page.
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·6· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Would you please read into the record
·7· ·Section 9.1, including 9.1(A).
·8· · · · A.· ·9.1.· "Termination for cause by plan,"
·9· ·underscored.· "This agreement may be terminated by
10· ·plan for cause with regard to network or any network
11· ·provider by delivering to network written notice
12· ·stating:· (1) the effective date of termination; (2)
13· ·reasons for the termination.
14· · · · · · ·"If terminating a network provider, plan must
15· ·also provide (3) information regarding the network
16· ·provider's right to appeal the termination.· The term
17· ·'cause' means any of the following events:· A, if
18· ·network or a network provider commences an action for
19· ·relief as a debtor under the United States bankruptcy
20· ·laws, or any bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency,
21· ·reorganization, dissolution, liquidation or similar
22· ·proceedings is instituted against network or any of
23· ·network's physicians or principals."
24· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.· You can put the exhibit binder
25· ·away.
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·1· · · · · · ·Mr. Iglesias, do you have an opinion as to
·2· ·whether or not the HMOs would exercise their -- the
·3· ·termination for cause provisions we've just read if
·4· ·this Court appoints a receiver over Hygea Holdings
·5· ·Corp.?
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection, Your Honor.· I don't
·7· ·believe that the foundation has been laid for --
·8· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
·9· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, what is your
10· ·experience with HMOs?
11· · · · A.· ·I'm a member of the health law section of
12· ·the Florida Bar.· I've practiced healthcare law for
13· ·approximately 12 years before devoting full-time
14· ·efforts to Hygea.
15· · · · · · ·I have been the founder and general counsel
16· ·of an HMO as -- as a lawyer.· I feel comfortable and
17· ·knowledgeable of what -- regulatory processes for HMOs
18· ·and how they work.
19· · · · Q.· ·Are you aware of any instances in which HMOs
20· ·have canceled HMO contracts similar to these upon the
21· ·appointment of a receiver over a company?
22· · · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · · Q.· ·I'll repeat my question.
24· · · · · · ·Do you hold an opinion as to whether or not
25· ·the HMOs under the contracts we've just looked at would
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·1· ·exercise the termination for cause provision if this

·2· ·Court appointed a receiver over Hygea?

·3· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm going to renew my
·4· ·objection.· I still don't believe there's sufficient

·5· ·foundation for a lay opinion as to this.· There's --

·6· ·the witness has testified the instances of
·7· ·cancellation, but nothing further beyond that and his

·8· ·general background.

·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· You can answer.
10· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It is my opinion that the HMOs
11· ·would cancel upon the appointment of a receiver, but
12· ·would use the not for cause provision because what they
13· ·have found is when they use the for cause provision, it
14· ·usually brings collateral litigation to the HMO for
15· ·issues that they haven't created.· But the fact is they
16· ·will cancel or are apt to cancel if an entity goes into
17· ·receivership.
18· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, do you have a basis

19· ·for your opinion?
20· · · · A.· ·I've discussed it with the president of
21· ·Health Sun Health Plan, the past president and CEO.
22· ·He just left about two weeks ago.· And other people in
23· ·the healthcare industry.
24· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; hearsay.· This is

25· ·statements that another individual conveyed to him
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·1· ·apparently.
·2· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
·3· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I believe Mr. Iglesias is merely
·4· ·testifying to he has not made -- he has not introduced
·5· ·into the record any hearsay statements.· He's merely --
·6· ·he's merely testifying as to discussions that he's had.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The hearsay objection is
·8· ·sustained.
·9· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, do you still have
10· ·with you the promissory note and personal guarantee that
11· ·plaintiffs' counsel --
12· · · · A.· ·194?
13· · · · Q.· ·Correct.
14· · · · A.· ·Yes.
15· · · · Q.· ·-- that plaintiffs' counsel questioned you
16· ·on?· And do you recall the questioning regarding
17· ·conflicts of interest?
18· · · · A.· ·Yes.
19· · · · Q.· ·Do you believe that by having entered into
20· ·this promissory note and personal guarantee that you
21· ·have placed yourself into a position of a conflict of
22· ·interest?
23· · · · A.· ·No, not at all.
24· · · · Q.· ·Can you explain why?
25· · · · A.· ·My family group is the largest shareholder
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·1· ·in Hygea, and we have a stake that's valued in the
·2· ·market today north of $50 million in Hygea.· And to --
·3· ·during this very difficult period that we've gone
·4· ·through, to add a personal guarantee of an additional
·5· ·3 million to make sure that not only my interests but
·6· ·the interests of the other shareholders comes out
·7· ·positive at the end of this process is worth the risk.
·8· ·And I thought not only it's not a conflict of
·9· ·interest, I should have been patted on the back.
10· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Thank you, Your Honor.· I have no
11· ·further questions.
12· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Cross-exam -- redirect?· Excuse
13· ·me.
14· · · · · · · · · · REDIRECT EXAMINATION
15· ·BY MR. KAYE:
16· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, you testified within about the
17· ·past minute as to the stake that your family has in
18· ·Hygea and its value in the market, correct?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
20· · · · Q.· ·How have you valued it in the market?
21· · · · A.· ·There's been a tremendous consolidation in
22· ·the marketplace at least in Florida over the last two
23· ·years, and the market value of a company today in
24· ·Florida is conservatively eight times -- eight to nine
25· ·and a half times EBITDA on a 12-month back-looking.
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·1· · · · · · ·So, for example, we achieved -- you just
·2· ·received the final QOE showing $35 million EBITDA for
·3· ·'17.· We have internally completed numbers for the
·4· ·first quarter of '18 and are on a 60 million annualized
·5· ·EBITDA for '18.
·6· · · · · · ·If you averaged those out -- assuming a sale,
·7· ·for example, June 30th we'll have about $45 million in
·8· ·EBITDA times eight, it's approximately a $400 million
·9· ·valuation.· And my family owns about 25 percent of the
10· ·company.
11· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm going to move to
12· ·strike everything that came after the indication that,
13· ·"I had just received a copy of the QOE."· It is true,
14· ·it is accurate that something purporting to be the QOE
15· ·was handed to me during I think the most recent break,
16· ·within the past hour or so.
17· · · · · · ·That is something that I -- I assume we're
18· ·going to have some motion practice about going forward,
19· ·but I don't believe the foundation for that has been
20· ·laid in any respect thus far.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, Mr. Kaye asked the
23· ·question about how Mr. Iglesias is valuing his family's
24· ·stake in the company.· That is how Mr. Iglesias is
25· ·valuing the stake in the company.· I think it's fair to
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·1· ·allow it in.
·2· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The objection's overruled.
·3· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you.
·4· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Mr. Iglesias, you spoke in some
·5· ·detail about the -- about the circumstances relating to
·6· ·some bounced paychecks a few moments ago; isn't that
·7· ·correct?
·8· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·9· · · · Q.· ·You seemed to have a pretty clear memory
10· ·about those bounced paychecks, correct?
11· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
12· · · · Q.· ·Is it safe to say your memory about the
13· ·bounced paychecks is better than your memory about the
14· ·circumstances of your execution of the promissory note
15· ·that we've been discussing?
16· · · · A.· ·I wouldn't say so.
17· · · · Q.· ·I want to go back to the -- strike that.
18· · · · · · ·You testified regarding your opinion as to
19· ·the -- why an HMO might -- might terminate a contract,
20· ·correct, a contract with a medical provider?
21· · · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · · Q.· ·And in your experience and observation, HMOs
23· ·will cancel contracts with providers for reasons other
24· ·than receivership, correct?
25· · · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And if medical practices experience or
·2· ·medical plans experience severe financial distress or
·3· ·operational distress, that could cause a termination
·4· ·too, correct?
·5· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· No further questions, Your Honor.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Recross on those questions?
·8· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I don't have any at this time,
·9· ·Your Honor.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· You can step down.
11· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, sir.
12· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Your next witness?
13· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, at this point
14· ·plaintiffs rest their case in chief.
15· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall, do you have your first
16· ·witness here?
17· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I'm going to be making
18· ·a judgment as a matter of law at this point.
19· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.
20· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, plaintiffs have moved
21· ·for receiver -- and let me back up.· I'm making a
22· ·judgment as a matter of law or in the alternative a
23· ·judgment on partial findings.
24· · · · · · ·Plaintiffs have moved for a receiver under
25· ·three bases, 78.650, 78.630, and 32.010.· Let me first
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·1· ·address 32.010.· That is a provision that allows for
·2· ·the appointment of a receiver in a matter where there's
·3· ·already a pending claim other than that for the
·4· ·appointment of a receiver in the Court.· It is an
·5· ·ancillary remedy to another claim to preserve the
·6· ·status quo during the pendency of that claim.
·7· · · · · · ·I ask for a judgment as a matter of law on
·8· ·that claim given that we are at the trial of the matter
·9· ·here and, therefore, once this matter concludes, there
10· ·will be no other claim pending or other assets pending
11· ·for receiver to maintain the status quo over.
12· · · · · · ·With respect to 78.650, I'll address the
13· ·provisions regarding insolvency and then solvency and
14· ·then, despite solvency, that the corporation is unable
15· ·to pay its debts as they mature.
16· · · · · · ·With respect to insolvency, I do not believe
17· ·plaintiffs have presented any evidence, much less met
18· ·their burden of a preponderance of the evidence, that
19· ·the corporation is insolvent as that term is understood
20· ·and employed in the Nevada Revised Statutes, which is
21· ·simply that the fair market value -- I apologize,
22· ·Your Honor -- that the liabilities of the corporation
23· ·exceed the fair market value of the assets of the
24· ·corporation.
25· · · · · · ·With respect to the second monetary provision
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·1· ·that despite the corporation being solvent, it is
·2· ·unable to pay its debts as they mature, I do not
·3· ·believe that plaintiffs have met their burden of
·4· ·showing by a preponderance of the evidence that the
·5· ·corporation is unable to pay its bona fide debts as
·6· ·they mature.
·7· · · · · · ·Although we have certainly heard discussions
·8· ·about debts that may be unpaid, the corporation is
·9· ·managing those debts at this time.· And I do not
10· ·believe that plaintiffs have met the preponderance of
11· ·the burden showing that the extraordinary relief of a
12· ·receiver is warranted at this time.
13· · · · · · ·Moreover, I don't think that the plaintiffs
14· ·have shown that a receiver would actually address the
15· ·cash constraints that the corporation has admitted that
16· ·it is facing on a short-term basis.
17· · · · · · ·With respect to 78.650(a), that the
18· ·corporation has willfully violated its charter, I do
19· ·not believe plaintiffs have presented any evidence,
20· ·much less a preponderance of the evidence, that the
21· ·corporation has done anything to violate its charter.
22· · · · · · ·I do understand that in their trial
23· ·statement, they attempt to allege that the corporation
24· ·has violated its bylaws.· The corporation has not
25· ·violated its bylaws.· But in any event, bylaws do not
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·1· ·constitute the corporation's charter.
·2· · · · · · ·The charter, Your Honor, is the articles of
·3· ·incorporation of the -- the articles of incorporation
·4· ·of the company.· And there has been absolutely no
·5· ·evidence here, much less even admission of the articles
·6· ·of incorporation into the record, if I remember
·7· ·correctly, I'm happy to be corrected on that, that the
·8· ·corporation has violated any of the terms of its
·9· ·articles of incorporation.
10· · · · · · ·With respect to the next two provisions, B
11· ·and C, regarding that the trustees or directors have
12· ·engaged in fraud or gross mismanagement or that the
13· ·trustees or directors have engaged in malfeasance,
14· ·misfeasance, or nonfeasance, what we have seen from
15· ·plaintiffs, Your Honor, is a concentration on the
16· ·actions, the purported actions, of Mr. Iglesias,
17· ·Mr. Moffly, and Mr. Savchenko -- I'm sorry, I should
18· ·take Mr. Savchenko out -- Mr. Iglesias and Mr. Moffly
19· ·in their capacities as CEO and CFO.· There have been no
20· ·allegations and no evidence presented against them in
21· ·their capacity as directors of the company.
22· · · · · · ·In addition to that, the directors of Hygea
23· ·are nine in number.· There have been no allegations and
24· ·no evidence presented that the agencies -- that the
25· ·directors working as a majority, which is how the
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·1· ·directors have to act, have engaged in fraud, gross
·2· ·mismanagement, malfeasance, misfeasance, or
·3· ·nonfeasance.
·4· · · · · · ·And, therefore, I would ask for a judgment as
·5· ·a matter of law under plaintiffs' claims under 78.650.
·6· ·With respect to 78.630, I believe that those claims
·7· ·under 78.630 merely fall within the ambit of 78.650,
·8· ·and, therefore, if Your Honor grants a judgment as a
·9· ·matter of law or a judgment as a matter of partial
10· ·findings, it should be encompassed under 78.630 as
11· ·well.
12· · · · · · ·For these reasons, Your Honor, we would move
13· ·for a judgment as a matter of law and seek immediate
14· ·dismissal of this case, or at the very least judgment
15· ·on partial findings as to discrete parts of the claim,
16· ·including, Your Honor, for purposes of efficiency so
17· ·that we can narrow the remainder of this case and
18· ·determine what defenses we will put on if this case
19· ·continues.
20· · · · · · ·Thank you, Your Honor.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mr. Kaye?
22· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, thank you.· A couple
23· ·of responses which will, I think by necessity, speak a
24· ·little bit to our case in total and also respond to
25· ·counsel's specific arguments.
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·1· · · · · · ·First of all, I want to talk about the
·2· ·statutory bases here and -- and how they interrelate to
·3· ·one another.· I think that there is some measure of
·4· ·interrelation as counsel alluded to starting at 78.630,
·5· ·which speaks to either insolvency or an operation of
·6· ·the corporation at a great loss that's greatly
·7· ·prejudicial to the interests of stockholders.
·8· · · · · · ·And we have spoken at length about the -- the
·9· ·criteria set forth in 78.650.· And I will speak to --
10· ·to some further length as to those.· We have seen at
11· ·the outset -- from the outset, excuse me, I think
12· ·substantial evidence of either misfeasance,
13· ·malfeasance, or nonfeasance from the leadership of
14· ·Hygea.
15· · · · · · ·We have seen evidence of overstated financial
16· ·performance and financial indications in the company's
17· ·books that an outside consultant, Mr. Dragelin, that
18· ·Hygea hired found to be, I think it's fair to say,
19· ·unsupported.
20· · · · · · ·Now, I think it's very -- it's very
21· ·interesting when you look at the -- I don't have the
22· ·exhibit in front of me, I believe it's 28 or 29, that
23· ·showed the numbers that management was proposing and
24· ·compared those to the numbers that Mr. Dragelin and his
25· ·team thought were supportable.
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·1· · · · · · ·Now, that gets to the misfeasance,
·2· ·malfeasance.· We've heard evidence, and I don't think
·3· ·it's a huge part of this case, but we've heard evidence
·4· ·that some of those figures that Mr. Dragelin seemed to
·5· ·conclude were unsupported and, perhaps, exaggerated had
·6· ·been presented to one of the shareholders here, N5HYG's
·7· ·parent, as -- during the period of their investment
·8· ·decision.· So that gets to -- that shows some
·9· ·misfeasance or malfeasance.
10· · · · · · ·Now let's talk about the board's role in that
11· ·because that's a point that counsel just raised.· It's
12· ·true that when we talk about those financial metrics,
13· ·that's primarily a discussion that we've seen on an
14· ·evidentiary basis relating to the top executives at
15· ·Hygea.
16· · · · · · ·But the board is responsible for the
17· ·oversight of Hygea.· And look -- look at the word in
18· ·the statute there, nonfeasance.· Now, the indication we
19· ·just heard from counsel is that, well, we haven't shown
20· ·any fraud on the part of -- of the board.
21· · · · · · ·I'm not sure that's true because one of the
22· ·emails that -- that was provided to Dan Miller, and I
23· ·don't have the exhibit -- exhibit number offhand, but
24· ·one of the emails that was passing along some of those
25· ·financial figures that we contend were exaggerated
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·1· ·indicated that this is what's been approved by the
·2· ·board.
·3· · · · · · ·But set that aside, set the issue -- set
·4· ·aside the issue of whether or not the board engaged in
·5· ·some sort of affirmative misconduct.· I think the
·6· ·record is very clear that the board at the very
·7· ·least -- that the board at the very -- at the very
·8· ·least was -- was, to put a fine point on it, asleep at
·9· ·the switch here.
10· · · · · · ·And that's nonfeasance.· And under counsel's
11· ·suggestion that we would need to show affirmative
12· ·misconduct, I think the nonfeasance part of the statute
13· ·becomes dead letter.
14· · · · · · ·I'm thinking here particularly of the
15· ·August 2017 board minutes, which the co-chair of the
16· ·board, Dan McGowan, says, "We live or die by the
17· ·audits."
18· · · · · · ·We heard a lot about the audits.· I think the
19· ·audits are interesting not just in and of themselves
20· ·that the corporation couldn't -- management couldn't
21· ·get the audits done, but management was either unable
22· ·to do them or unwilling to do them and show what
23· ·they -- show the world what they might say or show the
24· ·stakeholders what they might say, despite the repeated,
25· ·repeated promises to get them done and the repeated
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·1· ·representations that they were just around the corner.
·2· · · · · · ·That was August of 2017.· And look at
·3· ·everything that's happened since then.· And that gets
·4· ·to one of the things we have discussed, which is
·5· ·whether or not the corporation is solvent, the question
·6· ·of whether or not it's able to pay its bills as they
·7· ·come due.
·8· · · · · · ·There was some discussion here of bona fide
·9· ·debts and so forth.· I don't think we need to
10· ·adjudicate each and every obligation here.· We've had
11· ·Mr. Iglesias admit that Bridging Finance, the primary
12· ·lender, was unpaid in July -- for July and August of
13· ·2017.
14· · · · · · ·We've also seen indications from doctors
15· ·that -- that payments weren't made.· We heard from
16· ·Dr. Gaylis that the payments for his medication --
17· ·literally the lifeblood of his -- of his practice was
18· ·unpaid.
19· · · · · · ·We've heard about -- we've just heard from
20· ·Mr. Iglesias about bounced checks to front line
21· ·employees, bounced paychecks, and we've known for some
22· ·time about the -- the failure to pay executives,
23· ·including we saw Mr. Miller, who also testified that he
24· ·was engaged in the efforts to try to get things paid
25· ·when vendors were coming to the corporation having
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·1· ·significant problems with that.
·2· · · · · · ·We know about the mounting pile of
·3· ·litigation.· That was even referenced in the promissory
·4· ·note that we just -- that we just heard about.· And we
·5· ·know that Hygea -- that Mr. Iglesias has admitted that
·6· ·Hygea was failing to pay taxes.
·7· · · · · · ·So there is overwhelming indicia of a failure
·8· ·to pay bills as they come due.· I think that the
·9· ·violation of the bylaws is illustrative and it speaks
10· ·to the -- it speaks to the interests of -- of corporate
11· ·governance that the statute seeks to protect.
12· · · · · · ·I think the answer as to why it was -- why
13· ·Mr. Fowler was not provided access was because he had
14· ·not executed -- executed a power of attorney, well,
15· ·look, if we're going to argue every -- every -- the
16· ·dotting of every I and crossing of every T, I suppose
17· ·we can do that.· But it still speaks to whether or not
18· ·the corporation is -- is engaged in the spirit of -- of
19· ·the bylaws and the spirit of respecting the rights of
20· ·its shareholders.
21· · · · · · ·This all raises very serious concerns about
22· ·the corporation's ability to continue as a -- to
23· ·continue and to survive.· What we've seen in the last
24· ·few hours is that the apparent lifeline that has been
25· ·thrown to -- by Bridging Finance came in the form of a
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·1· ·very unusual document with relation to a very unusual
·2· ·sort of arrangement that does not seem to be
·3· ·sustainable.· If we are down to putting liens on
·4· ·Mr. Iglesias' farm, the end for Hygea looks
·5· ·frighteningly close.
·6· · · · · · ·And I think that -- though the criteria under
·7· ·78.650 are -- are significant here, not just from the
·8· ·perspective of looking under that statute, and once
·9· ·again, as we've said, we only need to -- we only need
10· ·to meet one, and we meet several in an interrelated
11· ·manner.
12· · · · · · ·But it also informs the Court's exercise of
13· ·its inherent authority under -- under NRS 32.010, which
14· ·provides that, "A receiver may be appointed by the
15· ·Court in which an action is pending or by the judge
16· ·thereof; (6) in all other cases where receivers have
17· ·heretofore been appointed by the usages of the courts
18· ·of equity."
19· · · · · · ·And there is -- the appointment of receivers
20· ·and circumstances such as this is well founded in
21· ·equity.· I'm reading here from an ALR, 43 ALR 242,
22· ·originally published in 1926.
23· · · · · · ·The rule has now settled that a court of
24· ·equity has inherent jurisdiction at the instance of
25· ·stockholders in a proper case to appoint a receiver for
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·1· ·a solvent corporation on the ground of fraud, gross
·2· ·mismanagement, or dissensions among the shareholders,
·3· ·directors, or officers if there is no other adequate
·4· ·remedy.
·5· · · · · · ·The case law that defendants have relied on
·6· ·throughout this -- throughout this matter to suggest
·7· ·that there needs to be an ancillary proceeding is I
·8· ·believe unpersuasive.· There is not a need for an
·9· ·ancillary proceeding under the statute.
10· · · · · · ·And, in fact, this Court does have the
11· ·authority, the inherent authority, to -- to appoint a
12· ·receiver under that statute, not under 32.010, and
13· ·under its inherent equitable authority, which I believe
14· ·is informed by the criteria of NRS 78.650.
15· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I would say, first of
16· ·all -- I'll start again.· 32.010 has been very clearly
17· ·held not by -- not only by its own language but also by
18· ·the language of the Supreme Court.
19· · · · · · ·And I find the Nevada Supreme Court's
20· ·unambiguous language that there needs to be a claim
21· ·pending, other than that for the appointment of a
22· ·receiver, incredibly persuasive, despite what Mr. Kaye
23· ·may argue.· It simply does not make sense to have
24· ·32.010 as a claim pending when we are at the trial of
25· ·this matter.
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·1· · · · · · ·With respect to 78.630, what I would offer
·2· ·Your Honor is that if the Court looks at 78.630(3), it
·3· ·is not merely a showing of insolvency or suspension of
·4· ·ordinary business or a conduct of the business at a
·5· ·great loss and greatly prejudicial to the interests of
·6· ·the creditors or stockholders, all of which I do not
·7· ·believe plaintiffs have presented evidence; to the
·8· ·extent they have it, does not meet the preponderance of
·9· ·evidence standard.
10· · · · · · ·If Your Honor looks at 78.630(3), also says
11· ·that it has to be that the business cannot be conducted
12· ·with safety to the public.· And there has been no
13· ·evidence here, and to the extent there has, there
14· ·certainly hasn't been a preponderance of the evidence,
15· ·that Hygea's business is being conducted so that
16· ·without a receiver, it cannot do so without great
17· ·safety to the public.· I know I said that confusingly.
18· · · · · · ·With respect to 78.650, again, I'll direct
19· ·the Court's attention to 78.650(A), the corporation has
20· ·willfully violated its charter.· The charter means the
21· ·articles of incorporation.· The articles of
22· ·incorporation are Exhibit 46.· They haven't even been
23· ·admitted into the record.· There has been no allegation
24· ·that -- that the corporation has violated the articles
25· ·of incorporation.
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·1· · · · · · ·With respect to the bylaws, yes, to the
·2· ·extent the bylaws might be considered by this Court to
·3· ·be part of the charter, which I would strongly disagree
·4· ·with from a legal -- from a wealth of law standpoint,
·5· ·we would say that if a shareholder makes a books and
·6· ·records demand under the bylaws, if they are putting
·7· ·the corporation to its test to adhere to the bylaws,
·8· ·then, yes, the shareholder too must cross I's and dot
·9· ·its T's when attempting to exercise its right
10· ·underneath the bylaws.
11· · · · · · ·With respect to 78.3506 (B) and (D), again,
12· ·there has been no evidence that the directors have been
13· ·guilty of fraud or conclusion or gross mismanagement in
14· ·the conduct or control of Hygea's affairs.
15· · · · · · ·More so, there has been no evidence that the
16· ·directors acting as a majority have been guilty of
17· ·misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance.· At most
18· ·there has been an intimation by Mr. Kaye during
19· ·argument that the directors apparently were asleep at
20· ·the switch, but there has been no evidence, and
21· ·certainly no preponderance of the evidence.
22· · · · · · ·I will also speak to subsections H and I,
23· ·which is that the corporation is insolvent or the
24· ·corporation, although not insolvent, is not for any
25· ·cause able to pay its debts or obligations as they
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·1· ·mature.
·2· · · · · · ·Again, no evidence by plaintiffs that the
·3· ·corporation is insolvent.· At most we have seen with
·4· ·respect to the other subsection that the corporation is
·5· ·attempting to manage its debts, but no evidence that
·6· ·the corporation hasn't managed its debts.
·7· · · · · · ·Moreover, more importantly with respect to
·8· ·78.506 generally and the appointment of a receiver, we
·9· ·have not heard from a proposed receiver at all.· They
10· ·have presented absolutely no evidence here, Your Honor,
11· ·that the receiver that they propose, which is Frank
12· ·Waid, Esq., is in any way fit to run Hygea Holdings
13· ·Corp.
14· · · · · · ·In addition, Your Honor, a receiver is a
15· ·claim in equity, and they have not shown how there is
16· ·no less drastic alternative Hygea.· Rather, what they
17· ·talk about are the audits, which are not relevant
18· ·today, at least with respect to 78.650.
19· · · · · · ·There is a contractual right -- you heard
20· ·testimony from even Mr. Dragelin who said there is no
21· ·regulatory obligation to conduct the '14 and '15
22· ·audits, which we have heard so much about in this
23· ·litigation.
24· · · · · · ·And we have also heard about the bounced
25· ·checks.· Again, that evidence, Your Honor, goes to
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·1· ·showing the corporation is managing its debts.· I think
·2· ·Mr. Iglesias provided an explanation as to why those
·3· ·checks bounced and how the corporation immediately
·4· ·covered those checks.
·5· · · · · · ·But most importantly, Your Honor, I think
·6· ·what we haven't seen any evidence of -- of any of these
·7· ·claims under 78.650 or 630 that are relevant today.
·8· ·The majority of evidence that plaintiffs have put on
·9· ·concern the time period when the lead plaintiff, N5HYG,
10· ·was looking to become an investor in Hygea and
11· ·purported misrepresentations that may have been made by
12· ·Mr. Iglesias and Mr. Moffly during that 2016 time
13· ·period.
14· · · · · · ·In addition, we have heard complaints from
15· ·plaintiff about the audits, a lot about the audits,
16· ·which is reflected in a Stock Purchase Agreement
17· ·between N5HYG and Hygea.· But, again, that is a breach
18· ·of contract claim, not a basis for the appointment of a
19· ·receivership.
20· · · · · · ·Plaintiffs have presented absolutely no
21· ·evidence or, at best, scant evidence of what is
22· ·happening today at Hygea.· Your Honor, I believe that
23· ·is the relevant time period for this Court to consider.
24· ·For these reasons, we move for judgment as a matter of
25· ·law or, alternatively, judgment on partial findings.
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·1· ·Thank you.
·2· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, if I could respond
·3· ·quite briefly?· I hope.
·4· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Let me ask you a question first,
·5· ·and then I'll let you do that.· And Ms. Gall, I'll give
·6· ·you another chance.
·7· · · · · · ·Mr. Kaye, is it the plaintiffs' position that
·8· ·the business has been conducted at a great loss?
·9· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, it is the -- it is the
10· ·plaintiffs' position that it has been conducted.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· What evidence has been presented
12· ·that supports that?
13· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· I think -- Your Honor, I believe
14· ·we've heard evidence -- we've heard evidence that it
15· ·is -- it is a break-even business last summer; that
16· ·despite the claimed healthy EBITDA, it was roughly
17· ·break even.· We have also seen indications that since
18· ·that time, the situation has, if anything,
19· ·deteriorated.· We've also heard -- admitted --
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Can you -- I'm sorry to interrupt
21· ·you, and I hate it because I don't want to interrupt
22· ·your line of thought.· But what specific evidence shows
23· ·that it's worse now than you said last summer?
24· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Certainly, Your Honor.· I think
25· ·that Dr. Gaylis' declaration -- I'm going to reference
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·1· ·his declaration here because I'm familiar with --
·2· ·familiar with the specific comment that he made -- was
·3· ·that he was -- the problems seemed to be mounting in
·4· ·the end of 2017, beginning of 2018.
·5· · · · · · ·Mr. Miller testified, if I recall correctly,
·6· ·that there was perhaps mounting difficulties with
·7· ·getting vendors paid, once again, in the fall of 2017.
·8· ·And you'll recall that around late 2017, he personally
·9· ·began to -- began personally to have problems with --
10· ·with expense reimbursements until it got to around
11· ·New Year's when he became unpaid.· They simply stopped
12· ·paying him.· We also know that this is around the
13· ·period of time when Dr. Gaylis indicates that the
14· ·CuraScript crisis really catalyzed and became a huge
15· ·issue.
16· · · · · · ·I think also leading up to -- you know, as we
17· ·sort of continue along that path, the testimony that we
18· ·heard relating to the promissory note is very
19· ·interesting.
20· · · · · · ·We have heard -- there's this admission --
21· ·there's an admission out there from the defendants that
22· ·there is -- there are cash problems.· They've admitted
23· ·to cash problems.· And they say, That's why we're not
24· ·paying -- they hadn't been paying the taxes, and that's
25· ·why they hadn't been paying the executives, so forth.
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·1· · · · · · ·You look at the document that Mr. Iglesias
·2· ·testified about, the promissory note and personal
·3· ·guarantee, it's very difficult to fathom how that
·4· ·document comes about unless there is a very, very
·5· ·serious cash crisis confronting the corporation,
·6· ·particularly in light of the testimony that
·7· ·Mr. Iglesias offered.· If I recall correctly,
·8· ·Mr. Iglesias testified that Bridging has a demand note
·9· ·and has a security interest in Hygea's assets to begin
10· ·with.
11· · · · · · ·So the -- the $3 million note that
12· ·Mr. Iglesias testified was to use for Hygea now is
13· ·reaching into Mr. Iglesias' personal assets.· It's very
14· ·difficult to see how that happens unless there's really
15· ·a cash crisis here.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· So help me with the modifier
17· ·"great."· A company -- what evidence is it that there
18· ·has been a great loss?
19· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, we know that in 2017,
20· ·it is -- it is a -- in the summer of 2017, it appears
21· ·to be at about a break even situation.· And we do not
22· ·have -- we do not have the up-to-date financials with
23· ·the caveat that there appears to have been some sort of
24· ·development today, but based on the record before us,
25· ·we don't have the up-to-date financials.· But we have a
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·1· ·lot of circumstantial evidence that the situation has
·2· ·deteriorated since then.
·3· · · · · · ·So we go from break even to very --
·4· ·indications of substantial deterioration.· And I think
·5· ·that falls -- that puts it within the -- what the
·6· ·statute contemplates for operation at a great loss.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Was there anything else you
·8· ·wanted to cover?
·9· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· There were a few other points I
10· ·wanted to cover, Your Honor.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Go ahead.
12· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· First of all, there was a
13· ·reference from counsel relating to -- that -- that we
14· ·seem to want to focus on the 2016 allegation of -- the
15· ·allegation of misrepresentations, we think the evidence
16· ·of misrepresentations in 2016.
17· · · · · · ·I don't think that's a fair characterization
18· ·of our case.· That's a part of the case, it's an
19· ·indication, goes to misfeasance, malfeasance,
20· ·nonfeasance, but it's hardly the whole story or even a
21· ·substantial part of the story.
22· · · · · · ·Now, what that illuminates is the apparent
23· ·overstatement of the corporation's financial
24· ·performance.· But we heard testimony yesterday from
25· ·Mr. Dragelin suggesting that that overstatement
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·1· ·continued into 2017.
·2· · · · · · ·And there was an ongoing debate between
·3· ·himself and the executives, sort of led by Mr. Moffly
·4· ·and Mr. Iglesias, saying that, No, no, no, we want to
·5· ·put on our books these numbers that -- that we want to
·6· ·present to those people that have an interest in the
·7· ·corporation.
·8· · · · · · ·That takes it out of 2016, brings it into
·9· ·2017.· Once again, it's just a piece of the puzzle.
10· ·And in certain respects, you know, it seems as if --
11· ·this gets to the adequate remedy at law issue.
12· · · · · · ·It seems as if kind of each issue, there's an
13· ·effort on the part of the defendants to isolate each
14· ·issue and suggest, well, you know, this is really a
15· ·breach of contract issue or, well, this is really --
16· ·that's really a securities fraud issue or so on, so
17· ·forth.
18· · · · · · ·Now, they -- it may be those issues, and we
19· ·do have a different lawsuit for damages.· But what this
20· ·inquiry involves is holistically looking at all of
21· ·these situations.· You could break them down and slice
22· ·them and dice them and say, well, it ought to be this
23· ·or ought to be that.
24· · · · · · ·What this is about is operations and
25· ·management and leadership of the corporation much more
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·1· ·holistically.· So I don't think that those arguments --
·2· ·that those arguments prevail.
·3· · · · · · ·I also want to -- also want to speak briefly
·4· ·to -- to the argument about the ancillary -- the
·5· ·ancillary proceeding in two respects.· One of them is
·6· ·that -- one of the cases that I believe has come up in
·7· ·the papers before is the International Life
·8· ·Underwriters v. Second Judicial District Court case.
·9· ·That's 61 Nev. 42 from 1941.
10· · · · · · ·And that distinguished the earlier case of
11· ·State v. Ex Rel. Nenzel, 49 Nev. 145, saying that under
12· ·the statute at issue there, we do not think that --
13· ·Nenzel and the other cases suggesting that there needed
14· ·to be a pending action before a receiver can be
15· ·appointed.
16· · · · · · ·We do not think that has any relevancy to the
17· ·cases brought under the statute that was at issue there
18· ·and, in fact, rejected the argument that there needs to
19· ·be an ancillary proceeding.
20· · · · · · ·I also want to speak very briefly to the
21· ·equities of the ancillary proceeding argument.· Once
22· ·again, this was initially brought in Las Vegas where
23· ·the -- one of the plaintiffs, N5HYG, had also joined in
24· ·a damages claim in Las Vegas.
25· · · · · · ·Now, defendants removed, and we think that
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·1· ·removal is improper because that's not an argument to
·2· ·have here, they removed the damages claim to federal
·3· ·court in Las Vegas and then argued that this case
·4· ·should be transferred here based on the statutory
·5· ·language, although there was a form selection clause in
·6· ·the Stock Purchase Agreement that we've seen I believe
·7· ·in Exhibit 2.
·8· · · · · · ·In other words, what defendants have done
·9· ·here is they have -- they have severed, so to speak,
10· ·the damages claim and the -- and this -- this
11· ·receivership action and now, having severed them,
12· ·argued, well, you can't have a receivership action
13· ·under 32.010 because the other case isn't here.
14· · · · · · ·Well, the other case is not here because of
15· ·the actions that they've -- that they've taken.  I
16· ·think that speaks, again, to the equities of how 32.010
17· ·applies in -- in this case.
18· · · · · · ·I also want to speak very briefly to the
19· ·issue of Fred Waid.· We have all the confidence in the
20· ·world in Mr. Waid, and we continue to support him as a
21· ·receiver.· We believe two things:· First of all, even
22· ·as I speak, the clock is ticking, and so we want to
23· ·present to the Court the facts and the evidence in this
24· ·case as opposed to bringing in Mr. Waid personally.
25· · · · · · ·Second of all, at the end of the day,
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·1· ·that's -- that is a decision that we respect and defer
·2· ·to the Court on.· While we support Mr. Waid and will be
·3· ·happy to present anything from him that might be
·4· ·necessary, we respect the Court's decision as to who it
·5· ·ultimately appoints.· What is important to us is that
·6· ·we act to protect -- that we act to protect Hygea.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
·8· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Thank you, Your Honor.· I'll start
·9· ·backwards from what Mr. Kaye argued with respect to
10· ·Mr. Waid and the preservation of time.· That is
11· ·plaintiffs' burden.· They brought this case.· They
12· ·brought it under an emergency basis.· They are required
13· ·to demonstrate the appropriateness of a receiver here.
14· ·And I would argue, Your Honor, that includes the
15· ·receiver that they seek to have this Court appointed.
16· · · · · · ·Secondly, Your Honor, Mr. Kaye argued about
17· ·the litigations that were filed in Las Vegas.· Let me
18· ·be very clear about this.· They filed a securities
19· ·litigation in Department 25 before Judge Delaney.· We
20· ·exercised our rights because we believe that it was
21· ·properly in federal court under the securities act.
22· · · · · · ·They did not make a claim for receiver in
23· ·that act -- in that complaint.· They could have done
24· ·so.· They filed that action in October.· In January,
25· ·after we filed our motion to dismiss and after the

Page 74PET001602



Page 607
·1· ·Private Securities Litigation Reform Act kicked into
·2· ·stay discovery, they filed this action on January 26th
·3· ·on an emergency basis before the business courts in the
·4· ·Eighth Judicial District Court.
·5· · · · · · ·Yes, we did seek a transfer of venue, which
·6· ·Judge Allf granted because the statutes are very clear
·7· ·that this action has to be filed in the district court
·8· ·of the county in which the corporation's registered
·9· ·agent sits.
10· · · · · · ·So it is not us that has split a damages
11· ·claim from the equity claim.· That was plaintiffs'
12· ·decision to first file a claim without a receivership
13· ·claim in it, or a complaint without a receivership
14· ·claim, and then months later filed this action.
15· · · · · · ·If we're talking about equity, Your Honor,
16· ·that is the equity state.· In addition, Your Honor, I
17· ·think the equities go to the paucity of evidence, of
18· ·relevant evidence that plaintiffs have presented here
19· ·over the last three days.
20· · · · · · ·Mr. Kaye stood before this Court, Your Honor,
21· ·and questioned Mr. Iglesias for hours.· And during that
22· ·time, Mr. Kaye made the statement that they were asking
23· ·the questions about the bank statements, which he must
24· ·have spent over an hour on, because they did not have
25· ·the evidence that they had not conducted discovery.
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·1· · · · · · ·Well, Your Honor, I would posit plaintiffs
·2· ·brought this case on an emergency basis and asked for a
·3· ·temporary receiver.· They must have had some evidence
·4· ·to seek even the appointment of a temporary receiver.
·5· ·And I have not seen that evidence today.
·6· · · · · · ·And Mr. Kaye spoke about circumstantial
·7· ·evidence.· Your Honor, circumstantial evidence does not
·8· ·mean a preponderance of the evidence.· I would offer
·9· ·that they have -- they have submitted into the record
10· ·very little evidence and certainly not a preponderance
11· ·of the evidence.
12· · · · · · ·Even with respect to Mr. Kaye's argument
13· ·about Mr. Dragelin's testimony and Dr. Gayle's
14· ·testimony, again, Mr. Dragelin has admitted he has not
15· ·been at the company since August of 2017, and he has no
16· ·idea whether Hygea remains a going concern today and
17· ·what Hygea's financial state is today.
18· · · · · · ·With respect to Dr. Gaylis, I believe
19· ·Dr. Gaylis admitted he is not involved in the company's
20· ·financials and, indeed, did not even request the
21· ·financials from the company.· Therefore, I don't
22· ·believe either of those witnesses are credible or can
23· ·speak to Hygea's financial state today, including
24· ·insolvency.
25· · · · · · ·With respect to what Your Honor asked about
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·1· ·whether this company is being conducted at a great
·2· ·loss, I don't think Mr. Kaye answered that question,
·3· ·including the modifier "great."· He admitted at best
·4· ·what they have is a break-even business as of last
·5· ·year.
·6· · · · · · ·Your Honor, there is simply not --
·7· ·insufficient evidence in the record, and certainly not
·8· ·a preponderance of the evidence at this point, to grant
·9· ·a receivership.· Thank you, Your Honor.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Well, on NRS 32.010, the Court
11· ·agrees with the defense based on the Nenzel case,
12· ·49 Nev. 145, that the statute -- well, the
13· ·Supreme Court, the gloss on the statute requires that
14· ·there be an action pending, something other than just a
15· ·receivership.· So the claims under 32.010 are dismissed
16· ·as a matter of law.
17· · · · · · ·The 78.630, the Court finds that there is not
18· ·sufficient evidence, that the business has been and is
19· ·being conducted at a great loss and greatly prejudicial
20· ·to the interests of its creditors or stockholders, so
21· ·that portion of the claim is also dismissed as a matter
22· ·of law.
23· · · · · · ·Under NRS 78.650, the Court finds that the
24· ·corporation has not -- there's not evidence to support
25· ·a finding that the corporation has willfully violated

Page 610
·1· ·its charter.
·2· · · · · · ·The Court agrees with plaintiffs that there
·3· ·is a reasonable inference that management -- Hygea's
·4· ·management's failure to manage cash flow, to be able to
·5· ·account for it, at least to the degree that an audited
·6· ·statement can be prepared, even though that's not
·7· ·required by the regulators, it's a reasonable inference
·8· ·that the directors have been guilty of gross
·9· ·mismanagement, not of fraud or conclusion.
10· · · · · · ·C, the Court finds that there is evidence
11· ·supporting that the directors have been guilty of
12· ·misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance.
13· · · · · · ·The corporation -- D is, "The corporation is
14· ·unable to conduct the business to conserve its assets
15· ·by reason of the act, neglect, or refusal to function
16· ·of the any of the directors."· There is some evidence
17· ·to support that part of the statute.
18· · · · · · ·"The assets of the corporation are in danger
19· ·of waste, sacrifice, or loss."· There is some evidence
20· ·to support that part of the statute.
21· · · · · · ·F is, "The corporation has abandoned its
22· ·business."· I don't think there's an argument to that
23· ·effect.· The Court finds there's no evidence to support
24· ·that.
25· · · · · · ·"Not diligently winding up its affairs" does
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·1· ·not apply.
·2· · · · · · ·"The corporation has become insolvent," there
·3· ·is no evidence to support that Hygea is insolvent.
·4· · · · · · ·"The corporation, although not insolvent, is
·5· ·for any cause not able to pay its debts or obligations
·6· ·as they mature."· There is evidence in the record to
·7· ·support that.
·8· · · · · · ·The final J, subsection J, "The corporation
·9· ·is about to resume its business with safety -- not
10· ·about to resume its business with safety to the
11· ·public," the Court finds there's not sufficient
12· ·evidence of that.
13· · · · · · ·So it's granted in part and denied in part as
14· ·I've gone through each of those.
15· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Thank you, Your Honor.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We're going to take a -- do you
17· ·have your next -- do you have your witness here?
18· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· We do, Your Honor.
19· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.· Is 10 minutes enough time
20· ·for a break?· Do you need a little longer?
21· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I do not need any longer.
22· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Fine with me, Your Honor.
23· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We'll come in at 4:10.
24· · · · · · ·(Recess taken at 4:00, resuming at 4:10.)
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Please be seated.· 18 OC 71,
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·1· ·Arellano v. Hygea, all counsel but Mr. Ewing are
·2· ·present.
·3· · · · · · ·Ms. Gall, defense first witness?
·4· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· We are recalling Mr. Iglesias to
·5· ·the stand.
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Come up, please.· You're already
·7· ·under oath.· You do not need to be sworn again.
·8· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, Your Honor.
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·DIRECT EXAMINATION
10· ·BY MS. GALL:
11· · · · Q.· ·Could you please state your name for the
12· ·record.
13· · · · A.· ·Manuel Ernesto Iglesias.
14· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, what is your educational
15· ·background?
16· · · · A.· ·I have a bachelor's from Georgetown
17· ·University in foreign service.· I have a law degree
18· ·and an MBA from the University of Chicago.
19· · · · Q.· ·Anything else?
20· · · · A.· ·I've studied languages at University of
21· ·Lausanne and in Germany too.
22· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, do you engage in any community
23· ·activities?
24· · · · A.· ·My passion is the political process,
25· ·democracy in America.· And I am currently on the board
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·1· ·of the National Republican Lawyers Association.· I am
·2· ·the National First Vice President of the organization.
·3· · · · Q.· ·Are there any other community activities that
·4· ·you engage in?

·5· · · · A.· ·I'm involved in human rights organizations
·6· ·dealing with Cuba.· I'm a native of Cuba, emigrated to
·7· ·the United States at the age of 5, and am very
·8· ·actively engaged in making sure we bring democracy and
·9· ·human rights to Cuba.
10· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, what is your relationship or

11· ·relationships with Hygea?

12· · · · A.· ·I am co-chair of the board.· I'm a
13· ·shareholder.· I'm a stakeholder in that I personally
14· ·and my family group is owed monies as a debtor,
15· ·creditor of the company.· And I am a consultant, not
16· ·paid, helping transition management in -- in Hygea as
17· ·we currently speak.
18· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, you just mentioned that you

19· ·were a stakeholder.· Approximately how much money has

20· ·your family loaned Hygea?
21· · · · A.· ·In -- through December 31, '17, about
22· ·$4 million.· This year, approximately another
23· ·$4 million, 3 of which you saw in the documentation,
24· ·Exhibit 194, and an additional million dollars from
25· ·family trusts.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, why are you on Hygea's board of
·2· ·directors?
·3· · · · A.· ·I represent the largest shareholder group in
·4· ·Hygea.· My father and I were the founders in 2007.· My
·5· ·father was a surgeon, and I was then a practicing
·6· ·attorney specializing in healthcare.
·7· · · · · · ·And we saw tremendous opportunity to improve
·8· ·the quality of life for both doctors and outcomes for
·9· ·patients.· And we created Hygea with the focus of
10· ·preventative medicine, really turning what we call
11· ·current healthcare upside down.
12· · · · Q.· ·And could you tell the Court why you resigned
13· ·as CEO?
14· · · · A.· ·I think that -- I had been an investment
15· ·banker in the '90s, and I had analyzed multiple
16· ·companies.· And there's a -- founders have a lot of
17· ·qualities of getting things started, but oftentimes
18· ·they don't have the -- the expertise or the desire,
19· ·the ability to take the company to the next level.
20· · · · · · ·I think that on a personal level, I have
21· ·taken Hygea to where it can be and am very proud of the
22· ·fact as we transfer now to new and hopefully improved
23· ·management, I'm turning over a company with last year
24· ·$35 million in EBITDA and this year, based on our first
25· ·quarter numbers, a company with $60 million in EBITDA
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·1· ·for 2018 as a very substantial company.
·2· · · · · · ·But, quite frankly, I think there are other
·3· ·people who can take it to the next level much better
·4· ·than I.· As a stakeholder, I'm happy to help with that
·5· ·transition.· I'm delighted with my replacement in
·6· ·Dr. Keith Collins.
·7· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, are you aware of accusations
·8· ·made against Hygea in this lawsuit regarding the
·9· ·non-payment of payroll taxes in 2017?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·And what is your reaction to those
12· ·accusations?
13· · · · A.· ·We had a cash crunch, and I took the
14· ·responsibility to make sure that, first of all,
15· ·payroll was paid and the necessary other core
16· ·components of the enterprise were paid, like pharmacy,
17· ·drugs.
18· · · · · · ·We do everything necessary to keep going
19· ·concern going forward.· And one of the areas that we on
20· ·a very short-term basis could defer was the payroll
21· ·taxes.
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I'm about to get the
23· ·exhibits.· If I can get the Court's indulgence for a
24· ·minute.
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Which binder is it?
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·1· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· It is volume 3.
·2· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, could you please
·3· ·turn to Exhibit 77 through 79.
·4· · · · A.· ·I'm at 77.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And I apologize, would you please start at
·6· ·76, please.· 76, 77, 78, and 79.· Once you've had an
·7· ·opportunity to look at these, could you please identify
·8· ·them for the Court.
·9· · · · A.· ·Exhibit 76 is the 941 for 2017 for the first
10· ·quarter.· 77 is the 941 for 2017 for the second
11· ·quarter.· 78 is the 941 for 2017 for the third
12· ·quarter.· And 79 is the 941 for 2017 for the fourth
13· ·quarter.
14· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Iglesias, do you know what Form 941s
15· ·are?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · · Q.· ·Could you explain to the Court what your
18· ·understanding of a Form 941 to be?
19· · · · A.· ·This is the report to the IRS in terms of
20· ·gross payroll and broken down -- and the payroll taxes
21· ·incurred by employees.
22· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.· And what is the name reflected on
23· ·these Form 941s?
24· · · · A.· ·Hygea Health Holdings, Inc.
25· · · · Q.· ·Does Hygea Holdings Corp. file any 941s?
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·1· · · · A.· ·No.· They're all payroll for Hygea, the
·2· ·family -- Hygea family are paid for by Hygea Health
·3· ·Holdings, Inc.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And Mr. Iglesias, were these 941s created in
·5· ·the ordinary course of Hygea Health Holdings, Inc.'s
·6· ·business?
·7· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; foundation as to the
·9· ·witness's knowledge of their creation.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
11· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, who at Hygea creates
12· ·these Form 941s?
13· · · · A.· ·Our director of human resources in
14· ·conjunction with our chief financial officer or
15· ·finance director at the time.
16· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· And have you reviewed these Form 941s
17· ·before today?
18· · · · A.· ·Yes, I have.
19· · · · Q.· ·How did you come to review the Form 941s
20· ·prior to today?
21· · · · A.· ·In anticipation for this litigation.
22· · · · Q.· ·Did you receive these Form 941s in email from
23· ·anyone at Hygea?
24· · · · A.· ·No.
25· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, did you have any conversations
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·1· ·with the human resources director that you just
·2· ·mentioned regarding these Form 941s?
·3· · · · A.· ·Yes, I have.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And what were those conversations?
·5· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Object to the extent it's
·6· ·eliciting hearsay from the document.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
·8· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I don't think it's eliciting
·9· ·hearsay.· I'm trying to lay the foundation how
10· ·Mr. Iglesias knows that these are the 941s of the
11· ·company.· As the former CEO, during his time as CEO, he
12· ·had to rely on his employees for the creation of such
13· ·documents as the 941.
14· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· So is that an exception to
15· ·hearsay rule?
16· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I believe I'm not admitting it for
17· ·the truth of the matter asserted.· I'm trying to merely
18· ·lay the foundation for Mr. Iglesias' knowledge.
19· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mr. Kaye?
20· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, we don't know what the
21· ·witness is going to say, of course.· The reason I
22· ·object is because I believe that the question may be
23· ·soliciting hearsay because we may hear something that
24· ·says, Well, somebody told me that this was the case, or
25· ·somebody told me that that was the case, and that would
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·1· ·be hearsay.
·2· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I merely want Mr. Iglesias to
·3· ·answer how he comes to know from the HR manager that
·4· ·these are the 941s for the company.
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· So -- I'm -- I'm not seeing how
·6· ·that's not for the truth of the matter asserted.
·7· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· It's merely to lay foundation,
·8· ·Your Honor.· But if -- if you don't want to admit --
·9· ·admit these for the truth of the matter asserted, it's
10· ·fine.· I'll just solicit testimony from Mr. Iglesias if
11· ·you believe foundation hasn't been laid at this point.
12· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The hearsay objection is
13· ·sustained.
14· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Okay.
15· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
16· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, do these Form 941s
17· ·accurately reflect payroll taxes owed for 2017?
18· · · · A.· ·No.
19· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, objection; foundation.
20· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Sustained.
21· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, please take a look
22· ·at Form 941 for Q1.
23· · · · A.· ·That's 76?· Yes.
24· · · · Q.· ·How much in taxes does Hygea owe for first
25· ·quarter 2017?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Zero.
·2· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; foundation, Your Honor.
·3· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
·4· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I think it's within the witness's
·5· ·knowledge as to how much in taxes -- he submitted a
·6· ·declaration on whether taxes were paid or unpaid.· As
·7· ·the CEO, he must know whether taxes were unpaid or --
·8· ·paid or unpaid for Hygea.
·9· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, some of that may be,
10· ·but the foundation for that has not been laid.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The foundation objection is
12· ·sustained.
13· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, how do you know
14· ·whether taxes for Hygea have been paid or unpaid?
15· · · · A.· ·I have talked to our chief financial
16· ·officer.· I've talked to our HR director.· I have met
17· ·with our accountants.· I have talked to an IRS revenue
18· ·agent.· And I have reached an opinion of where we are
19· ·at today.
20· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm going to object to
21· ·that answer and move to strike that answer as hearsay.
22· ·The question I took to -- I saw a non -- a non-hearsay
23· ·basis for the question in terms of his general
24· ·knowledge about this sort of thing, but the answer was
25· ·hearsay.

Page 621
·1· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· So the objection is sustained
·2· ·only as to the last portion of his statement, and I
·3· ·don't remember how he phrased it, his conclusion or
·4· ·opinion.· The fact that he met with the CFO, those
·5· ·people, is not the -- the objection is overruled.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Thank you, Your Honor.
·7· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) And Mr. Iglesias, what did the CFO
·8· ·inform you with respect to the taxes for 2017?
·9· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection; hearsay.· And I don't
10· ·see any possible exception because I believe that the
11· ·CFO is on -- is on the witness list.
12· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· If they're using party admissions
13· ·for an exception to hearsay with our CFO, then I
14· ·believe I can use the party admission exception with
15· ·respect to our CFO.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The objection is sustained.
17· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, are you aware of
18· ·accusations made against Hygea in this lawsuit by
19· ·Dr. Gaylis regarding the reported improper diversion of
20· ·funds from bank accounts held in the name of his practice?
21· · · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · · Q.· ·What is your reaction to those allegations?
23· · · · A.· ·Dr. Gaylis doesn't understand the fact that
24· ·he sold his practice, and those funds aren't being
25· ·diverted from his practice.· Those are general funds
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·1· ·owned by Hygea, and Hygea may use those funds as it
·2· ·sees fit for the whole, not for the benefit of what
·3· ·was previously his practice.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And Dr. Gaylis has testified that according
·5· ·to the management agreement between his practice and
·6· ·the company, Hygea must first pay for the expenses of
·7· ·his practice before Hygea's permitted to keep any
·8· ·surplus.· Do you remember that testimony?
·9· · · · A.· ·I do.
10· · · · Q.· ·And what is your reaction to that testimony?
11· · · · A.· ·He's incorrect.
12· · · · Q.· ·Why do you believe Dr. Gaylis is incorrect?
13· · · · A.· ·If you read the contracts -- the acquisition
14· ·agreements, it authorizes the management company and
15· ·AARDS to determine the use of funds.· We bought
16· ·100 percent of AARDS and as such can determine where
17· ·the use of monies generated by his practice are -- how
18· ·those funds are utilized.
19· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, do you know how many shares
20· ·Hygea has issued and outstanding?
21· · · · A.· ·Approximately 432 million.
22· · · · Q.· ·How do you know that it's 432 million?
23· · · · A.· ·That is the latest amount on the VStock
24· ·Transfer list that is both in the record, and I took
25· ·the opportunity yesterday to look into the VStock
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·1· ·website for Hygea.· And the numbers have not changed
·2· ·since the submittal, the January 21 VStock register to
·3· ·plaintiffs.
·4· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Objection, Your Honor.· And I
·5· ·would move to strike that answer for a couple of
·6· ·reasons.· First of all, that's hearsay.· Second of all,
·7· ·I believe it misstates what's in the record.· And third
·8· ·of all, best evidence rule.
·9· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Ms. Gall?
10· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, with respect to the
11· ·objection regarding hearsay, I don't believe it's
12· ·necessarily hearsay.· I do believe that Mr. Iglesias
13· ·testified that he logged in to the VStock account to
14· ·confirm the number.
15· · · · · · ·I do agree that he did misstate that the
16· ·VStock register is in the -- is in the record.· It is
17· ·not.· With respect to the best evidence rule, I'm not
18· ·sure a document merely memorializing the number of
19· ·shares issued and outstanding falls under the best
20· ·evidence rule versus the knowledge of the plaintiff.
21· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· How is that not an out-of-court
22· ·statement?· The information that he looked at
23· ·apparently on the Internet, how is that not an
24· ·out-of-court statement that it seems you're trying to
25· ·offer for the truth of the matter asserted the number
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·1· ·of shares?
·2· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I'm not sure that the number of
·3· ·shares as reflected on the VStock register is what I'm
·4· ·trying to get in.· I'm merely trying to get in
·5· ·Mr. Iglesias' knowledge of how many shares are issued
·6· ·and outstanding.
·7· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Mr. Kaye?
·8· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, first of all, I think
·9· ·it's very hard to see any sort of difference in that
10· ·distinction.· It seems to me to be two sides of the
11· ·same coin.
12· · · · · · ·At the very least, that's what -- the witness
13· ·I believe led with the number, started talking about
14· ·the numbering and said he saw it when he went on the
15· ·Internet and logged in.
16· · · · · · ·I do believe it falls within the best
17· ·evidence rule.· We've submitted in one of the earlier
18· ·papers in this case, I believe it was in response to
19· ·the motion to dismiss, Stephans v. State case, 127
20· ·Nev. 712, talks about how the knowledge of a price tag
21· ·was excluded under -- under NRS 52.225 because in that
22· ·case, Scott does not appear to have any knowledge of
23· ·value apart from the price tag.· His testimony squarely
24· ·implicated best evidence rule.· And that's the same
25· ·sort of thing here.
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·1· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Both objections are sustained.
·2· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, are you familiar
·3· ·with the plaintiff, N5HYG, in this litigation?
·4· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · · Q.· ·How are you familiar with the plaintiff
·6· ·N5HYG?
·7· · · · A.· ·Best of my recollection, that is the entity
·8· ·created for the investment promoted by RIN Capital on
·9· ·behalf of Manoj Bhargav, the owner of RIN Capital and
10· ·the owner, I believe, of N5HYG, the ultimate investor.
11· · · · Q.· ·Can you describe your relationship with RIN
12· ·after N5HYG became a stockholder of Hygea?
13· · · · A.· ·Initially, delighted.· He's the principal,
14· ·is a substantial high net worth individual making
15· ·investments in healthcare.· We saw a tremendous
16· ·partnership.
17· · · · · · ·And as such, after the October 5, 2016,
18· ·investment, we opened our doors and our hearts to he
19· ·and his team, so much so that in early 2017, we brought
20· ·their number 3 executive, as was described to us by
21· ·them, Dan Miller, as our COO.
22· · · · · · ·And at their suggestion, we contracted with
23· ·FTI Consulting to help us straighten out the internal
24· ·controls of the company.· And that has been discussed
25· ·here previously.· Tim Dragelin and FTI were brought to

Page 626
·1· ·Hygea, in spite of their incredibly expensive price
·2· ·tag, at the request of Manoj and Chris Fowler from RIN
·3· ·Capital.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And could you describe the current
·5· ·relationship with RIN Capital?
·6· · · · A.· ·The current relationship soured when the
·7· ·board of directors decided that instead of going
·8· ·public, we were going to attempt to sell the company
·9· ·to private equity.· What had happened -- and much has
10· ·been said about the financial statements and the
11· ·audited financial statements.
12· · · · · · ·Today we're in a much better position to
13· ·audit '16 and '17 than we were last year in terms of
14· ·auditing '14 and '15.· We had bought a whole series of
15· ·small practices that were, quite frankly, not
16· ·auditable.· They had not kept the books and records.
17· ·When you buy any practice and you try to audit, you
18· ·have to go back not only the year you acquired the
19· ·practice, but the three years previous.
20· · · · · · ·What the auditors found was a lot of data,
21· ·they didn't have the records in a state that could be
22· ·audited.· That's why we always thought that we were
23· ·going to finish.
24· · · · · · ·We knew what the financial numbers were
25· ·and -- pretty close to reality for '14 and '15, but the
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·1· ·fact that we knew what the revenue and expenses were
·2· ·from a business standpoint, they were not at a level --
·3· ·not at our doing, at least from the prior years to
·4· ·before we acquired these entities that were auditable.
·5· · · · · · ·The doctors historically didn't keep records.
·6· ·They didn't post deposits.· They had no cash controls.
·7· ·And so -- and because we were much smaller companies,
·8· ·those numbers were material from an audit standpoint.
·9· · · · · · ·Today as a $400 million company, if we bought
10· ·an "unauditable" primary care position, their numbers
11· ·would not more than likely be material.· When you're a
12· ·$15 million company and you buy a $5 million grossing
13· ·entity or $3 million, it is material.· If they're not
14· ·auditable, it really impacts the quality of the audit.
15· · · · · · ·So we had a gargantuan problem getting '14
16· ·and '15 audited at the time, and not for lack of
17· ·effort.· When you take the components that were not
18· ·auditable, part of the disparity between management
19· ·numbers and the audit numbers was based on the fact of
20· ·what was auditable versus what was actually gross.
21· · · · · · ·So a doctor would ring in -- we could see the
22· ·checks coming into his office were X, but the fact is
23· ·because there was no backup for those checks, even
24· ·though they came from third party payors, institutional
25· ·payors, United Healthcare, Hygea, Aetna, CIGNA, but
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·1· ·because a doctor had not kept a chain of -- a proper
·2· ·chain inside from a control standpoint, some of those
·3· ·payments, a lot of payments, could not be confirmed
·4· ·from an audit standpoint.
·5· · · · · · ·So it created all kinds of dissonance in
·6· ·terms of completing a financial audit which was a
·7· ·requirement at the time for going public.· In the
·8· ·meantime, we kept growing and being successful, and all
·9· ·of a sudden we were no longer the 50 or 75 or
10· ·$100 million company, we were the 3 to $400 million
11· ·company we are today.
12· · · · · · ·In the last few years, private equity has
13· ·come to parity in terms of value, what they were
14· ·willing to pay for healthcare companies in the Florida
15· ·market.· And we saw an opportunity.· We, the board, saw
16· ·an opportunity to sell the company on a private equity
17· ·basis.
18· · · · · · ·That really -- when we brought it to the
19· ·board thinking it was a tremendous opportunity, it was
20· ·not received well by RIN Capital.· And in retrospect,
21· ·we feel what had happened is since most of the
22· ·principals of Hygea thought we were going to sell our
23· ·interest into the market and have a liquidity event, by
24· ·definition, dilute our interest, but have a liquidity
25· ·event, in a public company, in an entity that holds 7,
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·1· ·8, 10, 15 percent, can, in fact, control that entity.
·2· · · · · · ·So what we think happened was that RIN
·3· ·Capital thought they could end up in control of a
·4· ·400 million or bigger company, not by investing, but by
·5· ·having a minority interest in control of the board with
·6· ·a very disbursed shareholder base, which would have
·7· ·happened had we gone public.
·8· · · · · · ·With a private equity, they get paid the
·9· ·value of their proportionate share at the time of the
10· ·sale.· They didn't like that at all.· They became
11· ·incredibly aggressive.· And being advocates of all of
12· ·these lawsuits, not only this receivership action, but
13· ·also the federal private equity -- security -- private
14· ·security lawsuit also pending in federal court here in
15· ·Nevada.
16· · · · · · ·So we're at -- I think at war.· We have --
17· ·I'd like to digress.· Part of the issues that has been
18· ·raised about the board, we have a national quality
19· ·board.
20· · · · · · ·My co-chairman is Dan McGowan, who was the
21· ·president of Emblem and HIP and later EmblemHealth.
22· ·It's a $8.5 million HMO in New York, the largest --
23· ·during his tenure, the largest healthcare provider in
24· ·New York, New Jersey, Connecticut.
25· · · · · · ·Our co-chair is -- that's Dan McGowan -- is
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·1· ·Frank Kelly.· Frank Kelly was a president of Coke Asia
·2· ·and later the president of Coke Nestle worldwide joint
·3· ·venture.
·4· · · · · · ·Glenn Marrichi, another board member, was a
·5· ·principal at Leo Burnett, a national marketing firm.
·6· · · · · · ·Joe Campanella is a nationally certified,
·7· ·well-respected healthcare consultant.· Jack Mann was
·8· ·the chairman of the board, until last year, for about
·9· ·eight years of Cornell -- Cornell Presbyterian Queens
10· ·Teaching Hospital, one of the largest teaching
11· ·hospitals in New York.
12· · · · · · ·Keith Collins, my replacement as CEO, has
13· ·been the president of two HMOs and multiple healthcare
14· ·companies.
15· · · · · · ·I would -- other members of the board, Martha
16· ·Castillo, who was previously our COO, has extensive
17· ·healthcare background.
18· · · · · · ·Ted Moffly, our CFO, MBA from the University
19· ·of Chicago, extensive healthcare and other business
20· ·experience.· I think we have an incredibly qualified
21· ·board for a company our size, very active in -- in the
22· ·management of the company, not with their hands off the
23· ·throttle at all.
24· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, I'm not going to move
25· ·to strike that, but I am going to ask the Court --
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·1· ·because I don't want defendants to have to try to get
·2· ·all that in again, I am going to ask the Court to
·3· ·instruct the witness to answer the questions asked.  I
·4· ·think a very small percentage of that answer got to the
·5· ·question.
·6· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Please do that.
·7· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, Your Honor.
·8· · · · Q.· ·(By Ms. Gall) Mr. Iglesias, do you believe the
·9· ·appointment of the -- of a receiver is in the best
10· ·interests of the company, taking together your positions
11· ·as a founder, a stakeholder, a shareholder, and a current
12· ·director of the company?
13· · · · A.· ·No, I do not.
14· · · · Q.· ·Why do you not believe that a receiver is in
15· ·the best interests of the company?
16· · · · A.· ·The stated interest of all parties, both
17· ·plaintiffs and defendants, is shareholder value and
18· ·going concern value.· And, unfortunately, based on the
19· ·reality of the -- primarily Florida, we're --
20· ·95 percent or more of our revenue is still in Florida,
21· ·although we have aspirations to grow, and we're
22· ·already in Georgia.
23· · · · · · ·The HMOs, which represent about 70 percent of
24· ·our revenue, I think would cancel those contracts.· And
25· ·not only would that impact us as a going concern, the
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·1· ·three contracts that you referenced, one is a Humana
·2· ·contract, one is an Anthem contract, and the third one
·3· ·is a -- I believe it's a Freedom contract.
·4· · · · · · ·They represent about 90 percent of our
·5· ·Medicare Advantage patients.· And those contracts
·6· ·clearly state that one of the reasons they will cancel
·7· ·our provider is because of the -- of -- naming of a
·8· ·receivership.
·9· · · · · · ·The way the business works, our accounts
10· ·receivable are tied to the patients.· If those
11· ·patients, based on the cancellation of a contract, are
12· ·transferred to a third party, that accounts receivable
13· ·goes with the patients to the third party.
14· · · · · · ·So it's not that there's even a possible
15· ·liquidation, okay.· We have 34 million that we can
16· ·liquidate.· We'd lose most of our AR and value of the
17· ·company.· It would be a total disaster.· I think there
18· ·would be zero shareholder equity by the time the
19· ·process finished.
20· · · · Q.· ·Thank you, Mr. Iglesias.
21· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I don't have any more questions.
22· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Cross-exam?
23· · · · · · · · · · · CROSS-EXAMINATION
24· ·BY MR. KAYE:
25· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias, those contracts that we just
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·1· ·discussed, they provide that the insurer can cancel the
·2· ·contract in the event of a receiver, not that they will
·3· ·cancel, correct?
·4· · · · A.· ·That is correct.
·5· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Excuse me, Your Honor, very
·6· ·briefly.· I think counsel left her notes.
·7· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Oh.· Thank you.
·8· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) You mentioned that your family
·9· ·group is a significant shareholder of Hygea?
10· · · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · · Q.· ·What is your family group in terms of
12· ·shareholding entities?· What Hygea shareholders consist
13· ·of your family group?
14· · · · A.· ·We have a whole series of trusts and LLCs,
15· ·most of which were created by our asset protection
16· ·lawyer on behalf of my parents, who were the founders,
17· ·financial founders.
18· · · · · · ·100 percent of the first million, two or
19· ·three million dollars, that came into the company both
20· ·in terms of equity and debt were provided by my
21· ·parents, then alive, no longer now, now deceased.· And
22· ·a whole series of trusts were created for the
23· ·benefit -- generation skipping, for the benefit of my
24· ·children, their only grandchildren.
25· · · · Q.· ·Do you know which LLCs that own stock in
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·1· ·Hygea are part of your family group?
·2· · · · A.· ·Yes, I do.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And what are they?
·4· · · · A.· ·There's like seven or eight.· Jose Padilla,
·5· ·Shetlander.· I'm happy to give you a list.· If you
·6· ·give me the VStock shareholder list that we provided
·7· ·to you, I'd be happy to tell you which ones they are.
·8· · · · Q.· ·You don't remember what -- which of the
·9· ·family LLCs own stock in Hygea?
10· · · · A.· ·I don't want to misstate, but I can identify
11· ·them if I see them.
12· · · · Q.· ·Can you name any additional ones beyond what
13· ·you've named already?
14· · · · A.· ·The Olga Del C. Iglesias Family Trust.  I
15· ·believe that's the name.· Jose Prida, Guira Melena
16· ·Family Trust, possibly Rockford, Millsoborough
17· ·Investment Trusts.· I think that would cover the bulk
18· ·of the holdings.
19· · · · Q.· ·What do you contend that the EBITDA was for
20· ·2017?
21· · · · A.· ·I don't contend anything.
22· ·CliftonLarsonAllen, the ninth largest CPA firm in the
23· ·country, stated that the EBITDA is approximately
24· ·35 million.
25· · · · Q.· ·And is that what you contend it was?
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·1· · · · A.· ·We just provide the data, and they do the
·2· ·underwriting.· They do the -- the due diligence.· They
·3· ·go and see and put it together.· And they come up with
·4· ·a number.
·5· · · · Q.· ·What do you contend the EBITDA was for 2016?
·6· · · · A.· ·'16?
·7· · · · Q.· ·Yes, for 2016.
·8· · · · A.· ·I do not know.
·9· · · · Q.· ·What do you contend the EBITDA was for 2015?
10· · · · A.· ·I do not know.
11· · · · Q.· ·What do you contend the EBITDA was for 2014?
12· · · · A.· ·I do not know.
13· · · · Q.· ·What do you contend -- do you have any
14· ·contention as to what the year-to-date -- if you
15· ·extrapolate forward, 2018 year-to-date, what the EBITDA
16· ·will be?
17· · · · A.· ·The EBITDA in the first quarter was
18· ·approximately $15 million, and we extrapolated that
19· ·will analyze to approximately $60 million for 2018.
20· · · · Q.· ·That sounds a lot like the figure that you
21· ·had earlier estimated EBITDA was going to be in 2016;
22· ·isn't that right?
23· · · · A.· ·The EBITDA for 2016 was predicated on having
24· ·completed the audits, going public, and raising $130
25· ·million of investment capital, which did not happen.
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·1· ·This EBITDA that you're seeing now is the -- based on
·2· ·the internal growth that we've had since October of
·3· ·'16.· It's taken us a lot longer, but we're getting
·4· ·there.
·5· · · · Q.· ·The previous EBITDA?
·6· · · · A.· ·Was a projection.· The previous EBITDA
·7· ·you've been bantering around was a projection based on
·8· ·an infusion of private capital or equity of
·9· ·$130 million, and that didn't happen.· And since it
10· ·didn't happen, we didn't achieve the EBITDA that in
11· ·2016 we thought we would.
12· · · · · · ·We have since then, instead of private
13· ·equity, have received debt to the tune of about
14· ·$70 million from Bridging Finance and additional funds
15· ·from my family group.· And we have grown the EBITDA,
16· ·both internally and through some acquisitions, the
17· ·acquisitions in 2017 to the numbers that we're now
18· ·seeing.· So we're two years behind, but I think we're
19· ·getting there.
20· · · · Q.· ·Do you concede now that when you -- well, let
21· ·me step down and take -- ask another question.
22· · · · · · ·You remember Mr. Dragelin's testimony that
23· ·there was a disagreement between you and some other
24· ·people aligned with yourself and Mr. Dragelin about the
25· ·company's EBITDA; is that correct?
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·1· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I'm going to object to

·2· ·this portion of the questioning at this point.· The

·3· ·scope of my direct was pretty narrow, and it did not

·4· ·include, nor was there any testimony included regarding

·5· ·EBITDA for 2016 or any years prior.

·6· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· Your Honor, it goes to the

·7· ·credibility of the witness's -- of the witness's

·8· ·testimony regarding what he believes the EBITDA is for

·9· ·2017 and 2018, which he did testify to.

10· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor --

11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· He did testify on direct about

12· ·the EBITDA.

13· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· I agree, Your Honor, but he

14· ·testified on direct about the EBITDA today or from

15· ·2017, not for 2016 or any years prior.

16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· The objection's overruled.· Go

17· ·ahead.

18· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) You recall that there was some

19· ·disagreement -- there was testimony relating to

20· ·disagreement between you and, perhaps, some people aligned

21· ·with yourself and Mr. Dragelin and people, perhaps,

22· ·aligned with him relating to the company's EBITDA figures;

23· ·is that correct?

24· · · · A.· ·Could you be more specific as to a
25· ·timeframe?
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·1· · · · Q.· ·I would say the summer of 2017 I believe is
·2· ·what he testified to.
·3· · · · A.· ·What I remember was a healthy discourse
·4· ·between management, our outside -- and our outside
·5· ·consultant regarding what the numbers could or should
·6· ·be.· And at the end, I think Mr. Dragelin said the
·7· ·ultimate arbiter and definer would be the auditors.
·8· · · · · · ·In that moment when we were still thinking of
·9· ·going public, MMP, since the final arbiter of what the
10· ·actual EBITDA is.· It's not my number or whatever his
11· ·number is, it's whatever the reality of the numbers
12· ·that come off based on a work product, top line revenue
13· ·minus -- minus expenses.
14· · · · · · ·At the end of the day, the -- whether it's
15· ·MMP in Canada or CliftonLarsonAllen in the
16· ·United States, they are the determinant of what the
17· ·EBITDA is.· I didn't come up with the $35 million
18· ·number.
19· · · · Q.· ·Having engaged in those healthy debates or
20· ·healthy discussions, I forget the exact term you used
21· ·in 2017, you no longer have an opinion about the 2016
22· ·or 2015 EBITDA?
23· · · · A.· ·I never had an opinion in terms of -- we had
24· ·had projections based an investment that never
25· ·happened.· When that investment didn't happen, those
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·1· ·numbers were forward-looking projections.
·2· · · · · · ·Somehow this litigation had taken on like
·3· ·they were firm -- there was a point that hasn't been
·4· ·raised, I'd like to make sure that it's on the record,
·5· ·but it's on all our papers.
·6· · · · · · ·They were projections based on an investment
·7· ·into the company of $130 million.· That didn't happen.
·8· ·So everything that was going to happen, including that
·9· ·EBITDA as a result of that didn't happen either.
10· · · · Q.· ·But you're very confident from the numbers
11· ·that you've conveyed here about 2017 and 2018?
12· · · · A.· ·I'm very confident of the integrity of
13· ·CliftonLarsonAllen.· Part of reason that the -- in
14· ·addition to the fact that CMS reports four months in
15· ·arrears, it took a little longer than usual.
16· · · · · · ·Because of their understanding of this
17· ·lawsuit, they were made aware of this lawsuit, they
18· ·were very careful to be very conservative so it
19· ·couldn't be -- could not be used against them.
20· · · · · · ·It had been intimated in allegations I think
21· ·in the federal lawsuit or in this lawsuit that they had
22· ·not done as good a job in their last QOE that was used
23· ·in part by RIN Capital to make the investment in
24· ·October of 2016.
25· · · · Q.· ·When you testified that the board at some
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·1· ·point decided not to try to go public and instead
·2· ·decided to try to sell the company to private equity,
·3· ·when did the board make that decision?
·4· · · · A.· ·Sometime late summer, I think we started
·5· ·talking about it right at the time of the board
·6· ·meeting in August.· We started looking at the
·7· ·alternatives.
·8· · · · Q.· ·When did the board make the decision?
·9· · · · A.· ·I couldn't tell you exactly when.· We've had
10· ·a series of board meetings and conversations.  I
11· ·couldn't in all fairness tell you at what point it was
12· ·tipping.· It was a conversation, and at one point we
13· ·were looking at both alternatives on parallel tracks.
14· · · · · · ·And at some point it tipped to -- as there
15· ·was more and more interest from U.S. private equity in
16· ·terms of the investment, I think what was originally --
17· ·we had a consensus of focusing on private equity.
18· · · · Q.· ·And -- but you don't know when consensus
19· ·merged?
20· · · · A.· ·No, I don't.
21· · · · Q.· ·That's the moment at which the relationship
22· ·with RIN soured?
23· · · · A.· ·That is my impression.· I think it was
24· ·soured before we had a consensus of going only private
25· ·equity.· The moment they saw that we were looking at
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·1· ·private equity, they got very upset.
·2· · · · Q.· ·When did you determine that Hygea was not
·3· ·auditable for 2014 and 2015?
·4· · · · A.· ·At the end of the day, it's always
·5· ·auditable.· But once we determined that we were going
·6· ·to go private equity, two things had to happen.· First
·7· ·thing, the audits we focused on the last year were
·8· ·based on I4's, the international system used by
·9· ·Canada.· So for private equity, they want GAAP QOEs.
10· ·And it was a totally different -- all accounting, but
11· ·substantially different emphasis.
12· · · · · · ·And to finish the -- the audits -- they were,
13· ·as Mr. Dragelin explained, and I think he was correct,
14· ·we were close to, but close to it would entail another
15· ·50 to 100,000 to finish the audits.
16· · · · · · ·With our cash flows in the second half of
17· ·2017, we thought those monies were better used to fund
18· ·the QOE based on the fact we were going to get a better
19· ·return on -- with a private equity and the QOE based on
20· ·GAAP standards.
21· · · · Q.· ·In your direct when you testified that the --
22· ·that Hygea was not auditable because of the acquisition
23· ·or that the acquisitions were not auditable, you
24· ·misspoke?
25· · · · A.· ·No.· No.· What happened --
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·1· · · · Q.· ·You either determined that they were
·2· ·unauditable or you didn't.· And I think you've said two
·3· ·different things now.
·4· · · · A.· ·No.· No.· If you understand financial
·5· ·accounting, you can always get an audit.· It's -- they
·6· ·write off substantial amounts of income that they
·7· ·can't verify.
·8· · · · · · ·So we can always get an audit, but it has no
·9· ·value in terms of showing what the real business of the
10· ·company is.· And financial reporting, your side has
11· ·been focusing on the word "audit."
12· · · · · · ·We're the most transparent and financially --
13· ·most -- I don't know any other firm that reports more
14· ·to third parties with third-party validations.· We have
15· ·since 2013 been given three loans by Fifth Third Bank.
16· ·In each case, it required substantial financial
17· ·reporting.· They gave us three loans.
18· · · · · · ·Then Macquarie came in and gave us a
19· ·$40 million loan also based on substantial financial
20· ·reporting, QOEs.· They -- they told us, by the way,
21· ·after we had done the 2013 audit not to do another
22· ·audit from a service company.· They wanted to see
23· ·EBITDA.· And a QOE focuses on EBITDA and revenue as
24· ·opposed to balance sheet and audit, which is the focus
25· ·of an audited financial statement.
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·1· · · · · · ·After that, we refinanced Macquarie with
·2· ·Bridging Finance, a substantive financial institution
·3· ·in Canada, again based on the financial reporting we
·4· ·gave them and a QOE.
·5· · · · · · ·The fact that we did not complete an audit
·6· ·doesn't mean that we don't have good and adequate
·7· ·financial reporting, and that third parties -- by the
·8· ·way, RIN Capital invested $30 million.· And they are --
·9· ·Mr. Fowler himself, a senior manager before this
10· ·experience at GE Capital, and his team reviewed us from
11· ·a financial viability standpoint.· I would tell you
12· ·we're actually very transparent and have good financial
13· ·reporting.
14· · · · Q.· ·I'm going to move to strike that.· It had to
15· ·do with whether or not the acquisitions were auditable
16· ·or not auditable.
17· · · · A.· ·I don't think so.· Why don't we read your
18· ·question.
19· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Before I rule, can you get back
20· ·to that question?
21· · · · · · ·(The following was read by the reporter: "You
22· · · · · · ·either determined that they were unauditable
23· · · · · · ·or you didn't.· And I think you've said two
24· · · · · · ·different things now.")
25· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.· Go ahead.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) Were the acquisitions subject
·2· ·to being audited?· Were they auditable?
·3· · · · A.· ·You could get a stamp from a CPA firm that
·4· ·said audit, but they would not have really
·5· ·demonstrated the going concern of the company that we
·6· ·acquired if, in fact -- not because the revenue and
·7· ·expenses weren't incurred, but because those expenses
·8· ·and those revenues could not be audited under GAAP.
·9· ·The final document that would say "financial audit"
10· ·greatly understated the value of the business that we
11· ·acquired.
12· · · · · · ·A QOE in a service business, and we are a
13· ·service business, we don't have brick and mortars, so
14· ·the balance sheet is not as important, is a much more
15· ·appropriate financial instrument to demonstrate the
16· ·viability of a company like ours.
17· · · · Q.· ·You understand that the plaintiffs in this
18· ·case are seeking a non-liquidating receiver, correct?
19· · · · A.· ·The problem is once -- it's like an
20· ·avalanche.· Once you throw the little rock off the
21· ·top, things happen that you can't control.· What we
22· ·have tried to show you and them privately is the way
23· ·the contracts with 70 percent of our revenue are
24· ·drafted and the way they work.· There's a large
25· ·possibility that we -- both them and we will be left
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·1· ·without a company because of this action.
·2· · · · Q.· ·And if the corporation runs out of cash and
·3· ·is unable to secure more lending, that could put the
·4· ·corporation -- that could kill the corporation as well,
·5· ·correct?
·6· · · · A.· ·It is my impression that there's selectively
·7· ·hearing from the plaintiffs' side.· We have a
·8· ·financial institution.· That is what financial
·9· ·institutions do.
10· · · · · · ·When you look at the growth of large
11· ·companies, oftentimes they are -- they are not cash
12· ·flow positive.· It doesn't make them non-viable.
13· ·That's why we have a banking system.· In this case, we
14· ·have Bridging Finance, which is a financial institution
15· ·which is funding our short-term cash -- negative cash
16· ·flow.
17· · · · Q.· ·Mr. Iglesias --
18· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
19· · · · Q.· ·-- if the company ran out of cash and
20· ·couldn't get a loan, that could put the company out of
21· ·business also, correct?
22· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Objection, Your Honor;
23· ·hypothetical, calls for speculation.
24· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Overruled.
25· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· But we have a loan, and we have
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·1· ·a commitment to keep lending because the cash flow
·2· ·analysis done by the bank and by us internally show us
·3· ·about to turn into cash flow positive.· And we have
·4· ·strong third-party interests in acquiring us as a going
·5· ·concern.· I don't see that as a major issue in terms of
·6· ·where Hygea is today.
·7· · · · Q.· ·(By Mr. Kaye) If it happens, that would put the
·8· ·company out of business, correct?
·9· · · · A.· ·I don't know.
10· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· No further questions, Your Honor.
11· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· We're going to -- we needed to
12· ·stop now.· Sorry to not be able to finish with him, if
13· ·you had questions.· Did you have any?
14· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· Your Honor, I don't have any
15· ·redirect.
16· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· I had one question because I'm
17· ·not sure if I heard you correctly.
18· · · · · · ·Did you say on direct that the percentage of
19· ·your business that was HMO, the percentage of income?
20· ·Do you remember?
21· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· About 70 percent is managed
22· ·care, Your Honor.
23· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.· That's what I wasn't sure
24· ·that I heard.
25· · · · · · ·Do either of -- I'll let you ask questions on
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·1· ·that if you want.
·2· · · · · · ·MS. GALL:· No, Your Honor.· I don't at this
·3· ·time.
·4· · · · · · ·MR. KAYE:· No, Your Honor.
·5· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.· You can step down.· We'll
·6· ·adjourn for the day.· What's the time?
·7· · · · · · ·COURT CLERK:· Plaintiffs have 1 hour, 52
·8· ·minutes, and 55 seconds.· Defendants have 9 hours, 12
·9· ·minutes, and 24 seconds.
10· · · · · · ·THE COURT:· Okay.· We will start up at 9 in
11· ·the morning.
12· · · · · · ·(The proceedings concluded at 5:00.)
13
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·1· · · · · · · · · · C E R T I F I C A T E
·2· ·STATE OF NEVADA· · ·)
·3· ·COUNTY OF CLARK· · ·)
·4· · · · · · ·I, Daren S. Bloxham, a Certified Shorthand
· · ·Reporter and Registered Professional Reporter, do
·5· ·hereby certify:· That I reported the proceedings
· · ·commencing on the 16th of May, 2018.
·6· · · · · · ·That I thereafter transcribed my said
· · ·shorthand notes into typewriting; and that the
·7· ·typewritten transcript is a complete, true, and
· · ·accurate transcription of my said shorthand notes.
·8· · · · · · ·I further certify that I am not a relative or
· · ·employee of counsel of any of the parties, nor a
·9· ·relative or employee of the parties involved in said
· · ·action, nor a person financially interested in the
10· ·action.
· · · · · · · ·Witness my signature at Las Vegas, Nevada, on
11· ·this 20th day of May, 2018.
12
13
14
15· · · · · · · · · · · ·______________________
· · · · · · · · · · · · ·DAREN S. BLOXHAM
16· · · · · · · · · · · ·C.C.R. #685
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